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Chairman’s Statement
FEERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The decrease in the net loss for the year was mainly
attributable to () the absence of gross loss and written down
of inventories on the liquor and wine business of
approximately HK$27 million; (i) the decrease in a fair value
loss of approximately HK$26 million in respect of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss; and (iii) the
decrease in the general and administrative expenses of
approximately HK$13 million.

During the year under review, the hotel hospitality business
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$25.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$15.9 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$10.3 million (2022: approximately HK$9.1
million). The segment loss was mainly due to the impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had loans receivable with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$161.9 million
(2022: approximately HK$162.7 million) with related gross
interest receivables of approximately HK$68.8 million for the
year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: approximately HK$51.6
million).
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHRE

The money lending business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$8.6 million (2022: approximately HK$10.9
million). The segment loss was mainly resulted from the
impairment loss on loans receivable.

The revenue of the liquor and wine business for the year
ended 30 June 2023 was approximately HK$0.1 million (2022:
approximately HK$18.9 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$0.6 million was recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (2022: approximately HK$26.9 million).
The bulk sales to the distributor that the Company can
liguidate the inventories to be cash for general working
capital and other investment opportunity. The Group had
continually source the customers to sell the inventories
during the year.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere appreciation to our staff
for their dedication and commitment as well as to our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers and other business
partners for their support and encouragement to the Group
in the past year.

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group was engaged in four business
segments, (i) hotel hospitality business; (i) provision of money
lending services; (iii) trading and distribution of liquor and
wine; and (iv) investments in listed securities and funds.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s continuing operations
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$31.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$41.1 million). The net loss for the year
ended 30 June 2023 was approximately HK$69.8 million (2022:
approximately HK$135.8 million) while the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$69.8 million (2022: approximately HK$135.8 million). Basic
loss per share was approximately 0.44 HK cent (2022:
approximately 0.87 HK cent). The decrease in net loss for the
year was mainly attributable to (i) the absence of gross loss
and written down of inventories on the liquor and wine
business of approximately HK$27 million; (i) the decrease in a
fair value loss of approximately HK$26 million in respect of
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and (iii)
the decrease in the general and administrative expenses of
approximately HK$13 million.

Hotel hospitality business

During the year, the hotel hospitality business recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$25.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$15.9 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$10.3 million (2022: approximately HK$9.1
million). The segment loss was mainly due to the impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment.

Hotel hospitality business is the core business of the Group
which contributed approximately 82% of the Group's revenue
for the year ended 30 June 2023. The hotel, One Niseko
Resort Towers (the “Resort Towers”), is located in the famous
Japanese skiing destination of Niseko, Hokkaido, Japan.
Niseko is one of the famous ski resort areas in Japan and is
well known for its heavy light powder snow and spectacular
backcountry. The Resort Towers consists of 110 units of high-
end accommodation and has an onsen with an indoor and
outdoor bath. It attracts many tourists from world-wide for
skiing in the winter time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the
management had engaged an independent qualified valuer
(the "Hotel Valuer”) to determine the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit of the hotel hospitality business (the
“Hotel Hospitality Business CGU"). For the sake of prudence,
the management had further engaged another independent
qualified valuer to conduct an independent review of the
valuation report issued by the Hotel Valuer on the valuation
methodology and key valuation parameters. Both valuers are
members of Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and with
extensive experience in valuation of properties. In assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit of the
hotel hospitality business as at 30 June 2023, the fair value
less cost of disposal method was adopted, in which is higher
than the result of value-in-use calculation and is based on
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
sales of similar transactions in the market.

As the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit of the
hotel hospitality business as at 30 June 2023 was lower than
its carrying amount, impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2023.

As at the end of each financial year, the Company was
required to assess any indication that its assets and/or cash
generating unit may be impaired (i.e. the carrying amount
may be higher than the recoverable amount). Recoverable
amount is the higher of the assets’ or the cash generating
unit's value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal. The
value-in-use is developed under the income approach while
the fair value less cost of disposal is developed based on
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
sales transaction evidences for similar premises in the
proximity. Comparable transactions vary along the change in
valuation date.

Direct comparison method under market approach is
considered to be the most popular and common valuation
approach in valuing the property. Moreover, income
approach has been indirectly adopted from the business
perspective in the calculation of the value-in-use of the Hotel
Hospitality Business CGU. Thus, direct comparison method is
adopted for valuing the fair value of property.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

The key assumption adopted in the fair value less cost of
disposal approach for 30 June 2023 and 2022 was the cost of
disposal which was 3.5% of the market value of the property.
It included the average market rate of brokerage fee and
other miscellaneous administrative and legal costs.

The Company has consistently applied the same
methodology to determine the recoverable amount and the
fair value less cost of disposal was adopted for impairment
assessment as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

The value-in-use calculation was the estimated future cash
flows discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflected current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the hotel
hospitality business. The calculation used in cash flow
projections was based on latest financial budgets covering a
period of 5 years with compound average annual growth rate
of revenue of approximately 2.0% (2022: 11.6%). The
compound annual growth rate of revenue was determined
with reference to historical revenue in the current year and
the 5-year forecasted revenue taking into account of the
expected number of tourists who would visit Niseko. Due to
the Japanese Government implemented the planned gradual
reopening to inbound tourists in the year, Japan inbound
market has been active. As a result, there was a gradual
increase in the number of visitors to Japan in the year under
review. The revenue growth rate in 2023 was higher than that
in 2022 by approximately 61%. The gross profit ratio of the
forecasted period was expected to be approximately 93%
(2022: 94%) with reference to the historical record. The pre-
tax discount rate of 17% (2022: 17%) was determined with
reference to the market conditions, such as company specific
risk premium and cost of debt of the hotel hospitality
business. The cash flow projections beyond the 5-year period
are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate of 2% (2022:
2%) which was referred to long-term growth rate of tourism
in Niseko and the long-term inflation rate in Japan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

Money lending services

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had loans receivable with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$161.9 million
(2022: approximately HK$162.7 million) with related gross
interest receivables of approximately HK$68.8 million for the
year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: approximately HK$51.6
million).

The loan portfolio comprises loans to Independent Third Party
(as defined below) borrowers with term ranging from eight
months to forty months and interest rate ranged from 5.5%
t0 20% (2022: 5.5% t0 20%) per annum.

The money lending business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$8.6 million (2022: approximately HK$10.9
million). The segment loss was mainly resulted from the
impairment loss on loans receivable.

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the
management had engaged an independent qualified valuer
(the "1st ECL Valuer”) to determine the expected credit losses
(the "ECL") of the Group’s loans receivable. For the sake of
prudence, the management had further engaged another
independent qualified valuer (“2nd ECL Valuer”) to conduct an
independent review of the valuation report issued by the 1st
ECL Valuer on the valuation methodology, the underlying
assumptions, the parameters and inputs used in the valuation
for accounting purpose. In assessing the ECL of the Group’s
loans receivable, a credit rating analysis of the underlying
debtors was adopted by reviewing the historical accounting
information to estimate the default risk. The Group applied
different expected loss rates to different classes of
receivables according to their respective risk characteristics.
In determining the default risk, factors including but not
limited to, the ageing analysis of the receivables, the Group’s
internal assessment of the debtors’ credit worthiness,
historical and forecast occurrence of event of default,
existence and valuation of the collaterals, the relevant
regulatory framework and government policies in Hong Kong
and global economic outlook in general and the specific
economic condition of Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC"), would be considered. The rate of ECL
ranged from 93.11% to 100% (2022: 10.52% to 100%)
depending on the nature, probability of default and loss given
default of the loans receivable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money
lending business which includes compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations, credit assessment on
potential borrower and his/its assets, the credibility of the
potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining collaterals and
determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the risk level
of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed credit risk assessment before
granting the loans by (a) reviewing the financial information
of the potential borrower; and (b) performing an assessment
on the financial condition of the potential borrower and its
shareholder (for enterprises), such as the type and value of
assets owned by the potential borrower.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the
value of security/collateral for granting of each loan, whether
to an individual or enterprise, on a case by case basis
considering factors, including but not limited to, the
repayment history, results of public search towards the
borrower, the value and location of the assets owned by the
borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

For loan collection/recovery, the Group issues overdue
payment reminder to the borrower, instructs its legal advisers
to issue demand letter for loans overdue for a longer period
of time, negotiates with the borrower for the repayment or
settlement of the loan and/or commences legal actions
against the borrower.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

Business Model of the Money Lending Service

The Group conducts its money lending business in Hong Kong
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, DeTai Finance Limited
("DeTai Finance”) which holds a money lender’s licence under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the laws of
Hong Kong). The money lending business is mainly financed
by the internal resources of DeTai Finance.

DeTai Finance grants loans to both corporate and individual
borrowers in Hong Kong whom are person(s) or company(ies)
and their respective ultimate beneficial owner(s) that are third
parties independent of and not connected with the Group
and its connected persons in accordance with the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Independent
Third Party(ies)”). DeTai Finance does not grant loans to the
general consumer market. DeTai Finance has not solicited
new clients nor granted new loans as the management of the
Company, which were mainly in charge of the money lending
business, has changed in the recent few years. As such, the
current management and employees of the Group have been
focused on examining the existing loan portfolio of the Group
and in recovering the outstanding loans, instead of soliciting
new clients or granting new loans.

The Group, when engaging in the money lending service, has
built and maintained a diversified credit risk portfolio to avoid
credit risk concentration. It is the policy of DeTai Finance that
no loan should be made to one borrower or all related parties
of the said borrower where such loan and all loans
aggregated with all related parties would exceed 50% of the
entire loan portfolio of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

Loan Portfolio of the Money Lending Service

As set out above, the Group’s loan portfolio includes
individual borrowers and corporate borrowers. The individual
borrowers of the Group were merchants. Whilst the corporate
borrowers of the Group include, but were not limited to,
companies that as at the date of granting the loans were
principally engaged in motor vehicle trading, the gaming and
resort business, investment holding and provision of
corporate supporting services, provision of financial
guarantee services and relevant consultancy services, and/or
were companies whose shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange. Clients were mainly referred to the Group by the
then management of Company.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s loan portfolio consisted of
four individual borrowers (2022: five individual borrowers)
and four corporate borrowers and the total outstanding
principal amount and interest receivables amounted to
approximately HK$230,688,639 (2022: HK$214,338,627). The
outstanding principal amount and interest receivables (before
impairment) amounted to approximately HK$70 million (2022:
approximately HK$66 million) and approximately HK$196
million (2022: approximately HK$182 million) for the top
borrower and the top five borrowers respectively, which
represented approximately 30.4% (2022: approximately
30.6%) and approximately 84.9% (2022: approximately 84.8%)
of the total outstanding principal amounts and interest
receivables, respectively. One individual borrower repaid the
loan amount of HK$783,700 during the year.

Amongst the eight loans in the Group’s loan portfolio as at 30
June 2023, (i) one of the loans was secured by collaterals and
a personal guarantee and had an interest rate of 10%, (ii) one
of the loans was secured by collaterals only and had an
interest rate of 5.5%; (iii) one of the loans were secured by a
personal guarantee only and had an interest rate of 20%; and
(iv) the remaining five loans were unsecured and had interest
rates ranging from 8% to 16%. The interest rate of the
relevant loans were determined based on the commercial
interest of the Group as a whole, with reference to, amongst
others, (i) the risk level of the loan (including but not limited
to the availability of collaterals and/or personal guarantees);
(i) the principal amount of the loan; and (iii) the financial
condition of the borrower.

As at 30 June 2023, there were outstanding gross loan and
interest receivables in the amount of HKS$nil (2022:
HK$17,829,000) which had been overdue for less than one
year and HK$230,689,000 (2022: HK$196,509,000) which had
been overdue for over one year.

BERBzERAS
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EEARRARBEA - AREZEAAEE
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R-IZ-_=FRA=1H XEEZEFHE

AERRUEEAABEA(ZZE-_—_F: 1%
BAEEA) MUERAREEA  MAEER
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T #9214,338,627 7 7T) o AL
BEAMARBEAZKREERNSTEKEWF
B ORERT) 2 Bl A& #)70,000,0008 T ( —Z
— — £ #966,000000% T ) K& &
196,000,000 7T( — & — — F: 4
182,000,000 7TC) * HE R KREER S B
M IEWA B D RIA304% (Z T —F : 4
30.6%) KM #)849%( — T — = F: #
848%) FN —ZMAMEBE AEE
783,700 7T ©

R-IZ-_=FRA=1TH RAEEEXHE
BZNEERF - () —BE KA AN E
ABERELER - MEZ10% : () —EERK
EREMMIERTER FMERB55% : (i) —
HEREABAZRELER NEXH
20% ¢ Ko (v) B8R N RIS I REER - FIX
B8R E16% ° HEAERZMETIREANE
BHREERENERESE (APRE)NE
KA KF (BIEE TR RN R &S E
ANERZAIBE) - (VEFRASE - KiE
EANMBIRRRETE

RZE-=ZFA=1+H KEEEFREE
MERFBSZTHET (T - —F 117,829,000
IT)EHE DA —4F 0 230,689,000 7T(—
T4 1 196,509,000) B HAKEE —4F o
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Credit Assessment Procedures of the Money Lending
Service

Before the granting of the loans, DeTai Finance would
perform credit assessment procedures to ensure that the
potential borrowers have good credit history, available assets
and strong repayment capabilities. DeTai Finance will conduct
the following credit assessment procedures:

(i) obtain identity documents such as identity cards or
passports from individuals and corporate documents
from corporate borrowers;

(i) assess the financial condition of the potential borrower
by valuing their financial assets; and

(i) perform internet and media searches on the potential
borrower.

Recovery Procedures of the Group for Overdue Loans
When dealing with overdue loans, the accounting staff, one
senior financing officer and the management level executive
of DeTai Finance are responsible for following up on overdue
sums owed by borrowers who have not made repayment
accordingly. Once a loan has been granted by DeTai Finance,
a designated officer of DeTai Finance will monitor the
repayment of the principal amount of the loan and the
interests accrued thereon in accordance with the terms of
the loan agreement. In the circumstances where a borrower
has defaulted on a loan and in line with the Group's loan
collection/recovery procedures, DeTai Finance and the Group
have promptly taken appropriate actions to recover the
outstanding principal amounts and interests, which include
but is not limited to:

() negotiating repayment terms and methods with the
borrowers,

(i) issuing payment reminders,

(i) issuing demand letters from the Group's legal advisers
from time to time; and

(iv) commencing legal proceedings.

-—=F

BEREZEEFERRF

R L ERAT - BRMBRETEEFGE
Fro AEREEEEARE RIFEERE
A RBENBARERES - MK E
TTATNEERHERER

() EGEEHHEFERXM MEASFDEX
ERANARIEEANRE X

(ih BBUEBEEEANEREELETH
B FHEEMBAR © &

(i) HBEEEANETEBMELKEES -

rEBBHPERZKWEREF
RIEBPERE  BRMB2EFAR
—HRRTBEABRERERRINITERAR
BEREEENLAEITHEERNEIR
He —BREFMBERLER  BFRMBK2
—BHEEABRERREER i GREER
HBE N ZERACBREHE - EEEA
R E R ER T AAR R A KB &R
B WEAER - BRI RAEEEARR
HUAE TS NBREIREENNS B NFE -
HA B ENER

() BEEAEBEFHNLITDE:

(i)  BEHETIER

(i) AERBHAKEEARBERZEZEHN
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Loan Impairments

As at 30 June 2023, the Group recorded impairment 10ss on
loan receivables of approximately HK$9 million (2022:
approximately HK$13 million) and impairment losses
allowances of approximately HK$229 million (2022:
approximately HK$204 million), which represented
approximately 142% (2022: approximately 126%) of the loans
receivable and 99% (2022: approximately 95%) of the gross
loan and interest receivables. Such impairment loss and
impairment losses allowances were based on the valuation
reports issued by the 1st ECL Valuer and the 2nd ECL Valuer
and the works performed by the Group as set out herein. As
concluded by the 1st ECL Valuer in their valuation report, the
rate of ECL of the Group’s loan and interest receivables as at
30 June 2023 ranged from 93% to 100% (2022: 10.52% to
100%) depending on the nature, probability of default and
loss given default of the loans receivable.

Liquor and wine business

The revenue for the year ended 30 June 2023 of the liquor
and wine business was approximately HK$0.1 million (2022:
approximately HK$18.9 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$0.6 million was recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (2022: approximately HK$26.9 million).
The bulk sales to the distributor that the Company can
liguidate the inventories to be cash for general working
capital and other investment opportunity. The Group had
continually source the customers to sell the inventories
during the year.

BFRE

R-ZTE-_ZFAZTH KNEBHREEK
B2 RE 518 499,000,000 T(— &2 = —
4 #913,000,0008 7T ) M EBEEED
229,000,000 70 ( —Z = = 4F : #9204,000,000
BIT)  HEREWRERLG142% (==
F o 4126%) A R EWE R KT B EAERN
9% (—F = —4F : 4995%) - B AR EERE
NORB R B T E N A FIRFTH H %8
EEBEBGEMESE —LBEHEEEEGE
MEE2EEREARAEERETZT
B BNBEZEHEEBEHEMPEMKE
MEFRE AEBR T =-_=FA
—t+HZRRERRFEFEHEERIBL X
N F93%ZE100%( —F = — 4 :1052% =
100%) " RFEUEFELME - BLHOKA
RN ELHBREME °

BEERER
BHREMFEERNBE_ZE_=FA=1H
IFFE 2 W #) /1000008 T (ZF = =
F : £718,900,00087C) - MBE_T_=4%F
NAZTBELEFERBEBSBEBERLY
600,000/ 70 ( —F = — 4 : 426,900,000 7
TO) e A E T O HEEARRAEER
ENERRE  AF—REEET MEMK
Bfte AEERFAEENEEPIALE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEFWR S

Investments in Listed Securities tHREFRE

Listed Securities FiEsH

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group managed a HE-E-=—FXA=1HIFE Xr&EH
portfolio of listed securities. Details of the listed securities EI2 FHESFHEES - B TTEHFKREZH

investments are as below: BT
Significant listed securities investments as at 30 June 2023 RZFEZ=ZFNHA=1THZEX EFTESFK
g
As at 30 June 2023
R-B-=%5A=1H
Approximately
percentage
to total
Stock Number of  Proportion of  Investment Market  assets value
Name of listed securities code Brief description of the business shares held share held cost value  of the Group
EEEE
R A} Fif i . BEAE
LIRS EH R EBHL REGHE R 43 b 41 RERA [ BHEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT BT
(Note)
(PzE)
CLP Holdings Limited 2 Generation and supply of electricity 218,000 0.009% 17,023 13,276 2.14%
REERERAT EEREEEN
Shenzhen International 152 Toll roads and general-environmental
Holdings Limited protection business; and logistics
business 648,000 0.027% 5,020 4,47 0.72%
FYEBERER A WERRERBRES  URMTRES
Hong Kong Exchangesand 388 Principally engaged in the business of
Clearing Limited provision of operates the only Stock
Exchange in Hong Kong 88,000 0.007% 30,386 25978 4.19%
BARGREBRERAR FEREEEEEE-NRER S
Shenzhen Expressway 548 Construction, operation, management,
Corporation Limited investment of toll highways and
- environmental protection in China 640,000 0.086% 5,037 4,275 0.69%
FERAEEERR qﬂukﬁﬂiﬁ&fﬁﬁ%i%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ g
BRAT EBRRE
Techtronic Industries 669 Power equipment business
Company Limited 10,000 0.001% 927 851 0.14%
BN EXBRAR WRREED
Tencent Holdings Limited 700 VAS; online advertising; finTech and
business services 4,800 0.000% 1,653 1,592 0.26%
ERERERAR BERE: BEES  eRBRREE
R
China ConstructionBank 939 Provision of banking and related
Corporation financial services 3,000,000 0.001% 16,946 15,210 2.45%
HERSBIIRAERAF RERIT RSB ARS
China Mobile Limited 941 Provision of telecommunications and
information related services 330,000 0.002% 16,398 21,136 3.41%
HEBBERAT REEHRIESEERSE
AIA Group Limited 1299 Writing of life insurance business,
providing life insurance, accident and
health insurance and savings plans 32,000 0.000% 2517 2,531 0.41%
RARBRERBBAF ERERER  REAS  BIRER
RENFETE

TTCFR o BREFEFRRERRAT 15
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As at 30 June 2023
RZB-=FxA=1A

Approximately

percentage

to total

Stock Number of  Proportion of  Investment Market  assets value

Name of listed securities code Brief description of the business shares held share held cost value  of the Group

hAEH

k& i Fifs HEAE

EiESER s BT gt = gl REM A mE  BRES
HK$'000 HK$'000

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) 2388 Provision of banking and related

Limited financial services 950,000 0.009% 25291 22,753 3.67%

RREE (BR)ERAR REURIT R SRR
Tracker Fund of HongKong 2800 Funds management 238,000 0.004% 4,859 4,582 0.74%
REES HEeERE
Meituan 3690 Food delivery, in-store, hotel & travel

and new initiatives 5,480 0.000% 782 670 0.11%
*E ERHEMZIE BERHEAR

MEH
JD.com, Inc. 9618 Providing products and services to

consumers, third-party merchants,

suppliers and other business partner 6,500 0.000% 1,334 861 0.14%
RREERHERAT MEEE  E=AER - HEERA

EBAEBHREERRRE

128,673 118,186

Note: The percentage of shareholdings is calculated with reference to the — Miik : RIEE S LTy 2R A8t LA AR E AR
monthly return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the BT =FRNA=TAHLAMGZRHBEITAN
month ended 30 June 2023 of the issuers publicly available on the BEEEARKRAESH -
website of the Stock Exchange.
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EEEFWR S

Significant gains/(losses) for the year ended 30 June 2023 BE—_E-_=ZF~NA=Z1THIFEZEXK
w (E7E)

For the year ended 30 June 2023
BZE_Z-_=FA=1THLEE
Realised  Unrealised

Stock gains/ gains/ Dividend
Name of listed securities code (losses) (losses) received
R B85 AR
IHREEE R W& /(FB) K/ (58) EHRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THL THL
CLP Holdings Limited REZRARAR 2 - 916) 673
Shenzhen International Holdings RBEEERARA
Limited 152 - (532) 166
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing  &BX S REEMBER A A
Limited 388 - (7,990) 626
Shenzhen Expressway Corporation RIS EABEBRH AR L E
Limited 548 - (947) 797
Techtronic Industries Company EIMEXBRAT
Limited 669 - 33 18
Tencent Holdings Limited BAERBRAT 700 - (109) 79
China Construction Bank Corporation Bl & R1TIADBEL ) 939 - (600) -
China Mobile Limited FEBEERAF 941 - 4,967 1,450
AIA Group Limited RARBERERA 1299 - (191) 49
Hong Kong Aerospace Technology ~ ABMARHEEEER A7
Group Limited 1725 (32,562) - -
B & D Strategic Holdings Limited B & D Strategic Holdings Limited 1780 (149) - -
Diwang Industrial Holdings Limited ~ ST E£ERAER A 1950 88 - -
BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited iR &S () ER A7) 2388 - (6,697) 1,069
Tracker Fund of Hong Kong REES 2800 - (721) 156
Meituan e 3690 - (368) -
JD.com, Inc. REEERNHBRAA 9618 - (783) 16
(32,623 (14,843) 5,099

TR o BRMEREEARAT 17
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PROSPECTS

The global economic outlook faces the inflationary pressures
and geopolitical uncertainty. The Group will continue to
monitor the global economic, financial environment and their
impact on our business, and prudently interpret and respond
to the market. In view of the continuing depreciation of the
exchange rate of Japanese Yen, it will attract more tourists
travelling to Japan.

In the meanwhile, the Group will grasp investment
opportunities to diversify the Group’s business and, at the
same time, strive to control the costs to maintain stable
return to the shareholders of the Company.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of any

dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
GEARING

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has in aggregate approximately
HK$124.3 million (2022: approximately HK$87.5 million) in
deposits in a financial institution, pledged bank balances, and
bank balances and cash. The net current assets value was
approximately HK$275.7 million (2022: approximately
HK$331.3 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 30 June 2023 was
approximately 0.09 (2022: approximately 0.09), being a ratio
of total interest bearing debts, including borrowings of
approximately HK$46.2 million (2022: approximately HK$54.6
million) to the total equity of approximately HK$526.1 million
(2022: approximately HK$609.6 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE
The Company completed a rights issue on 13 June 2018,
pursuant to which the Company issued 10,463,687,800
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.05 each as rights
shares at HK$0.052 per rights share on the basis of two rights
shares for every one existing share held on 18 May 2018. The
net proceeds from the rights issue (after deducting the
expenses) were approximately HK$523.6 million of which an
aggregate of HK$479 million has been utilised since the
completion of the rights issue up to the financial year ended
30 June 2023. The net subscription price per rights share after
deducting the related expenses of the rights issue was
approximately HK$0.050.

RIS

2 BRAE A R T R AR R ) Nt A BUS T
TN AEBBESERZREE  RR
BEREHRMAEBOTE  YEERERLE
fEM % o N AEIEXRKSERE BRSIE
ZIRERFAR -

R AEBSEERERSE  ZTILBER
AEBEY - RKRIEHKA - BARRE
PRI E @R o

AR
EERARTRARBE_S =477
SHALFERNEARE(ZB=—4%:
) o

gﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁk

RZZBEZZFXNA=1+H  AEERSRE
B2ER - BEBRITEHRURBITESRK
BE&AH£475124,300,0008 (- T = —4F :
#987,500,0008 7L ) MBEEFELN B
275,700,000 T( — & — — F£: 4
331,300,000/ 7T) °

RIZE_=FRA=1H XEBZEESH
BHERLR009(ZZEZZF : £0.09) - A
FHEEBERE (BIREE) 446,200,000/ 7T

(ZT =4 : 454,600,000 7T ) 1 ¥ B 1
7 #9526,100,00078 7T( =T = — F: 4
609,600,000 7T ) 2 e %

ftRE PR IR R HE

RRBRZE—NFRAT=B MR
BUARBERNR-_ZE-\FEA+N\BE
FrA—BRRABRDEEMREBREND 2 &
% L8 kgt B AX 190.05278 Tt # 17
10,463,687,800 A & X E18.0.05/8 7T Z N A
A AR AR o HAPTIS IR FRR
(40 B 2 18 ) 4 7 523,600,00078 7T » H
1 & $£479,000,00078 7T B IR T K& B E
BE_Z_=FXA=THLIBFEEL
EEM - KAREREKRAXE  SRHER
B fn AR B F R AY /3 0.05078 7T °
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As set out in the announcements of the Company dated 10
August 2018 and 17 January 2019, the Board resolved to
change its use of the net proceeds from the rights issue. The
proposed allocation of the net proceeds as stated in the
prospectus of the Company dated 21 May 2018 (the “Planned
Use of Net Proceeds”), the revised allocation of the net
proceeds (the “Revised Use of Net Proceeds”), the utilisation
of net proceeds as at 30 June 2023 (the “Utilisation of Net
Proceeds”) and the remaining balance of the net proceeds
are set out below:

AR ARHBEA-E-—\FNA+BERZ
T-NF—A+LtHZRAEHME B3
RENERRFISHIEFE AR - AAF
BRA-ZE—\FRA-+—HNEBRKRERE
Frit BT S IR SR BZ 2 I ([ FTE IR F
HtEIRR]) « FIERIBEFEMNEE AR
(BRI FELETRAR]) KT =_=
FRA=ZTHMEREFENSABR (AT
BIEFESHABER]) RATERIBFENE
BEHI|T -

Revised planned Remaining
Planned Use of Use of Balance of the balance of the
Net Proceeds  Net Proceeds Utilisation of Net Proceeds Utilisation of Net Proceeds
disclosed disclosed NetProceeds unutilised NetProceeds  unutilised
in the in the up to asat  during the asat
Announcements Announcements 30 June 2022 30 June 2022 Year 30 June 2023
BE R-B-C R-B-=
EFEING ZENE  ZBIZE RASTRN AA=TAM
& fik® ~AZTHM HAGA HEE HAGA
FERERE  FERERE METERE MESERE FEIERE FENERE
Intended use ifERE  SEIHHRR BRAER & BARR BE
HKS million HkSmilion — HKSmilion — HKSmilion — HKSmillon kS million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Repayment of outstanding borrowings ~ EEHAEBEE
1939 1939 1406 53 87 46
Contribution to the faciity tobe made. AEMRIERAR
avallable to ajointventure company — ERAFKLLZ
formed with Zhongke International RENTETES
Capital Limited JRETE 19 - _ _ _ _
Expansion of the Group's money BRASEEEEE
lending business 100 1m3 1m3 - - -
Future potential investments andior -~ AREERER /5
general working capital —HEEES 37 2184 2184 - - -
Total &5 5236 5236 4703 533 87 46
Note: e -

It is expected that the remaining balance would be utilised on or before 30
December 2023. The remaining balance of the net proceeds of approximately
HK$44.6 million allocated for repayment of outstanding borrowings would be
utilised for repayment of the remaining instalments of the outstanding bank
loan with the last instalment of the outstanding bank loan to be repaid in
December 2023.

The amount was equivalent to JPY0.62 billion with reference
to an exchange rate of JPY: HK$0.072 being the exchange
rate used in the prospectus of the Company in relation to the
rights issue.

-F
—_—=

ST o BRMEREEARAR

EHSEEN T =+ _A=+tR%ZBHH - H
REEEYNAEEEENMSREBFERLEYD
44,600,000 78 7T 5 FA A EIE i R EIERITERE S5 8
MR MREERTERNERE —BAFR T ==F
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The unutilised net proceeds have been placed as the interest
bearing deposits with licensed banks and a financial
institution in Hong Kong.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2023, the Group pledged hotel land and building
in Japan with an aggregated carrying value of approximately
HK$269.2 million (2022: approximately HK$299.0 million),
investment property in Hong Kong with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$15.9 million (2022: approximately
HK$19.0 million), bank deposits of approximately HK$0.7
million (2022: approximately HK$0.7 million) and the entire
equity interest of certain subsidiaries of the Company to
secure borrowing facilities of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Company had no changes in capital structure during the
year ended 30 June 2023.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss

As at 30 June 2023, the Group managed a portfolio of listed
securities with fair value of approximately HK$118.2 million.
The global equity market is unstable throughout the year.
Accordingly, the trading securities recorded a trading and
revaluation loss of approximately HK$47.5 million in current
year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There was no significant events occurred after the reporting
period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no significant contingent

liabilities (2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2022: Nil).

REAFAERIBFHECIE R B ERR
FARERIRIT R - KBRS

BEEHN

R-ZTE-_ZFA=Z+H AEEEPED
BEA £ 4269,200,0008 7L ( —F =~ —4F : 4
299,000,000 70) 2 HAE JE £ R AEF
BREEA 49 15,900,000 7T ( Z B = —4F :
#719,000,0008 L) 2 BB EWME - AH
#9700,0003 7T (=& = — 4 : 49700,000#
T ZRITEREARNRNBETHBEAR Z 2
HARE - UAASKEEERERERER -

BEEE
ARRRBE_E-=EXA=TALEE
WA AL EED -

BRI R TR
BAVESHABRRSZERMEE

R-ZTE-_ZFA=+H AEEEEN L
MEHFAE R FEL 118,200,000 7T °
REEFE  2HREEFMHTET - At
BHEBEERAFEHSEEREHEBEY
47,500,000 7 7T

WEMERER
RERRMEREERRE -

BRERE
R-IZB-=FA=+H AEBIESK
SAREBE(ZE - —F |-

BXKIE
R-IZB-=FA=+H AEBIESK
BAFEE(ZE__F : 8) -
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Most of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and Japanese Yen which are the
functional currencies of respective group companies. The
Group has not entered into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange
rate movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce
the exchange risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had approximately 28 (2022:
27) employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan. The Group’s
remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and determined
by reference to market terms, company performance, and
individual qualifications and performance. Other staff benefits
include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, medical
schemes and share option scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 30 June 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“2023 AGM") is scheduled to be held on Monday, 4 December
2023, at 11:00 a.m. For determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 29 November 2023
to Monday, 4 December 2023, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order for a shareholder of the Company to be
eligible to attend and vote at 2023 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited of 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 28 November 2023.

— =%
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFREFT

Biographical information of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report
is set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (“Mr. Cheng"), aged 55, has been
appointed as an executive Director since August 2021. He is
also the chairman of the investment committee. Mr. Cheng
obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of
Glamorgan and a Master Degree in Business Administration
from University of Wales. He is a fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of International Accountants. Mr.
Cheng is currently the chairman and an executive director of
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (stock code: 1466) and the
executive Director and the Chief executive officer of China
Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code: 2330), the
securities of both companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was an executive director of
Ming Lam Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino Haijing
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1106) from February 2017 to
August 2018 and a non-executive director of IRC Limited
(stock code: 1029) from February 2017 to March 2020, the
securities of both companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng has over 29 years of working
experience in merger and acquisition, finance and
accounting, banking, asset management and funds
operations in various industries including real estate
developments, infrastructure developments, real estate
investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries.
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Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (“Mr. Wong"), aged 58, has been
appointed as an executive Director since March 2022. Mr.
Wwong has been appointed as the company secretary, the
authorised representative and the chief financial officer of the
Company on 10 January 2022. He is also a member of the
investment committee. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master
of Arts in International Accounting from City University of
Hong Kong and a Master’'s Degree of Corporate Governance
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive
experience in taxation, accounting, financing, audit field and
public listed companies for many years. Mr. Wong is currently
an independent non-executive director (the “INED") of China
Water Industry Group Limited (stock code: 1129) and Affluent
Partners Holdings Limited (stock code: 1466), both companies
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an INED of Hang Tai Yue Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8081) and an INED of Worldgate
Global Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292) from June 2016 to June
2023, both companies are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiu Wai On

Mr. Chiu Wai On (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 53, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since June 2009. Mr.
Chiu is also the chairman of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chiu
possesses over 10 years of professional experience in
accounting and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is also an
independent non-executive director of New Times Energy
Corporation Limited (stock code: 166), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (“Mr. Man"), aged 76, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since
May 2009. Mr. Man is also a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. He is a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong and a civil celebrant of marriages. Mr. Man has
extensive experience in the legal practice. He had been
appointed by Xinhua News Agency as a district advisor from
1995 to 1997. He is currently appointed as a director of
Apleichau Kai Fong Primary School, a committee member of
Apleichau Kai Fong Welfare Association, the secretary of
Apleichau Promotion of Tourism Association and the
honorary legal advisor of Junior Police Officers’ Association.
Mr. Man is currently an independent non-executive director
of Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (stock code: 2322), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. To Chun Wai

Mr. To Chun Wai (“Mr. To"), aged 68, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since
April 2023. Mr. To is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. He is currently the chairman and
chief executive officer of Gungho Consultancy Company
Limited. Mr. To is an independent non-executive director of
each of Auto Italia Holdings Limited (stock code: 720),
Greenheart Group Limited (stock code:94), ISP Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2340) and NOVA Group Holdings Limited
(stock code:1360), all being listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange. He formerly served as an executive director and a
non-executive director of Integrated Waste Solutions Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 923), a company listed in the
Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. To spent most of his
career, beginning in 1974, with the Hong Kong Police, rising
up the ranks to Assistant Commissioner of Police (Crime)
overseeing crime operations and policies of the Hong Kong
Police, until his retirement in 2011. He was awarded the
Police Meritorious Service Medal in recognition of his long
years of service and contribution to the Hong Kong society.
Mr. To has wide administrative and management experience.
He holds a master degree of public administration from The
University of Hong Kong and also tutored public
administration on a part-time basis from 2011 to 2012 at The
University of Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance. The Board believes that effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhance
the shareholders’ value and safeguard the interests of the
shareholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound
corporate governance principles that emphasize an effective
internal control and accountability to all shareholders.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since the resignation of
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth in March 2020, the Company does
not have any officer with the title of Chief Executive Officer.
The overall responsibility of supervising and ensuring that the
Group'’s business in line with the order of the Board in terms
of day-to-day operations and execution is vested in the Board
itself.

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The existing independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term as
required under the code provision A.4.1 but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company
(the “Bye-laws”). As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company has good corporate governance practices.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the full set of Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
the code of the conduct for securities transactions by
directors. The prohibitions on securities dealing and
disclosure requirements in the Model Code apply to specified
individuals including the Group’s senior management and
also persons who are privy to price sensitive information of
the Group. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Board confirmed that all Directors had complied with the
Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions
during the year and up to the date of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
Directors, with two executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Chi Kin
(Chairman) and Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe; and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On, Mr.
Man Kwok Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai. Biographical
information of the Directors is set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report.

During the year ended 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, the changes to the composition of the Board
were as follows:

Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho resigned as an independent
non-executive Director, a member each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, with effect from 17 February 2023;

Mr. To Chun Wai was appointed as an independent non-
executive director, a member each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, with effect from 18 April 2023.
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An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship between Board members.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for
assessing independence as set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers them to be independent.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance. Directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. Some functions
including, inter alia, monitor and approval of material
transactions, matters involving conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or Director, the approval of the
interim and annual results, other disclosures to the public or
regulators and the internal control system are reserved by
the Board and the decisions relating to such matters shall be
subject to the decision of the Board. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to the management under the
supervision of the respective Directors.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times throughout
the financial year. All Directors are given the opportunity to
put items on the agenda for regular Board meetings. All
Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure
that all Board procedures, rules and regulations are followed.
Full minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection on reasonable
notice. Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take
independent professional advice where necessary at the
expense of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and any director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

According to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws and the CG Code, at
each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every 3 years, and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Any further re-appointment of an independent non-
executive director, who has served the Board for more than
nine years, will be subject to separate resolution to be
approved by the shareholders.

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, the
shareholders of the Company may by an ordinary resolution
remove any Director (but without prejudice to any claim for
damages under any contract) before the expiration of his
period of office, and may by an ordinary resolution appoint
another person in his stead.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman is Mr.
Cheng Chi Kin. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership
of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its
role for setting its agenda and taking into account any
matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the
agenda.

The Chief Executive Officer was responsible for supervising
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Since
the resignation of Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth in March 2020,
the Company does not have any officer with the title of Chief
Executive Officer. The overall responsibility of supervising and
ensuring that the Group’s business in line with the order of
the Board in terms of day-to-day operations and execution is
vested in the Board itself. The Board considered that this has
the advantages of allowing contributions from all executive
Directors with different expertise and the Company will
review the current situation from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers
appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”),
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the
investment committee (the “Investment Committee”) for
overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. Details of
which are set out below. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. To Chun
Wai.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review
the Group’s financial reporting system, the nature and scope
of audit review; (i) review the effectiveness of the system of
internal control procedures and risk management and the
Company’s internal audit function; and (iii) review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity.
In addition, the Audit Committee discusses matters raised by
the external auditor and regulatory bodies to ensure that
appropriate recommendations are implemented. The Audit
Committee meets as and when required to perform its
responsibilities and at least twice a year.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the interim
and annual results with the external auditor and made
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditor, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit
function of the Company in accordance with the Audit
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Audit
Committee also reviewed and approved the risk assessment
in relation to the hotel business in Japan.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 30 June 2023. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out in the sub-section
“Attendance Record of Directors and Committee Members”
below.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Man Kwok
Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to (i)
make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for remuneration policy; (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package
of individual executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
senior management; and (iii) review and approve
compensation payable to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee meets at least
once a year.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and packages of the Directors and senior
management and made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration policy and packages of the Directors and
senior management in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee also approved and recommended to the Board
the terms of letters of appointment and the Directors’ fee
payable to two newly appointed Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 30 June 2023. The attendance record of each
member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the
sub-section “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” below.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the
chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Man Kwok
Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (iii) to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors. The Nomination Committee meets at least once a
year.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach by the Company to
achieve diversity on the Board. According to the Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience and length of service.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”). A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

1. Criteria
The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
consider the following criteria in evaluating and
selecting candidates for directorships:

32

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments.

Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity
on the Board.

Such other perspectives appropriate to the
company’s business.
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2. Nomination Process

2.1 Appointment of New Director

2.1.1 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board

shall, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section 1
to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

2.1.2 If the process yields one or more desirable

candidates, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

2.1.3 The Nomination Committee shall make

recommendation to the Board in respect of
the appointment of appropriate candidate
for directorship.

2.1.4 For any person that is nominated by a

shareholder for election as a director at the
general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.
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2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting
2.2.1 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall review the overall contribution and
service to the Company of the retiring
director including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall also review and determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out in section 1.

2.2.3 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall then make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed,
considered and approved the structure, size and diversity of
the Board and the Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy, the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
the Directors in accordance with the Nomination Committee’s
written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee also
approved and recommended to the Board the appointment
of two newly appointed Directors.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 30 June 2023. The attendance record of each
member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the sub-
section "Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” below.
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee has been established by the
Board on 2 August 2021. The members of the Investment
Committee shall consist of not less than two members from
amongst Directors and senior management of the Company
of which at least one shall be Director. The Investment
Committee currently comprises an executive Director, Mr.
Cheng Chi Kin (the chairman of the Investment Committee)
and the executive Director, Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among others,
to exercise delegated authority from the Board, to handle any
issues or affairs related to the investment aspects of the
Company, to review the investment performance from time
to time and advise the Board on how the Company’s funds
are to be used to enhance the Group’s investment returns, to
consider, approve and/or recommend the Board taking any
steps appropriate and necessary in relation to the investment
activities of the Company and preserve the value of the
Company's funds and/or achieving capital appreciation.

The Investment Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 30 June 2023. The Investment Committee considered,
approved and recommended to the Board, among others the
terms of reference of the Investment Committee and several
listed securities listed on the Stock Exchange for acquisitions
which the Investment Committee members considered
worthwhile for the Company to generate returns in fulfilling
its investment objective.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS EFERERERAZCHELS
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board held 7 Board #HE-—ZE-—=F <xA=-1HIFE B=<
meetings. BWERITINEEEEE °

The attendance record of each Director at the Board RBEEWNFRNETIEES S T8
meetings, the committees’ meetings and the annual general  Z R AAFRERAFE NS 7 HFEa0 x5 a0
meeting of the Company held during the year is set out T :

below:

No. of meetings attended/held
BHE/BTeERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General

Directors Meeting  Meeting Meeting ~ Meeting  Meeting  Meeting
ENZEE §MZEE REZEE KREZREE RE
gz Ezeed g3 g3 E ] 8% BEAE
Executive Directors YiTER
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin grers 17 - - - 101 111
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe BkREE 1 - - - 17 17
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On REZLE 1 22 22 22 - 1N
Mr. Man Kwok Leung EERRE 1 22 22 22 - 171
Mr. Sheung Kwang Cho i iibine
("Mr. Sheung’) (Note 1) (%) (Rzx1) 5/5 10 10 10 - 10
Mr. To Chun Wai HiRELE
('Mr.To") (Note 2 (M4 D) (HsE2) - - - - - -
Notes: MoaE -
1. Mr. Sheung was resigned on 17 February 2023. 1. EEER-_E-_=F-"RF++tHEHT -
2. Mr. To was appointed on 18 April 2023. 2. MEER-_ZE-_=ZFMOA+ \BERT-
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTOR

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors are provided with
comprehensive induction training to ensure that they have a
thorough understanding of the Group’s operations, applicable
laws and rules as well as their role and responsibilities. Every
new Director also receives a Director’'s handbook which
contains guide on Directors’ duties and continuing
obligations, applicable Laws, Regulations and Governing
documents and information on other key governance
matters.

The Group continuously updates Directors on developments
in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business
environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development for directors will be arranged at the expenses of
the Company where necessary.

The Directors, participated in continuous professional

development during the year or their respective tenure of
office as follows:

Directors

E=

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BFER A

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe AR EE
Independent non-executive Directors By HTES
Mr. Chiu Wai On BEREE

Mr. Man Kwok Leung BRERLE

Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho AL E

Mr. To Chun Wai HIRE L&
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board has the following responsibilities:

(@ to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations from time to time;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Group,

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the
Directors and the employees of the Group; and

(e) toreview the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for each financial year to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2023, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Company is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
covering the liabilities of the Directors that may arise out of
the corporate activities, which has been complied with the
CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe, is
responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for ensuring the Board is fully appraised of
the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, Mr. Wong has attended
relevant professional seminars to update his skills and
knowledge. He met the training requirement set out in Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
for the year ended 30 June 2023 provided by the Company’s
auditor, BDO Limited, are as follows:
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Audit services X R 1,750
Non-audit services IEEZ RS -
Total st 1,750
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). A summary of the Dividend Policy is disclosed as
below.

B B R
EEEORABRBBE(REKRRE]) - BE
BERHERBLT -

1. The Company may declare and pay dividends to the 1. ZAAFABAREFAKEEZTERA

40

shareholders of the Company by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is
the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Company'’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends
in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and
future operations, financial condition, liquidity position
and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries
and associates, which in turn will depend on the ability
of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the shareholders. The
declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of
Bermuda, the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s bye-
laws and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current
views on the financial and cash-flow position of the
Group, the Board will continue to review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends
will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any
given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that any dividend will be paid in any particular
amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

)

(I

(1)

Convene a Special General Meeting
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at the
general meetings of the Company can at all times
submit a signed written requisition, specifying the
purpose, to the Board or the Company Secretary to
require the convening of a special general meeting
("SGM"). If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene the SGM, the requisitionists, or
any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, themselves may
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from 21 days
of the deposit.

Send Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries of shareholders can be sent to the Company
either by email at info.dt@detai-group.com or by post to
the Company’s Hong Kong head office at Room 905,
9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong. Shareholders can also make enquires with
the Board directly at the general meetings.

Make Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders can
submit a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to propose a resolution at a general
meeting. The written requisition must state the
resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at the general meeting and contain the signatures
of all the requisitionists (which may be contained in one
document or in several documents in like form). Such
requisition must be deposited to the Company’s
registered office at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda not less than 6 weeks before
the general meeting in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution and not less than 1 week before
the general meeting in the case of any other requisition
and be accompanied by a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement given by the requisitionists to all
shareholders in accordance with the requirements
under the applicable laws and rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business. The
Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meeting and other general meetings. The website of the
Company at www.detai-group.com has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, there has not been any
change in the Company’s constitutional documents. A
consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional
documents is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board ensures the maintenance of sound and effective
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
and the assets of the Group. It has been an important duty of
the Directors to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control and risk management of the Group
0n an on-going basis. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, as
well as risk management functions. The systems of risk
management and internal control are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatements or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee and the management would assist the Audit
Committee to carry out the risk management procedures.
The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees the
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 30 June 2023.

A Risk Management Policy has been established for
formalizing the risk management system of the Group, so as
to ensure the Group is operating in a safety and steady
environment and the Group’s operational strategy and target
could be achieved. The current practices will be reviewed
and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.
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The risk management process of the Group will involve,
among others, (i) a periodical risk identification and analysis
exercise which involves assessment of the consequence and
likelihood of identified risk and the development of risk
management plans for mitigating such risks; and (i) an annual
risk management meeting for the review of the identified
risks, the implementation of the risk management plans and
enhancing the implementation plan when necessary.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management and
internal control systems, Executive Directors and the senior
management would meet regularly to review the financial
and operating performance of each segment. The operational
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also
required to keep senior management and Executive Directors
informed of material developments of the department’s
business and implementation of the strategies and policies
set by the Board on a regular basis. The processes used to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks by the Group
are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group'’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
e Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood
of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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During the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Group
engaged a professional advisory firm as internal control
reviewer (the “Internal Control Reviewer”) and to report
directly to the Audit Committee to conduct the annual review
for effectiveness the risk management and internal control
systems of the selected subsidiaries. The Internal Control
Reviewer adopted a risk-based approach and independently
reviewed and tested the controls. The scope of review
included fixed assets management process, borrowing
process, handling and dissemination of inside information
process and investment management process for the
headquarter and hotel hospitality business segments.
Findings and recommendations are reported to the Audit
Ccommittee. In addition, progress on audit recommendations
implementation will be followed up on a regular basis and
discussed with the Audit Committee.

During annual review, the Audit Committee also considers
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group, accounting and financial reporting function
and their training programs and budgets. Based on the
results of evaluations, the Audit Committee was satisfied that
there was an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the Group that would
threaten the achievement of its business objectives; and an
appropriate, effective and adequate system of internal
control and risk management had been in place during the
financial year ended 30 June 2023.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a series of disclosure procedures of price
sensitive information on reporting and dissemination of inside
information and preservation of confidentiality. Under the
current practice, the directors aware any potential/suspected
inside information event as soon as practicable when it
materializes for determining the nature of developments, and
if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required to
observe the code of ethical standards to keep non-public
information confidential.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is
Room 905, 9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen's Road
Central, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 110 and 111.

The Board resolved not to pay any final dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2023 is set out in the "CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT” and
"MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 4 t0 5
and pages 6 to 21 respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the five largest customers
of the Group together accounted for approximately 40%
(2022: approximately 61%), with the largest customer
accounted for approximately 9% (2022: approximately 46%)
of the Group’s total turnover. The five largest suppliers of the
Group together accounted for approximately 51% (2022:
approximately 12%), with the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 13% (2022: approximately 3%) of the Group’s
total purchases during the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, at no time during the
year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the movements during the year in the share capital
and share options of the Company are set out in respective
notes 28 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

At 30 June 2023, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2022: Nil).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group had not made charitable or other donation during
the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years are set out on
pages 223 and 224.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There was no significant events occurred after the reporting
period.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chiu Wai On

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. To Chun Wai

According to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and any Director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. To Chun Wai,
who has been appointed with effect from 18 April 2023, shall
hold office until the 2023 AGM and shall then be eligible for
re-election. Pursuant to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr.
Cheng Chi Kin and Mr. Man Kwok Leung will retire from office
as Directors at the 2023 AGM and all retiring Directors are
eligible and will offer themselves for re-election at the 2023
AGM.
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Pursuant to the code provision set out in paragraph A.4.3 of
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, any further appointment of
independent non-executive director serving more than nine
years should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders. The Nomination Committee
considered the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Man has served the Company
as an independent non-executive Director for more than nine
years during which period of Mr. Man has provided
professional advice and insight to the Board with his
respective extensive experience and knowledge in the
accounting and legal aspects. Mr. Man has in-depth
understanding of the Group’s business and operation and
have also demonstrated strong independence by providing
comments at Board and Board committee meetings during
his tenure of office. In addition, none of Mr. Man has any
financial or family relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company, which could give rise to a
conflict of interests situation or otherwise affect his exercise
of independent judgement. In view of the aforesaid factors,
the Nomination Committee considered that long service of
Mr. Man would not affect his exercise of independent
judgment and was satisfied that Mr. Man has the required
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an
independent non-executive Director. The Nomination
Committee affirmed each of the independent non-executive
Directors remain independent and is of the view that the
Retiring Directors will continue to contribute to the Board
with their respective perspectives, skills and experience. In
view of the aforesaid factors and the experience and
knowledge of the relevant individuals in the business sectors
in which the Group operates.
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The independent non-executive Directors are not appointed
for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO")) which
would be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
would be taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2023, so far as was known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company based on the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and were
directly or indirectly interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on
all circumstances at general meeting of any other members
of the Group were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

Name of
substantial shareholder

Capacity

FERRES

Beneficial owner
BETHEAA

Mr. Tong Liang
REEE

Note: The percentage is calculated on the basis of 15,695,531,700 shares in
issue as at 30 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, so far as was
known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company
based on the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO, no person (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Number of
shares held
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4,404,651,375
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number of Approximate
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underlying the issued
shares held share capital
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Number of
underlying
shares held
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- 4,404,651,375 28.06%
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company and the
movements during the year are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme of the Company, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executives of
the Company (including their spouses and children under 18
years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the
shares, or underlying shares, or debentures, of the Company
or its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As the Board is independent of the boards of the aforesaid
companies and maintains three independent non-executive
Directors, the Group operates its businesses independently
of, and at arm'’s length from, the businesses of the aforesaid
companies.

The Company has no Directors or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company, or
existed during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the Corporate
Governance Code set out under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and subject to the provisions of the Companies
Ordinance, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any legal
actions brought against the directors and senior management
of the Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The
permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
directors as required by section 470 of the Companies
Ordinance.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme, at no time during the
year was the Company or its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole and any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or in existence during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 30 June 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT
BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the
Company is set and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board on the basis of the employees’ merit,
qualifications and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board,
having regards to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees of the
Company, details of which are set out in the note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection. The
Company has adhered to the concepts of recycling and
reducing by implementing green office practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycle papers and
reducing energy by switching off those idle lighting. The
Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities
from time to time.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company recognises that employees are our valuable
assets. Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration
package to attract and motivate the employees. The Group
regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees
and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with business partners to achieve its long-
term goals. Accordingly, our senior management have kept
good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared
business update with them when appropriate. During the
year, there was no material and significant dispute between
the Group and its business partners.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition,
operations and prospects. The followings are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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Risks pertaining to hotel operation

The Group’s hotel hospitality business may be significantly
affected by outside factors such as the occurrence of
extreme climates, the changes of government regulations,
foreign exchange fluctuations, and other natural and social
factors which may affect the level of global travel and
business activities. The extreme climates such as typhoon,
earthquake, tsunami and avalanches may increase
maintenance costs, affect the daily operation and safety of
employees of hotel hospitality business. The changes of
government regulations, such as the denial of permission to
entry for foreign nationals imposed during the period of
COVID-19 pandemic, which adversely affected the daily
operation of the hotel hospitality business.

As the Group’s hotel is located in Japan Hokkaido, the
revenue from this business is sensitive to changes in the
tourism industry in Japan, which is greatly influenced by the
attractiveness of Japan as a destination for tourists,
particularly welcomed by family groups and long-stay guests
for its spacious condominium rooms, which is the major
source of business for our hotels.

Risks pertaining to financing requirements and
access to capital

The amount and timing of the expenditures required to carry
out the product development/testing activities and potential
investments of the Group are uncertain and will depend on
numerous factors, some of which are outside the Group's
control. Factors that could increase the Group’s funding
requirements including but not limited to higher costs and
slower progress than expected to develop products and
slower progress than expected in securing development of
the Group’s products/potential investments. Greater than
expected expenditure requirements may materially and
adversely affect the Group's financial results and their ability
to introduce new products/investments profitably.

Risks pertaining to exchange rate fluctuations
As a consequence of the international nature of the Group, it
will be exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. The Group's future sales operations
will be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates to the
extent that its sales and purchases are denominated in
currencies other than its reporting currency. Movements in
exchange rates to translate foreign currencies may have a
significant impact on the Group’s results of operations,
financial position and cash flows from year to year.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the exercise of any pre-emptive
rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for
the year ended 30 June 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Full details on the Company'’s corporate governance practices
are set out on pages 26 to 44.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review the
Group'’s financial reporting system, the nature and scope of
audit review; (ii) review the effectiveness of the system of
internal control procedures and risk management and the
Company’s internal audit function; and (iii) review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity.
In addition, the Audit Committee discusses matters raised by
the external auditor and regulatory bodies to ensure that
appropriate recommendations are implemented. The Audit
Committee meets as and when required to perform its
responsibilities and at least twice a year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 30 June 2023 with the management
of the Company and the external auditor, and was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”),
is pleased to present the 2023 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of
the Group’s management of significant issues affecting the
operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the
professional assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy
and Internal Control Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with “comply or explain”
provision in the Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in
respect of corporate social responsibility, covering its
operating activities which are considered as material by the
Group — (i) hotel hospitality business in Japan (“hotel
hospitality business”); (i) provision of money lending services
and investments in listed securities and funds in Hong Kong
(“money lending & investment business”); and (ji) trading and
distribution of liquor and wine in the PRC. With the aim to
minimize and improve the disclosure requirements in the
Report, the Group has taken the initiative to formulate
policies, record relevant data as well as implement and
monitor measures. This Report shall be published both in
Chinese and English on the website of the Stock Exchange.
Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and
the English versions, the English version shall prevail. The
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company confirmed that during the reporting period, the
Company complied with the applicable provisions contained
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” of the Listing Rules.

REPORTING PERIOD
This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a)
have invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability
to influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are
interested in or affected by or have the potential to be
affected by the impact of the Group’s activities, products,
services and relationships. This allows the Group to
understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue
to ensure effective communication and maintain good
relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the
Group's roles and duties, strategic plan and business
initiatives. The Group engages with its stakeholders to
develop mutually beneficial relationships, seek their views on
its business proposals and initiatives, as well as promote
sustainability in the marketplace, workplace, community and
environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence
gained from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and
continuous interest in the Group’s business activities. The
Group has identified key stakeholders who are important to
the business and established various channels for
communication. The following table provides an overview of
the Group's key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication which are used to reach, listen
and respond to stakeholders.
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Stakeholders
HhE

Management
EEE

Employees

’E

Shareholders and Investors

BRI EE

Hotel Guests

Suppliers

g

Communities and
non-governmental organisations

e M IFRUT E R

Engagement Channels
SEEE

Regular meetings
EHEH

Business meetings

Training programs

Regular performance appraisals
Ea

G

TEHIRIRTZ

General meetings
Annual reports

Direct communication
Company’s website
&N

FERE

BHEER
PAYNFERT

Customer hotlines
Website and social media
Online customer feedback
Guest satisfaction surveys
Day-to-day communication
Company’s website
BEPRR

HEuh R At R AR RS
HBLEEPRE
ERMEERAE

H&E®

ZAN/NS RN

Business communications
Meetings and discussions
Tender Notice

E i)

EEVHE

RiFEm

Charitable and volunteering Activities

Company’s website
ESG Report
REMBLED
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B R RE AR
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the
Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained can allow the Group to
make more informed decisions, and better assess and
Mmanage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are
important to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues
and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the
Report according to recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules) and the guidelines of
Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI").

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review
of relevant ESG reports of the local and international
industry peers.

e The materiality of each ESG area was determined based
on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

e The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG
areas identified above to ensure all the key aspects
were covered.

Step 3: vValidation — Determining Material Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the
Group’s management ensured all the key and material
ESG areas, which were important to the business
development, were reported and in compliance with
ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out during the reporting
period, those important ESG areas to the Group were
discussed in this Report.

— =%

FRERNELETRBE  AKETED
FinENHRERET - MESHREZASE
BEESIEL E RAERORK - BEBMHE
REERBMEELENTE

AEBETHREAEBZEBNEBEEZE
BIRE  HENERZRER  ERARE
HEkEAREZEEZERA - AREER
RRIR - L@ RERWE S (LR R
Bttt 2 HBEZZE N ERREEZ A
(TR EESAR]) 2B 28/MEX
BRE - e REAREBUNEERERIERE o

AEBDEBTIIRAHERE HELE
ANTEZBEAMREEN

SR B — BIETHEEE
e MHERE HEMELRHBEELERE
MEmkBERRAXZHEBERE g

KRERREHHR -

s BRBE HEMNERBEBIERNM
RIEBEEBARHMIRE
& MEIRR S 1E 5l (L AR RIB &%
“THE)EBRZERE  HERERR
BHARE ERMEE

SR2:BERF —BHHESH
e AKERIBEME LMBERZE
RIRE - HENERBIBETIR

ATEGRREFTBRESE T @

SRI BE—ETERRHE

s REEIBROBEZNWRLEEEZ
BERER T > AR EEEEERD
ERVXBERBESNAEIEN
BEARE #HElkER#EE  BFA
RIE - @ MERWMEES -

HREREMEETIRE  BAKEEE
EZRE  #HehERBBERAREANT

A
A ©

SECCEER « BEFEREESRAT 59




Vo

y 4

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HERELIRE

In order to align the concerns of the stakeholders on ESG
issues related to the Group, the Group invited stakeholders to
score the degree of importance of every ESG issue to them
and to the Group from 0 to 10 marks (0 represented irrelevant
and 10 represented the most important) for ranking the 19
ESG issues.

RE—BNEHAEEBRRE HERE
REBNEDT  ARBEEBRNENEERR
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Environmental Social Operating Practices
RE HE BEEK
1 Air Emissions 8  Staff Welfare 13 Ethically Responsible Sourcing
2 Waste Management 9  Equal Opportunity 14 Customer Service
3 Greenhouse Gas Emission and 10 Occupational Health and Safety 15 Anti-corruption
Energy Use 11 Staff Development and Training 16  Community Investment
4 Water Consumption 12 Employment Compliance 17 Data Protection and Cyber
5  Climate Change Risk Security
6 Green Procurement 18 Economic Performance
7 Supply Chain Environmental Risk 19 Business Growth
1 ERIFEHRY 8 BIREF 13 6T EEEECEE
2 BUER 9 TE#w 14 BPER%
3 RERBHMRKEERER 10 BERERERZR 15 RESF
4 FEK 1N BIEREKE 16 tHREKE
5 RIRECER 12 EREER 17 BRURERBEHRLZ 2
6 #HERE 18 RERR
7 HERREER 19 EBiER

The management aligned the opinions and expectations of
our key stakeholders with the development of the Group so
as to prioritize the ESG issues in two dimensions: “Importance
to Business” and “Importance to Stakeholders” as the below
materiality matrix. This materiality assessment enables us to
direct our attention to each ESG issues and enables the
Group to perform a more comprehensive sustainable
development plan in the future.
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The materiality analysis results are shown in the materiality
matrix which allows the Group to identify ESG issues that are

BEUNTERCEEBHERTRR  EX
SEENBHNHHAKEERNIRE  HE

material to the Group so as to manage and adjust our REAEZEB - HMESERABRR MO HE

approach to sustainability. The issues located on the top
right-hand corner imply the most material issues and will be

emphasized in this ESG Report. et o

HEBEEMN

Importance to Business

Materiality Matrix
BEMEME
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7\ 5
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Importance to Stakeholder
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND
PRINCIPLES

This Report is in compliance with the reporting principles
determined by the ESG Reporting Guide of contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Besides, the reporting
principles are detailed as follows:

Materiality

Through conducting a materiality assessment and engaging
stakeholders of the Group, the Board reviews and prioritises
the ESG issues that are most relevant to the Group. Details of
the stakeholder engagement can be found in the “Materiality
Assessment” section.

Quantitative

This ESG Report discloses the relevant standards and
methodologies in the calculation of environmental and social
key performance indicators (“KPIs") with the aim of ensuring
the data disclosed is measurable and comparable.

Performance targets of KPIs are set by the Group based on
historical data and business development plan.

Balance

This ESG Report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG
performance of the Group during the reporting period by
avoiding the selection, omission, or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence the judgement of the readers.

Consistency
The data calculation methodologies of this ESG Report shall
be consistent to facilitate comparisons with historical data.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting and identified the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG areas, aspects
and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in this
Report are according to recommendations of the ESG
Reporting Guide.
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board's overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in
overseeing the management of the Group’s sustainability
issues. During the year, the Board and the ESG Working
Group spent significant time in evaluating the impact of ESG-
related risks on our operation and formulating relevant policy
in dealing with the risks. The oversight of the Board is to
ensure the management to have all the right tools and
resources to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy
and long-term value creation.

ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and
accountability, our Group has established an ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the
powers delegated to it by the Board. We highly value the
opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as the
cornerstone for the development of the Group. During the
reporting period, the ESG Working Group mainly consisted of
executive directors, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), Finance
Manager and Accountant.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management of
the Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the Working
Group at the meetings, which holds annually. During the
reporting period, the ESG Working Group and the
management reviewed the ESG governance and different ESG
issues.

Board’'s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations
of different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality
assessment is conducted annually. We ensure various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group understands
the expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The
feedbacks obtained can allow the Group to make more
informed decisions, and better assess and manage the
resulting impacts.
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The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps: (1) material ESG
area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area
prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation
and determining material ESG issues based on the results of
communication among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and
change of attention of our stakeholders to each significant
ESG issue, and can enable us to plan our sustainable
development direction more comprehensively in the future.
Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
materiality assessment were discussed in this Report.

Board review progress against ESG-related
goals and targets

The progress of target implementation and the performance
of the goals and targets shall be closely reviewed from time
to time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls
short of expectation. Effective communication about the
goals and targets with key stakeholders such as employees is
essential, as this can enable them to be engaged in the
implementation process, and to feel that they are part of the
changes that the Company aspires to achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years
enables the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus
on results of achieving the visions.

Setting targets require the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which shall be
weighed against the Company’s ambitions and goals. During
the reporting period, our Group set targets on an absolute
basis.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS A. BIREMR

A1. Emissions . BER

The Group believes in the importance of
sustainable development and environmental
protection and integrates environmental
protection into all aspects of our business
activities while supporting local sustainability
action plans. Our ESG Strategy and Policy provided
a guiding framework for the Group to develop and
implement relevant guidelines, operations
procedures and measures based on our business
nature, covering greenhouse gas emissions, air
emissions, energy use, water use, and waste
disposal.

Despite the fact that little environmental impact
can be caused by office-based operations in Hong
Kong, the Group is committed to operating its
business in an environmental-friendly manner,
fostering mindful resources consumption in daily
operations and arousing its employees’
environmental awareness. We constantly monitor
our environmental performance and strive hard to
reduce the negative impacts on the environment.

For the hotel hospitality business, the Group is
committed to driving sustainability among the
local community by regularly attending the
monthly meetings with Niseko Town & Hotel
Association to support the Niseko Eco-Model City
Action Plan and to discuss environmental issues
with the Niseko Environmental Division.

For the trading and distribution of liquor and wine
business in the PRC, the operation is office-based
and no manufacture activity is involved. As the
electricity expenses and water consumption
charges are included in office rental expense paid
to the landlord of the PRC office, the PRC
electricity usage data and water consumption data
cannot be recorded and available this year.
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During the reporting period, the Group strictly
complied with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and was not aware of
any non-compliance of laws and regulations that
could have significant impacts on the Group
relating to air pollutants and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, or
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes, including but not limited to the followings:

e Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311
of the Laws of Hong Kong);

e  Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

o The Basic Environmental Law (BEL) of Japan;
e The Air Pollution Control Act of Japan;

e The Waste Management and Public
Cleansing Act of Japan; and

e The Water Pollution Prevention Act of Japan

Air Pollutants Emission

Air pollutant emissions control is essential to
mitigate the impact on the environment and to
protect the health of employees. The Group strictly
complied with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and The
Air Pollution Control Act of Japan during the year.
For money lending and investment business, the
operation is mainly office-based and it is not
involved in the combustion of stationary sources.
For the trading and distribution of liquor and wine
business in the PRC, there is no air pollution as no
vehicle use is involved in daily operation. For the
hotel hospitality business, the air pollutants
emitted are mainly generated from the diesel and
gasoline consumed by business vehicles, such as
tour buses and private cars, electricity purchased
from the grid, as well as heavy oil and kerosene
for the hot spring operation and bathroom water
heating in hotel guest rooms. Despite of it, the
Group encourages employees to adopt alternative
communication means, such as telephone
conferences and video conferences, in order to
reduce air pollutants emission arising from
additional traffic.
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The increase in air pollutant emissions in 2023 was
mainly attributable to the increased fuel usage in
the hotel operation for the increase in the number
of visitors to Japan and the increase in the number
of hotel guest nights, as a result of the relaxation
of border enforcement measures on foreign
travellers by the Japanese Government for the less
serious outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (the
“COVID-19") pandemic during the year.
Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce the
emission of air pollutants by around 5% by 2032.

During the reporting period, the air pollutants
emission was as follows:

CECFERSRYBINELE
M3 ERHRNFR B REATE FE
i s ([FHEERES])
e RN D G BB
BERIAERRGIEE - S
B e ABUE I KB IR B R AL
BRERIE A0 - BGREE 2B
RE LT - o AEEH BT
RN B =Z_FRHERTRY
BEREIR A #I5% ©

EEREES

Money

lending &

investment

Air Pollutants business

HER

ZRFRN RELH

Nitrogen oxides (NO) kg -
Z&EHINOY TR

Sulphur dioxide (SO,) kg -
Z &1L (SO, TR

Particulate matter (PM) kg -
AERLY) (PM) TR

hospitality

business
1,416.88 1,416.88 1,065.79
3,621.04 3,621.04 3,394.72
270.72 270.72 246,99
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

The Group recognises that climate change is
gradually concerned by the community as it
affects our daily life and poses a risk to its
business. Hence, the Group is committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and
protecting the health of employees. For money
lending and investment business, electricity
accounts for their GHG indirect emission during
the office operation. For hotel hospitality business,
the diesel and gasoline consumed by business
vehicles, such as tour buses and private cars, as
well as heavy oil and kerosene for the hot spring
operation and bathroom water heating in hotel
guest rooms contribute to GHG scope 1 emission.
The electricity purchased from the grid for hotel
guest rooms accounts for the GHG scope 2
indirect emission in Japan. In an effort to minimise
the carbon footprint, the Group is devoted to
maintaining an efficient and effective use of
resources by adopting energy-saving initiatives
which will be further elaborated in the section
“Use of Resources” of this Report. The increase in
GHG emissions in 2023 was mainly attributable to
the increased electricity and fuel usage in the
hotel operation for the increase in the number of
visitors to Japan and the increase in the number of
hotel guest nights, as a result of the relaxation of
border enforcement measures on foreign
travellers by the Japanese Government for the less
serious outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic during
the year. Furthermore, the Group targets to
reduce the GHG emission by around 5% by 2032.
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During the reporting period, the GHG emission
was as follows:

Money

lending &
investment

fBER

R¥EHE - AEREBEREL

6.92

6.92

N/A
FEm

0.99

GHG Emission’ i business
BEREHERE" REXK
Scope 12 tonnes of CO,-e
#E 12 M-fiikEE
Scope 2° tonnes of CO,-e
#HE 2 M-fiikEE
Scope 3¢ tonnes of CO,-e
#HE3 M-aiikgE
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO-e
RERBHHES M_fliREE
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO,-e/
equivalent
guest night®
BERBHENEE M_EliREE
ERAIBRHEES
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO,-e/
HK employee
BERBHENEE M_EliREE
BEEE

The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the “Corporate

Accounting and Reporting Standard” from GHG protocol.

2 Scope 1: Scope 1 GHG emissions include fuel used by the Group’s
business vehicle fleet in Hong Kong and Japan, as well as the hot spring.

3 Scope 2: Scope 2 GHG emissions include purchased electricity consumed
by the Group.

4 Scope 3: Scope 3 GHG emissions include business air travel, the relevant
GHG emissions are calculated by the International Civil Aviation
Organisation (“ICAQ") Carbon Emissions Calculator.

> Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in

our hotel during the reporting period.

T
hospitality
business
BEREER
644.90 644.90 565.38
482.14 489.06 424,64
0.32 0.32 0.32
1,127.36 1,134.28 990.34
0.02 N/A N/A
TEA NER
N/A N/A N/A
MNEF TEA NER

7_
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

Waste management is considered as one of the
material topics in environmental protection. The
Group recognises the importance of waste
reduction. Waste management measures have
been introduced and implemented to minimise
the amount of waste generated and the impact on
the environment. With our business nature, no
hazardous waste is generated or discharged
during office and hotel operations. The Group
strictly complied with the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and The Waste
Management and Public Cleansing Act of Japan
during the year.

For money lending and investment business, the
major source of their non-hazardous waste is the
general office waste consisting of paper and
plastic waste, which is considered as insignificant
to the Group’s business. For the trading and
distribution of liguor and wine business in the PRC,
the office waste generated is considered as
immaterial to the Group and no waste was
recorded during the year. The PRC office will try its
best to develop a proper waste data recording
system in the coming year. For hotel hospitality
business, the non-hazardous waste includes paper
and cardboard, plastics, metals, glass and
disposable room amenities and linens. The Group
endeavours to reduce the amount of waste and
strengthen the environmental awareness of the
employees. The Group ensures all the wastes
generated are properly collected and handled by
the property management company. The Group
will plan to establish an effective non-hazardous
waste data collection system to record the waste
amount in the future.
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With the aim to reduce the amount of waste
generated, we recommend our staff to use
reusable cups and bowls in the workplace to
reduce the use of disposable containers and
minimise the wastage and harm to the
environment. We recycle every printer toner
cartridge, rechargeable battery and CD-ROM disc,
as well as encourage proper sorting of recyclable
materials including waste paper, metals and
plastic. Moreover, we encourage duplex printing
for most of the printing jobs in our office in order
to avoid overuse of paper. We pre-set the fax
machine to convert incoming messages to
electronic files and transfer them directly to the
server to avoid bulk printing of promotional copies.
Single-sided paper, envelopes and the backside of
letter pads are also reused to the greatest extent.

Our hotel operation strictly complied with the
Water Pollution Prevention Act of Japan during the
year. Supporting the Niseko Eco-Model City Action
Plan, the Group has installed a sludge circulation
filtration system, which treats domestic
wastewater generated by the hotel operations by
sedimentation and filtration, before discharging
into the municipal sewage network of Niseko
Town. Sludge generated by the treatment system
is collected annually by the authorised vendor for
further treatment. During the reporting period,
29.00 tonnes (2022: 20.21) sludge was collected
through the system.

-F

=

BTRLVEENEDE  KME
EETAEIEGERRIEERE
AHMm: WAL FERBESR
B URERRENREREN
B o T o Uk & & 47 BN A% 5 5
2 Al EE MM CD-ROMIEE -
WHBH TRV RETEE D
HoOBREERK SBRBRB It
Sh o BRPIEEBRHAETERZHIE
ERFBEmITE LR e E AR
EHRAK  BRMBEAERBRBK
Az ERATTIETERE
EE R FIEEE - AR % RHLFTED
Rt RATEmALKR

EHREENEETREEM -

FR - RFEEE S EREEST
BARZCOKFRERZE) - BEEE
R AERER T EEE
(Niseko Eco-Model City Action
Plan) - NEE D L5 RBERTF
LRE - BRNR R BREER
EEBEECZEERK REB
A HEZMBUTKEM -
ZEBRSKEEAZSREBFHL
RIEHERNKE  WNEE—FR
B NRENHE BEBZES
WESREL290AMB(Z T ==
F:2021) °

“CEFH o REFRFREEARAT 71



4 —

V o 4
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE HEREIESE

The increase in the amount of non-hazardous —E=FMEACEZREYDE
waste generated in 2023 was mainly due to the I EZEBRRFRNEAENA
increased hotel operation for the increase in the FE B AR A TR 15 18 B BER i
number of visitors to Japan and the increase in the i & 8 MR & EREX 8 B 35 R
number of hotel guest nights, as a result of the SR BEEGHEKRE AL
relaxation of border enforcement measures on MBEE R A SUE N - BE
foreign travellers by the Japanese Government for G E B - AN ANEEH
the less serious outbreak of the COVID-19 BEZAR _—E= —FpEMES
pandemic during the year. Furthermore, the Group ZEEREYIR D H)5% o NEBE
targets to reduce the non-hazardous waste AR EEEYAT

generation by around 5% in 2032. The non-
hazardous wastes generated by the Group were

as follows:
Money
lending & Hotel
Non-hazardous investment  hospitality
waste generated business business
HER
ELZEERY E REXK BEXGES
Non-hazardous waste generated kg 0.02 1,401.00 1,401.02 975.01
FELZEEREY TR
Non-hazardous waste kg/equivalent N/A 0.03 N/A N/A
generated intensity guest nights A TER TER
FEEZ RERDEE Fr/BEAE
BEEE
Non-hazardous waste kg/HK employee 0.002 N/A N/A N/A
generated intensity i TER NEH
FEEZ BERNEE Tr/ BB EE

¢ Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in ¢ BERAEBHEZESHENREHEETAEZRMES
our hotel during the reporting period. R o

72 DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI HAERELIERE

A2. Use of Resources A2. EREH

The Group strives to take all feasible measures to
incorporate sustainability into its business
operations and improve its environmental
performance. Realising that resource conservation
is crucial for maintaining environmental
sustainability, we promote green office
management and encourage our employees to be
aware of the need for resource conservation in
daily operations. We pledge to reduce resource
consumption and carbon footprint in all our
businesses and operations through the application
of several actions and practices.

Energy

The energy consumption of the Group mainly
comes from purchased electricity for our hotel
operation, the diesel and gasoline consumed by
business vehicles, such as tour buses and private
cars, as well as heavy oil and kerosene for the hot
spring operation and bathroom water heating in
hotel guest rooms. The PRC electricity usage data
cannot be recorded and available this year as the
electricity expense is included in office rental
expense paid to the landlord of the PRC office. In
order to reduce the energy consumption, the
Group advocated various energy conservation
strategies as follow:

o Installed hot water pipes for hotel guest
room heating purpose

o Double glazed windows that reduce the
absorption of heat through the outer layers
of the building while still keeping high levels
of natural light

o Chiller system that contains automatic
temperature management function to
improve energy efficiency

o Gradually replacing light bulbs with light-
emitting diode (“LED") bulbs

o Used daylight whenever possible to save
electricity used for lighting

o Switched off all electronic appliances when
they are not in use

o Used energy-saving light bulbs to reduce
power consumption

o Given a choice whether to change the bed
linen everyday as a part of our environmental
responsibilities for energy saving from
washing machines use.

—
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The increase in energy consumption in 2023 was
mainly attributable to the increased electricity and
fuel usage in the hotel operation for the increase
in the number of visitors to Japan and the increase
in the number of hotel guest nights, as a result of
the relaxation of border enforcement measures on
foreign travellers by the Japanese Government for
the less serious outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic during the year. Furthermore, the Group

CECCFREBEEMNEER
R A B AN BT F R 2L iR R
SR BB ERE MMM E L EI
IR ERENAY B IR R B FE 5E - B
FHIREASEINRBEEERA
R EUE I - BUEEE 2 ENE
BEERMBAE LA o K
SENERAR_ZE=Z_Fa1#
BEREREEER L 5% ©

targets to reduce total energy consumption by 5%
in 2032.

During the reporting period, the energy R EEIE - BERBFELT ¢
consumption was as follows:

Money
lending & Hotel
investment  hospitality
business business

EER
REXE EERGER

Energy consumption

RERH R

Indirect energy

BEEE
Purchased electricity MWh 10.18 878.22 888.40 770.92
EREE KRB
Direct energy
EERR
Kerosene MWh - 407.28 407.28 263,67
B K EE
Diesel MWh - 95.01 95.01 37.07
S K EE
Heavy ol MWh - 1,993.63 1,993.63 1,880.17
Bl KL
Gasoline MWh - 49.63 49.68 46.84
i K EE
Total energy consumption MWh 10.18 3,423.82 3,434.00 2,998.61
RREREE KL
Energy consumption intensity MWh/equivalent N/A 0.07 N/A N/A
guest night’ NiEm TER A
EREERE KRk ER
NG -
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK 1.45 N/A N/A N/A
employee i TER A
EREERE kEE,/
EEES
7 Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in =~ 7 BEEAZTB®RHE ERRREHHEZAET KBS

our hotel during the reporting period. 2 HBRRE -
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Water

Water is another important resource. The water
used by the Group is supplied by the Water
Supplies Department. For money lending and
investment business, the office water supply is
solely controlled by the building management
company. In this case, it is not feasible for us to
provide water consumption data as there is no
separate sub-meter to record the water
consumption data for office operation. The Group
strives to reduce water consumption by
strengthening the water-saving awareness of the
employees. It reminds the employee to conserve
water by emails and posting signs. The PRC water
consumption data cannot be recorded and
available this year as the water charges are
included in office rental expense paid to the
landlord of the PRC office. In our hotel operation,
customers are given a choice whether to change
the bed linen everyday as a part of our
environmental responsibilities for water saving
from washing machines use.

The Group installed a spring water circulation
system at its Niseko Moiwa-Mountain Natural Hot
Springs, which utilizes natural spring water to
operate our spa centre. Fresh water and chlorine
were added to the spring water in order to
maintain its quality in accordance with Niseko
Hygiene Management Office Standards. This
system reduces the need to rely on freshwater
supplied by the water utility network.

Wastewater generated from our operations is
primarily municipal wastewater. The effluent is
promptly discharged into the local sewage pipeline
network for further treatment by the local drainage
services department. Therefore, the Group’s
wastewater discharge has a minimal
environmental impact.

—
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The increase in water consumption in 2023 was
mainly due to the increased hotel operation for
the increase in the number of visitors to Japan and
the increase in the number of hotel guest nights,
as a result of the relaxation of border enforcement
measures on foreign travellers by the Japanese
Government for the less serious outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic during the year. The Group
targets to reduce water consumption by around
5% by 2032.

During the reporting period, the total water
consumption was as follows:

TEC=FREKEEMNEER
R A B AN BT F R 2L iR R
SRIBREREMMMELE G
IR ERENAY B IR R B FE 5E - B
FHIKREASRL LBEEERA
R BIE AN BB E 2 B g
me AEENERERR_T==
FRTEFEKEILINE) 5% o

RIEHME - @FKEMT

hospitality

Money
lending &
investment
Water Consumption i business
HER
¥kE B REXK
Water consumption m? N/A
FEKE FAK T
Water consumption intensity m3/equivalent N/A
guest night? Nk

HKEE FRR/EEA

EBaEE

A3. The Environment and Natural
Resources

Regarding the business nature of the Group, we
are not aware of any significant impact of the
business activities on the environment and natural
resources. With the implementation of
aforementioned green office and hotel practices
to reduce air pollutants and GHG emissions, waste
generation and resource consumption, the Group
strives to enhance environmental sustainability
and minimise the impacts on the environment.

EEREES

Hotel
business
22,041 22,041 17,838
047 0.47 0.60
BRERXARER

A3.

RAEENEBHEEMS - T
WA HMBEBS EZHHIRIE R KA
BRERTMAERTE - KEE
FREW MG ERAENBE
BERBURDTERSEMEBEER
BEEN - BOMELERERBRE -
ﬁjﬁmﬂ'f&iﬁ—ﬁ BER MORR
HIRRHTE o

8 Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in 8
our hotel during the Reporting Period.
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A4. Climate Change A4, RIRE{t

Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based
on the nature of the risk to our operations. The
physical impacts of climate change, including
extreme weather events, or damage to facilities
have immediate operational impacts and are
treated as operational risks. Long-term challenges,
such as emerging ESG issues and climate-related
risks and opportunities, may be discussed by the
ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly
during board meetings and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest
trend of climate-related issues, climate
competence training will be provided to ensure it
has the necessary expertise and skills to oversee
the management of climate-related issues. Our
Board also seeks professional advice from external
experts when necessary to better support the
decision-making process.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective
governance for integrating and addressing ESG
issues, including climate change, within our
business. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for approving operational emissions targets for the
Group and commissioning an ESG benchmarking,
as well as gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in
both disclosure and policy relative to the best
practice standards. Moreover, the ESG Working
Group works closely with the Group’s different
operation departments, with an aim to develop
consistent and enhanced approaches on
addressing ESG risk issues and report to the
management.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk
profile through its role in increasing the frequency
and intensity of certain diseases, and the health
and mortality impacts resulting from natural
disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by
taking into consideration a range of diverse risk
factors across the many categories in our services
range. This diversity of risk is combined with our
business strategy and broad geographic footprint
helps us mitigate risk and provide protection
against the impacts of short-term climate change
effects.

Our services continue to provide protection for
people in our communities against weather and
heat-related disease. Besides, we plan to explore
opportunities to engage our business partners and
encourage them to develop climate resilience and
reduce their operational carbon footprint by taking
into consideration of different climate-related
scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario”
through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is a
possibility that the industry will be exposed to
substantial changes, such as stricter policies
including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology
and changes in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on
the International Energy Agency (“IEA") scenarios
and others, we developed multiple future images
of 2025 as the external environment that will
surround our Group. With regard to the IEA
scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C scenario and
pictured future images in case where climate
change measures do not progress and where
such measures progress further Beyond 2°C
scenario.
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Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each
of the future images developed in Step 1. We
believe that in such a society, it will be possible to
expand carbon dioxide emission reduction effects.

With regard to effects on our Group's
procurement, office operation and hotel operation,
introduction of an increase in carbon pricing is
anticipated in accordance with the global advance
of climate change measures, leading to the
possibility of higher procurement, office operation
and hotel operation costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate
change measures are not adequate throughout
society, business operation interruptions and
supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as a
result of higher frequency and intensification of
natural disasters such as typhoon and flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of
the use of non-renewable energy in our office
operation and hotel operation. This strategy will
allow for flexible and strategic responses to each
demand for the regions where the emission
factors of purchased electricity consumptions are
high. By promoting real carbon emissions
reductions throughout the world through
comprehensive energy-saving policies and
introduction of renewable energy, we are working
to achieve zero carbon emission in our business.

With respect to renewable energy in particular, we
have set a new target, achieve a 5% reduction rate
for purchased electricity and fuel consumption by
2032. With regard to the ongoing confirmation of
the suitability and progress of the Group’s
strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable
increases in corporate value through appropriate
information disclosure, dialogue with institutional
investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related
risks or to test the existing risk management
strategies under climate change with the aid of
risk assessment. Hence, the areas where new
strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information
and expert knowledge, which can identify how
climate change may compound existing risks or
create new ones. The risk assessment is
conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

o Objective/goal

o Scale

o Time frame

e  (Climate change scenario for most climate
variables and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and

current)

o Identify the record of occurrence of climatic
hazard in the past in the area

o Risk management strategies in place to
tackle future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

o Explore climate change projections for the
selected time frame(s) and emission
scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

o Investigate whether any existing risk from
Step 2 may get worse under future projected
changes

o Identify new risks that can emerge under
future projected changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

o Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.
geographical areas, business operation,
assets, ecosystems, etc.) that has the
potential to be at risk in future
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As outlined in the “governance section of climate
change” above, the Group has robust risk
management and business planning processes
that are overseen by the board of directors in
order to identify, assess and manage climate-
related risks. The Group engages with government
and other appropriate organizations in order to
keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory
and/or fiscal changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change
in regard to monitoring of carbon and energy
footprint in our daily operation. However, there
remains gaps in understanding how such climate
risks and opportunities may impact our
operations, assets and profits. Our Group assesses
how the business addresses climate change risks
and opportunities and takes the initiative to
monitor and reduce their environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant
climate-related physical risks and transition risks,
which have impacted and/or may impact our
Group’s business and strategy in (i) operations,
products and services, (i) supply chain and value
chain, (iii) adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv)
investment in research and development, and (v)
financial planning, as well as the steps taken to
Mmanage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEBEZERBMRINNIER

15 46 B L B Y i 3t g2
Physical Risk

BRER

Acute physical risks

=M ERER

e Climate change can lead to more
frequent extreme weather. Super
typhoon may be an extreme weather
in Hong Kong. It can cause serious
impacts on the office and hotel
infrastructure. Office and hotel
windows may be broken due to
heavy wind and rain. The Group'’s
equipment, documents, systems,
back up storage may be destroyed as
a result of typhoon.

e QOperating cost and
maintenance cost
increase.

o Employee safety issues caused by
extreme weather may not be always
properly considered.
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¢ Office and hotel will take sufficient
and necessary measures when
there is an announcement of
typhoon. All documents will be
stored in a proper manner and
kept away from the window.
Additionally, the electronic
version of the documents will also
be saved for backup. The backup
will be kept by the senior
management and stored in
centralised backup of internal
network.

e The Group will provide safety
training for employees to enhance
their safety awareness and
formulate contingency plan to
ensure a timely response during
an emergency.
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Climate-related risks description

SR 5% A A L B B 3

Financial Impact
g2

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEBEZERBMRINNIER

Chronic physical risks

B ERER

e Prolonged hot weather may increase
the energy consumption. As
electricity supply is very important for
running a business, a surge of energy
consumption may lead to fuel
shortage, results in shortage of
electricity supply.

e Climate change can lead to an
increase in extreme weather, such as
drought, super typhoon, flood, etc.,
which can affect the ecosystem. The
Group is dependent on paper for
printing and consumes a huge
amount of paper. Paper is essential
for office operation. One of the major
raw materials for paper is wood. If
prolonged extreme weather events
occur, the supply of wood will be
affected, hence, affecting the supply
of paper.
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e Operating cost increases. e The Group has implemented
lighting zone control and adopted
efficient lamps in the office and

hotel.

e By posting energy-saving notices,
employees are reminded to
switch off the electrical
appliances when they are not in
use.

e Room temperature is maintained

at an energy-efficient level of 25
degrees Celsius.
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

SR 5% A A L B B 3 MHTE

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEBEZERBMRINNIER

Transitional Risk

BIERE R

Policy risk

BURE B

e Mandates on and regulation of
existing services. If there is a
restriction on logging for
environmental protection purpose
imposed by relevant governments,
the supply of wood will be affected,
hence, affecting the supply of paper
and other natural resources.
Furthermore, there may also be a
restriction on fossil fuel and electricity
use. As their supply may be limited
and controlled by the government.
Hotel guests and staff in our office
will be affected correspondingly.

e Operating cost increases
for high compliance costs
and increased insurance
premiums for the Group.

e Major local and international
guidelines for sustainability reporting
and rating are not always
strengthened with emphasis on
climate change.
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Monitor the updates of the
relevant climate-related
environmental policies, to avoid
the unnecessary increase in cost
and expenditure due to the
violation of the climate-related
environmental policies.

Monitor the regulatory trends and
ensure the Group’s operation
complies with relevant ESG
requirements.

Identify areas of improvement on
ESG and implement relevant
measures if applicable.
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Climate-related risks description

SR 5% A A L B B 3

Legal risk
EERRE

Exposure to litigation. We have to
adapt the tightened law and
regulations issued by the government
due to climate change. We may have
the risk of litigation once we fail to
obligate the new laws.

Strict ESG reporting requirement. The
Group may have to spend much time
on fulfilling the report standards to
comply the new requirement.

ARAREER o BB RT AR R R
LMW EEDI SOER - —BRELE
STEAD] - RS R AR ©

BIRORE L@ REARMERTE °
AEEXFILEAEREMEHET
BUAFAFHRE °

Technology risk
9t L B

More low carbon energy-saving
material and energy saving
technologies are developed, the
capital investment and research and
development expense increase
consequently.

More green building strategies with
low-carbon, energy-saving
technologies are adopted by industry
peers. Lagging behind may weaken
our competitive edges.
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Financial Impact
g2

e Operating cost increases

for high compliance costs
and increased insurance
premiums for the Group.

REBEBRKA DD RIR
Bign - BREBRALE
e

Upgrade office and hotel
supplies with low-carbon
and energy saving
technologies may involve
higher investment cost
and research and
development expense.
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Steps taken to manage the risks

REEZZARMRENER

e Monitor the updates of the
relevant climate-related
environmental laws by checking
against the service and
procurement agreement terms,
as well as reviewing internal
policies and procedures on
climate change issues. This aims
to avoid unnecessary and
unexpected increase in cost and
expenditure due to non-
compliance.

o FiBME R R E RA
REBEEBEREE BN A
HEREF  EREEHERIRIAE
REBZENSFERL - WEREE
BREATSRBEAMERIMBE
R EBINIBA K B S 3G A0

e Examined the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
low-carbon and energy-saving
technologies into our operation.

o FHE R E T R A ST IR AR R A
BERMTEY AT 1 Bk o

—To=aE . BRVEREEERAR 85



—
,N”*, &
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BiR -lgREIEE

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks
15 46 B L B Y i 3t g2 AEEBEZERBMRINNIER
Market risk
m%ﬂﬁ
More customers are considering e Revenue decreases forthe e Tightened the control of the
climate-related risks and change in customers’ climate-related environmental
opportunities, which may lead to preference. pollution in daily business
changes in customers’ demand for operation.
services. e Procurement cost

increases as abrupt and e Planned to carry out study of the
e Loss of clients due to poor unexpected shifts in application of recycled materials
environmental condition of hotel. market price of office and and lower-emission energy
hotel supplies. sources.
e Shift in consumer preference
jeopardizes the viability of certain
business models.

e Increased cost of office and hotel
supplies. More environmental-friendly
office and hotel supplies may be
much more expensive, which may
increase the operating cost.
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact
g2

Steps taken to manage the risks
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Reputational risk
Fﬂﬂﬁ

Unable to fulfil the expectations of
the customers which may lead to
potential damage the Group's
reputation and image.

Stigmatisation of our business sector,
such as more stakeholder concern or
negative stakeholder feedback on our
business operation, in a less
environmental-friendly way.

Fail to meet the social expectation on
the Group's ESG performance may
negatively affect our reputation and
result in loss of potential customers.
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e Revenue decreases from
the drop in income as a
result of reduced
customers.

e QOperating cost increases
from negative impacts on
workforce management
and planning.

o WARZEFPRAMAMT
B - S BkaR D -

.« HANEBRABMAE
MR BBk -

e R

777

—HFF o BEHEREEEERAT

Planned to support and participate
in the activities that related to
environmental protection,
conservation.

Planned to select suppliers who
carry out relevant policies to
protect the environment.

Disclose ESG information through
the annual ESG report.

Planned to maintain a close
relationship with major
stakeholders to ensure timely
response to their enquiry
regarding the Group’s ESG
performance.
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Furthermore, the significant climate-related
opportunities and associated financial impacts on
our Group during the reporting period were as

follows:

Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

AN REBEHE - ARENE
RRIREREEE RN E
wmr

Financial Impact

R AR DB IE BV A

Resource efficiency
e Reduce paper usage

e Reduce water and energy consumption
BER#ME
o MM

B KR EEIREFE

Energy source
e Use of lower-emission sources of energy

e Use of supportive policy incentives

e Use of new technologies

Eb/

o {FREHEMEEIR

o RAXIEBREREE
o {EMFN M
Products and services

e Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions

e Ability to diversify business activities
EmNR%

o Il 5E SR M 0 E N2 AR B [ B R OR T B
o ZIILEREENAE

Markets
* Access to new markets

W%
o EAFTS

bEr o

Operating cost reduces through efficiency
gains and cost reductions

37538 N8 R N B AP AK 2 &R AR

Operating cost reduces through use of
lowest cost abatement

Returns on investment in low- emission
technology increases

7B E A RIER AR PR R g ERA
SZAME SR BT 4% 2 [ 3R

Revenue increases through new solutions to
adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services

7 B B 0 AROR 5 R (R0 7E @ BB
riRIREIR ) 1R 7Has

Revenue increases through access to new
and emerging markets

37 B AT BT 58 hn ks
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Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

RIREABE B R AR )

Resilience

e Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency
measures

e Resource substitution or diversification

e
o 2HT BARRE MIRIENRERE IE .

o« BREAAZ T

Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and
manage climate-related risks and opportunities.
The energy consumption and greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions indicators are the key metrics
used to assess and manage relevant climate-
related risks where we consider such information
is material and crucial for evaluating the impact of
our operation on global climate change during the
year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators to
assess the effectiveness of emission reduction
initiatives, as well as set targets to contribute our
effort to have minimal impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target
applies and base year from which progress is
measured are described in the Section A1:
“Emissions” and Section A2: “Use of Resources” of
this Report. Our Group adopts absolute target to
manage climate-related risks, opportunities and
performance.
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Financial Impact
Ejg
5

Market valuation increases through
resilience planning, such as planning of the
research in the use of renewable energy

sources

Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increases

Revenue increases through new products
and services related to ensuring resiliency
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

B1. Employment

90

Employees are regarded as the Group’s important
and valuable assets to the Group’s success. We
aim to provide a safe and healthy working
environment to our employees, ensuring their
rights and welfare and providing them with
optimal development and training. The
commitment is incorporated into staff handbook
and other human resources management policies.
Our staff handbook covers the Group’s policies in
respect of compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare.

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

The Group prioritises the rights and benefits of its
employees. We believe well-being of employees is
correlated to their productivity and sense of
belonging to the Company. We strive to move
forward with high labour standards, respect
human rights and minimise the staff turnover rate.

The Group strictly complies with applicable local
regulations, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of the Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC, the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485), the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480) and the
Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602) in
Hong Kong, the right and the obligation to work
(Art. 27 para.1) of the Japan, a ban on child labour
(Art. 27 para. 3) of the Japan and the freedom of
workers’ association — the worker’s right to
organize, to bargain and to act collectively (Art. 28)
of the Japan to ensure fair remuneration and
benefits for our employees. We provide
remuneration for our employees according to their
qualifications, experience, performance, job duties
and service years as well as to the market
benchmark. We review performance appraisal on
an annual basis to ensure our remuneration
practices are competitive and aligned with market
rates. In addition to salary, we provide mandatory
provident fund, allowances, medical benefits and
variable incentive-based remuneration such as
discretionary bonus to our employees. Employees
are also entitled to various types of leave including
annual leave, paid sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, compassionate leave, etc.
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Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-
discrimination

The Group strives to construct a diverse and
inclusive workplace where all our employees are
treated with dignity and respect. We strongly
oppose to all discriminatory behaviour against any
individual on their gender, age, nationality, race,
colour, disability, creed, religion, sexual
orientation, marital status or family status. The
principle of equal opportunities is applied in all
employment practices, including but not limited to
recruitment, promotion and transfer, work
allocation, benefits and training and development.
During the reporting period, there were no
instances of non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to employment and labour
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practices in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.

Employee Composition

The employee compositions by gender, age group
and geographical region, employment type and
employment mode at the end of the reporting

period were as follows:

ESAR

REEIR - IR

F e 48 5l

K BERE R EREAS

DZEEBAKIT

Employee composition

By gender BRI &

e Male e M

e Female o M

By age group RERMARE D
e Age 30 or below e 30BREIAT
e Age 31-40 o 31E405%

e Age41-50 o A ZES08%

e Age51orabove e S51pREA L
By geographical region Rt EE D

e Hong Kong o FHAE

e Japan o HAX

e PRC o

By employment type Eﬁﬁﬁi_]ﬁ
e Senior management SREEE
e Middle management . EP MEEE
e General staff o TWMET

e Contract/short term /\Z’J/ 2 HA
By employment mode Eﬁﬁffﬁ“ﬁ_]ﬁ
e Full-time staff e RBET

e Part-time staff e FBEBET

—7

67% 63%
33% 37%

7% 7%
30% 19%
26% 30%
37% 44%
30% 30%
66% 66%

4% 4%
33% 33%
15% 15%
26% 22%
26% 30%
67% 70%
33% 30%
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The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age
group, geographical region during the reporting
period was as follows:

R¥EME - RIER - FieAan

K& D 2 FEREBIRAEN

T

Employee turnover rate EEREAE

By gender BRI &l

e Male o M

e Female o M

By age group RERMARE D
e 30 vyears old or below o 30BREKUAT
e 31-40years old o 31E405%

e 41-50vyears old o AMZES08
e 57 yearsold or above o 51EREkAE
By geographical region Rt EE D

e Hong Kong o FHAE

e Japan o HAX

e PRC o
Overall et

B2. Health and Safety

The Group provides its employees with a safe and
healthy working environment. We ensure that our
daily operations are compliant with all applicable
rules, to minimise and protect employees from
any occupational health and safety hazards that
may cause risks. We strictly comply with the rules
and guidelines stipulated in the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance by the Labour
Department in Hong Kong Employees’
Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Law
of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases ( # B B 2 9/ 7 8 /% ),
Industrial Safety and Health Act (S8 Z 2/ 4X)
of the Japan and Industrial Accident Compensation
Insurance Act ( 4 8) & X &= # 8 R b2 )% ) of the
Japan.

B2.
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Safe and Hygienic Workplace

The Company provides its employees with a set of
guidelines to ensure a safe and healthy workplace
for all its workforce. We provide medical benefits
to our employees, prohibit smoking in non-
smoking areas or bringing in explosives or illegal
drugs without permission. We also circulate
internal memorandum among our staff to remind
them of the information related to occupational
health and safety. We care about employees’
physical and mental health, conduct regular
interviews to understand employees’ concerns,
and launch employee surveys to learn more about
employees’ needs. We also implement daily
disinfection in hotels and regular disinfection in
office, and actively arrange pandemic prevention
supplies such as masks, protective clothing, and
disinfectants for front-line employees.

During the reporting period, there was 1 employee
(2021: nil, 2022: nil) injured and 5 lost day (2021:
nil, 2022: nil) due to work-related injuries. There
was no fatality case (2021: nil, 2022 nil) during the
year. Moreover, there was no violation of any laws
and regulations relating to occupational health or
safety in Hong Kong, the PRC or Japan.

Managing business during the outbreak of
COVID-19

The operations of our One Niseko Resort Towers
in Hokkaido, Japan, has been affected significantly
by COVID-19. The travel bans and border
restrictions imposed by the Japan Government
have reduced the number of visitors to our hotel
premises by a large extent. We have taken
proactive steps to reduce the risk of disease
transmission and protect our staff and guests by
setting up the Emergency Action Plan against
COVID-19. This Plan outlines the communication
channels with the local Health Department in
Hokkaido as well as procedures designed to
prevent and manage guest and staff infection
events. For example:
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B3.

o Hotel rooms were arranged for guests with
suspected diseases so that they could
practice self-isolation

o Provision of personal protective equipment
to staff, such as masks, gloves and
protective clothing

o Closure of facilities such as bathhouses with
a high risk of cross-infection

o Keep the restaurant’s operating hours and
seating capacity limited in order to maintain
social distance

o Frequent disinfection of high touchpoints of
the premises, such as guest rooms,
doorknob, switches, elevators, receptions,
etc.

Development and Training

The Group believes that development and training
are crucial to enhance its employees’ potential for
work advancement. We support our employees in
the performance of their designated roles and
help them to fulfill their potential during the course
of their employment. To improve employees’
professional knowledge and skills in discharging
their duties, we provide on-job trainings to our
employees with contents covering occupational
health, corporate governance, etc. Our employees
are funded suitable seminars, aiming to encourage
and support them in pursuing professional
development and continuous learning through
external training.

To uphold our services quality, understand
different case scenario faced by the frontline staff
and timely respond to the views from our staff, the
Group always seeks for improvements on the
trainings by conducting assessment and collecting
feedback of participants. This can help the Group
continuously improve the training programs
covering various aspects offered to all levels of
employees so as to enhance their job
performance.

B3.
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During the reporting period, the percentage of RmEEE - BHRI R EREER
employees trained and average training hours by ZPOTINEEB DL R
gender and employment type was as follows: SIS -
Percentage of Average training hours
employees trained (hours/employee)
ZIEERDL FHEIRH (N EE)
2023 2022 2023 2022
Employment category {E{EE5I —EC= S —E-= S
By gender RMERIE D
* Male o Bt 58% 51% 2.89 1.94
o Female o Wt 88% 142% 3.56 5.67
By employment type  R{EEEREH
o Seniormanagement o SHREEE 29% - 1.29 -
o Middle management o REEREE 46% 20% 2.77 0.40
o General staff o L®ET 63% 57% 3.44 2.29
o Contract/shortterm o A4)/5EEH 82% 247% 2.88 9.88
During the reporting period, the breakdown of RIS AR - =R RIERES
employee trained by gender and employment type Elnm=2sEERRMEIT ¢

was as follows:

Breakdown of

employee trained (%) 5 5{E & BA A (%)

By gender RER 8D

e Male o S 61% 35%
e Female o T 39% 65%
By employment category RERERNES

e Senior management s BRERE 17% -
e Middle management o HRERE 16% 4%
e General staff o LWMET 28% 15%
e Contract/short term o BH/RH 39% 81%
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group prohibits engagement of child and
forced labour in compliance with the relevant
law of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
of the Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC,
Labor Standards Act (45 &) & %)%) of the Japan,
Employment Security Act (Bt % E)%) . We have
implemented a preventive recruitment procedure
with a thorough background check, to ensure that
no underaged or illegal persons are employed.
Furthermore, to prevent unlawful recruitment of
employees under the age of 15 as child labour,
employees are required to provide identity proofs
to Human Resources Department to verify the age
as part of the recruitment process. All work should
be voluntarily performed and shall not involve
forced labour. If any violation against laws and
regulations in relation to labour standards is
found, we will investigate the incident, impose
appropriate penalty to accountable staff subject to
the severity and review any defects in the human
resources system in place. Besides, the Group
does not in any way force its employees to work
overtime. Employees are compensated in
accordance with labour laws and company
practices on overtime compensation in cases
where working outside normal working hours is
inevitable.

During the reporting period, there was no
employment of child labour discovered, nor any
non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to
forced labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES EEER

B5. Supply Chain Management B5. {ftEHEEE

The Group has established a set of guidelines for
procurement of goods and services, with an
objective to maintain proper supply chain
management in the Company. We expect our
suppliers to share the same values and operate
business in a responsible, fair and honest manner.
For office operation, the Group mainly works with
third party services providers which provide
services such as information technology services,
property management services, advertising
service and legal and consulting services. We also
work with suppliers that supply office equipment,
printing and stationery. For hotel operation, the
Group works closely with a number of suppliers in
providing a range of hospitality goods, including
guestroom consumables, tableware, furniture, and
electrical appliances.

Stringent procedures are applied in the selection
of suppliers. In addition, we maintain a well-
established system to monitor the quality of
suppliers, ensuring that the goods supplied and
services provided are of high standard. The Group
also emphasises on the selection of products that
cause minimal impacts on the environment, for
example, we purchase green cleaning products
and reusable items instead of single-use
disposable ones. To raise awareness and engage
our suppliers to contribute to sustainable
development, we welcome suppliers who
demonstrate their commitment to sustainability.
During the year, the Group had 46 suppliers (2022:
46 suppliers) in Hong Kong and 174 suppliers
(2022: 126 suppliers) in Japan.
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B6. Product Responsibility

Service levels are deemed essential by the Group
because quality service is indispensable factors in
remaining the market position of the Group in the
highly competitive market. Our employees fully
understand the obligation of delivering high quality
service to customers. Striving to achieve a high
standard of professionalism, we seek continuous
improvement in service quality by welcoming
comments and feedback from our customers. To
improve our service, the Group’s complaint
handling policy is strictly in accordance with
regulatory standards to ensure that customers’
opinions are heard and responded in a timely
manner. During the reporting period, no material
products and service-related complaints were
received, and no products sold or shipped
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Quality Management System

The Group believes the opinions from customers
can drive our continuous improvement and are
essential to our pursuit for excellence. We
welcome the opinions from customers by
establishing various communication channels with
customers, such as customer service hotline and
email. We have also established a customer
service survey form on our website to understand
the needs of our customers and improve our
service quality.

The Group has established procedures of guest
complaint handling, to clarify the responsible
departments and handling procedures for guest
complaints, and handle the complaints in a timely
and effective manner. The Group assigned specific
persons-in-charge to conduct complaint handling,
complaint supervision and tracking of hotel
management issues.

We have also partnered with Online Travel
Agencies ("OTA") and used their online platforms
for sales and marketing, as well as receiving
comments from guests. The information collected
will be reviewed regularly to identify key areas for
improvement on our hotel hospitality services.
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During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any violation of relevant laws and
regulations that has a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress. During the
reporting period, the Group has no complaint
cases received (2022: 3 complaint cases) that
were related to our hotel hospitality services and
facilities, the cases were well documented and
reported to the hotel management, refunds and
compensations were provided to the clients,
where appropriate.

Personal Data Privacy and Protection

The Group protects its customers’ privacy by
confidentially processing and maintaining personal
data in compliance with Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of the Laws of Hong Kong and the Act
on the Protection of Personal Information of Japan.
For all our businesses, we handle customers’
personal data with extra care, to ensure that the
information is properly stored in a locked room
and is accessible only to authorised staff to
prevent from improper disclosure or misuse.

During the reporting period, there was no non-
compliance of laws and regulations relating to
data privacy.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to maintaining and
safeguarding intellectual property rights to comply
with the relevant regulations and to protect our
employees and customers. Our Staff Handbook
strictly prohibits the use and installation of
unauthorised or illegal software on the Company’s
computers. During the Reporting Period, we are
strictly complying with the relevant regulations,
including but are not limited to, the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528) and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486) of Hong Kong as well as the
Copyright Law of Japan, the Group is not aware of
any incident on intellectual property rights
infringements.
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B7. Anti-Corruption

100

The Group treasures integrity as its core value. As
a financial services provider, we consider money
laundering as an important risk and are obligated
to achieve high standards of openness and fight
against any corruption activities. We strictly
comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201) of the Hong Kong, the Criminal Law
of the PRC, the Unfair Competition Prevention Act
(Act No 47 of 1993) (the UCPA) of the Japan and
the Penal Code (Act No 45 of 1907) (the Penal
Code) of the Japan.

The Group expects employees at all levels to share
the value of integrity and honesty. The Group
strictly abides by the laws and regulations on
integrity and prevention of corruption, bribery,
fraud and extortion in regions where it operates,
such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in
Hong Kong. The Group explicitly states that any
form of corruption, bribery or kickback is strictly
prohibited in its employee manual. Employees
shall not solicit or accept any forms of bribing
benefits, including banquets, cash, gifts, rebates
and commissions. If any case of suspected
corruption or other criminal offence is discovered,
it will be reported to the Independent Commission
Against Corruption or other relevant authorities.

The Group also has a well-established
whistleblowing policy to encourage our staff to
report any suspicious cases related to misconduct
or malpractices with a confidential platform in the
Company. The Board provides reporting channels
and guidance for the employees to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters in relation to
business ethics principles. During the reporting
period, the anti-corruption training and average
training hours data for employees and directors
was not available as we did not provide any
training to employees during the year. The Group
will plan to provide external or internal anti-
corruption training to them in the coming year.

During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to bribery, fraud, extortion and
money laundering.
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COMMUNITY it=

B8. Community Investment B8. HE&RE

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is
constantly aware of the community needs and
strives to ensure our continued success and
growth. Besides making donations to charitable
organizations, the Group also encourages our
employees to participate in volunteer activities.

puring the Year, the Group attended and
organized some cooperate social responsibility
(CSR) related events and the details were
summarised in the following table:

Events

o September — October 2022, Niseko Town
Halloween Festival 2022 (Donation for one
free accommodation ticket)

o December 2022, Niseko Annupuri New Year
Fireworks (Donation of JPY10,000 for Chuo
bus)

e July 2022, "Tanabata” festival Fireworks
(Donation of JPY20,000 for Niseko Chamber
of Commerce)
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IBDO

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

25t™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
EEE 1 +852 2218 8288 &8
{8 H : +852 2815 2239 FEEER11158

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP
LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to
222, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment for property, plant
and equipment on hotel hospitality business
Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies in notes 3.8 and 3.11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had property, plant and
equipment with the brought forward net carrying amount of
HK$280,260,000 (before the current year impairment 10ss)
arising in hotel hospitality business.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the directors of the
Company assessed the recoverable amount of the non-
current assets based on higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. The recoverable amount of the
non-current assets in the hospitality business cash generating
units (“Hotel CGU") was determined by the directors based
on fair value less costs of disposal.

The impairment assessment involves significant judgements
and assumptions by the directors of the Company underlying
the determination of the fair value less costs of disposal of
the non-current assets in the Hotel CGU.

The directors of the Company has engaged an independent
professional valuer to determine the fair value less costs of
disposal of the non-current assets in the Hotel CGU. The
determination of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on the recent sales of similar transactions in the market.
Directors of the Company concluded that, based on the
assessment result, impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment of HK$9,801,000 has been recognised for the year.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our procedures on the impairment assessment by the
directors of the Company for property, plant and equipment
on hotel hospitality business included:

(i) obtaining and reviewing the valuation report prepared
by the independent professional valuer engaged by the
Group;

(i) discussing with the independent professional valuer
and challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, including comparable market
transactions, and to assess the independence,
objectivity, qualifications and expertise of the
independent professional valuer;

(i) assessing the valuation methodology adopted by the
independent professional valuer and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuation;
and

(iv) checking input data to supporting evidences, such as
the market comparables used and assessing the
reasonableness of these comparables.

Impairment loss allowances assessment on
loans receivable

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies in note 3.18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has gross loans receivable
amounting to HK$230,689,000, which is significant to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole. The Group has
applied HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and assessed
impairment loss allowances for loans receivable based on
expected credit loss (“ECL") model.

In determining the impairment loss allowances on loans
receivable, the management assessed historical default rates,
the values of the collaterals if any, timing of future cash flows
as well as those relevant forward-looking information such as
the expected future cash flows and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors which involve estimation and
significant judgement.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our procedures on the impairment loss allowances
assessment by the directors of the Company on loans
receivable included:

(i) Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit loss
policy and methodology for impairment assessment in
relation to the application of ECL model under HKFRS 9;

(i) Inquiring management for the status of each of the
loans receivable past due as at year end date and
corroborating explanations from management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding of credit
status of debtors, checking of historical and subsequent
settlement records and other correspondence with the
debtors,

(i) Evaluating the appropriateness and reasonableness of
methodology, parameters and assumptions used in the
assessment of ECL such as criteria for judging
significant increases in credit risk, definition of credit-
impaired financial asset, key data inputs and forward-
looking information; and

(v Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the
management’s calculation of impairment loss
allowances under ECL model.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Hung Yun, Andrew
Practising Certificate Number P04092

Hong Kong, 29 September 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
SeaZEbka®

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

2023 2022
—_E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Revenue g 6
Services income Bl WA 25,551 15,875
Interest income FBE YA 390 2,472
Trading income B SN 119 18,898
Dividend income & BUEA 5,099 3,807
31,159 41,052
Cost of sales SHE AR (13,750) (58,115)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(E8) 17,409 (17,063)
Other income and gains E A KUz 7 3,417 3,487
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HERAX (10) (17)
General and administrative expenses —#% & 1T 2 (24,876) (38,685)
Finance costs B & KA 10 (1,457) (1,773)
Share of loss of associates PaK(E): /NG ) E 17 (1,316) (252)
Reversal of impairment loss on B ZRWERTERE
trade receivables EE#EE 19 = 1,173
Net loss on fair value change of BAFEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value TREELATE
through profit or loss FE)EIEFRE 21 (43,732) (70,193)
Impairment loss on loans receivable  FEU & 3R (E &5 18 20 (8,693) (12,933)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of s Rige
impairment loss on other CRUEER),FiE
receivables and deposits EE#EE 19 (260) 6,624
Impairment loss on property, M - BRE REERE
plant and equipment &8 14 (9,.801) (8,073)
Net deficit on revaluation of KEMEEGHBAFE
investment properties 15 (3,100) (600)
Loss before income tax P8RRI B 18 8 (72,419) (138,305)
Income tax credit Frislife 11 2,588 2,467
Loss for the year FREE (69,831) (135,838)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
SeaZEbkax

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

2022
T F
HK$'000
FHET
Other comprehensive income Hig2mEBA
Item that may be subsequently B gk EF D EZE
reclassified to profit or loss tEa o BEH
Exchange differences arising MEBINERS
on translation of foreign FTEE HEfE H = %8
operations (13,594) (57,498)
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEEA
for the year (13,594) (57,498)
Total comprehensive income KAREBEAEGER
for the year attributable to ZHWRALLE
owners of the Company (83,425) (193,336)
Loss per share BRER
— Basic and diluted —EARREE 13 HK(0.44) cent  HK(0.87) cent
AL AL

-F

=

“oFER o BRHMEREEERAT

111



V o y 4
consolidated Statement of Financial Position
MBI AE

Asat30June2023 M-ZE-=F,xHA=1H

2023
—E=-=
HK$'000
FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE M ERE 14 270,459 299,001
Investment properties TEMHE 15 15,900 19,000
Interests in associates A NI 17 1,919 3,235
Total non-current assets JFERENE EBE 288,278 321,236
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 18 3,846 4,172
Trade receivables, other receivables, & 5 FEEETE « HthELUL
deposits and prepayments OB e RFEMFKE 19 84,794 14,621
Loans receivable R E K 20 1,200 10,305
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABR
through profit or loss ERMEE 21 118,186 281,051
Deposits in a financial institution NE M EZFER 22 67,356 20,599
Pledged bank balances EIEARITE 29 650 690
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHR IR 22 56,281 66,174
Total current assets mEEEMRE 332,313 397,612
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables, other payables B SRNIRE - EaER
and accruals FIA N JEETE A 23 5,679 6,232
Contract liabilities e =K 24 2,378 2,651
Borrowings R 25 46,184 54,550
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 - 348
Tax payable fERFRIB 2,399 2,545
Total current liabilities BB ERRE 56,640 66,326
Net current assets MENE EFE 275,673 331,286
Total assets less current HEERRBER
liabilities 563,951 652,522
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities IR BB E 27 37,803 42,949
Total non-current liabilities BB EERE 37,803 42,949
Net assets EEFE 526,148 609,573
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REMBRRE

Asat30June2023 M-EZE-=F,xHA=1+H

EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owners of Z2A F#EA AEIGERE
the Company

2022
—E-_—F

HK$'000
THET

Share capital A A 28 784,776 784,776
Reserves B (258,628) (175,203)
Total equity HRES 526,148 609,573

These consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 222
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 29 September 2023 and are signed on its behalf

by:

FINOE2NRBEZEHEAVHEREREN T
T=FEAAZTNBESESU ERFET
% WHTIHEERREE

cheng Chi Kin
H7ER

— =%

Wong Siu Keung Joe
kA
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEREREDx

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #ZE-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

Share Share  Contributed Exchange Special Other Accumulated
capital premium* surplus* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses*
REE*  BARHK  HERG  BEREGE  HtRE  RHEEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T FhL TATL BT TAL
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c)) (note ()
(Bt (a)) (Rt () (k@) (FirzE ()
At 1 July 2021 R-B--5+f-H 784,776 1,217,887 340,932 (57,179) (43.246) (15,990) (1,424,271) 802,909
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (135,838 (135,838)
Other comprehensive income Hit2EKA
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBRELE
translation of foreign operations ERZE - - - (57,498) - - - (57,498)
Total comprehensive income FRZERALE
for the year - - - (57,498) - - (135,83) (193,336)
At30June2022and 1July2022 R=B--EXA=T+HK
kSt - R | 784,776 1,217,887 340,932 (114,677) (43,246) (15,990) (1,560,109 609,573
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Loss for the year EREE - - = = = = (69.831)  (69.831)
Other comprehensive income Hth2ERA
Exchange differences arising on REBNEBRES
translation of foreign operations EREE = = = (13,594) - - - (13,594)
Total comprehensive income FR2ERALE
for the year - = = (13,594) - = (69,831) (83,425)
At 30 June 2023 RIBZ=FxA=1H 784,776 1,217,887 340,932 (128,271) (43,246) (15,9900 (1,629,940 526,148

ZERBREBREMBRARARAZ G B
1#258,628,000 8 7T ( =& = — 4 : 175,203,000
JT) e

* These reserve accounts comprise of the consolidated deficit reserves — *
of HK$258,628,000 (2022: HK$175,203,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GelEEDE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

Notes:

In prior years, the Group undertook capital reorganisations resulting in
the elimination of: (i) the share premium account of the Company with
a balance of HK$260,881,000 as at 30 September 2005 against
accumulated losses of HK$88,157,000 as at that date with the
remaining balance of HK$172,724,000 credited to contributed surplus
of the Company; and (ii) share capital of the Company of
HK$168,208,000 which was credited to contributed surplus of the
Company.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
on the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.

Special reserve arose from the business combination carried out by
the Company in 2004, which was accounted for as a reverse
acquisition. Details of the transaction were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 14 June 2004.

Other reserve represents the effects of transactions with non-
controlling interests.

=

e

ZFFR o BRHEFEEERAF

REBERBEFEGETEZRNRASTA - EH()
ARARR_ZEZTRFAA=TAZBRMRERS
#:260,881,00078 7T ¥ 8 %2 B 2 2 5F B 1B
88,157,000 T + #4%8 172,724,000 T AJ5F A&
NEBARE R EHHFTARNRBBARG L
AR TR 168,208,000 7T

SME KB BIEREBINEBMERRMELME
PE S ZE -
BHREHDIHERARAE_ZTNFETERS
BrfEL - ZIREB A HCIME TS -
RGHBENARF AR/ -_TZWFRA+H
B2 K

HitfmiEIEREE R 5T E -
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

2022
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHET
Cash flows from operating REXEBCHEERE
activities
Loss before income tax FriSHiaTEa (72,419) (138,305)
Adjustments for: BTHIEBEH AR -
Depreciation of property, plant Y - B LRETE
and equipment 14 3,989 5,156
Deficit on revaluation of B Y EEHEA
investment properties 15 3,100 600
Dividend from financial assets BAFEFAEBRZ
at fair value through profit or loss EREE KR 6 (5,099) (3,807)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEREEZ
plant and equipment B - 263
Provision for allowance of FERE
inventories - 9,396
Reversal of impairment loss on B 5 W BRTE R EE 8
trade receivables (o) 8 - (1,173)
Impairment loss/(reversal of H A W GRIE AR 2 R E
impairment loss) on other &8,/ CREsiERmE)
receivables and deposits 8 260 (6,624)
Impairment loss on property, Y - BER&ERE
plant and equipment &8 14 9,801 8,073
Impairment loss on loans receivable e & ZRHE S B 20 8,693 12,933
Net loss on fair value of financial BAFEFAEBRZ
assets at fair value through ERMEENFEBE
profit or l0ss 8 43,732 70,193
Gain on lease modification HEERE 7 = (101)
Interest income from banks and RITR S REERN S MA
a financial institution 7 (2,529) (202)
Finance costs BB AR 10 1,457 1,773
Share of loss of associates DEEE N Bl E 8 17 1,316 252
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

2023
o=

— ==

HK$'000
FTERT

Operating loss before working LEECEBEA L LEHE

2022
—E-_—F
HK$'000
FABTT

capital changes (7,699) (41,568)
Decrease in inventories FERD 8 37,039
Decrease in trade receivables, B SRR « HinE
other receivables, deposits and A -~ e RTENFIE
prepayments Vi 11,522 75,755
Decrease in loans receivable JEUE FOR, 412 42,653
Decrease in trade payables, B HREMRTE - M8
other advances and accruals N EETE R (441) (852)
cash generated from operations K& XKFAERE 3,802 113,027
Tax paid BRHIE (228) (200)
Net cash generated from REEKMBSHREFH
operating activities 3,574 112,827
Investing activities REZH
Purchase of financial assets at fair Ytz A F{ET AIBR 2
value through profit or loss ERMEE = (320,899)
Proceeds from financial assets at BAFEFAEBRZ
fair value through profit or loss ERIEEZTSHIE 39,633 29,460
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - HEREEZ
plant and equipment FriSskI8 - 1,000
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  WBELEE
equipment 14 (1,427) (736)
compensation from profit BUCHEFIRE 2 HE
guarantee received - 7,500
Interest income received from BULERTT N & Bt AE
banks and a financial institution B A 2,529 202
Dividend received 2 U S 4,789 2,657
Decrease in pledged bank balances & KRR 1T 458408 40 436
Net cash generated from/ REZBHME (R RS
(used in) investing activities FE 45,564 (280,380)
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

2023 2022
—E_= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Financing activities REEE
Proceeds from borrowings BEmE i”IE 35 580 -
Repayment of borrowings BEEE 35 (6,833) (67,508)
Repayments of principal portion of %“iﬁfﬁﬁﬁ’]zli/f% o2
the lease liabilities 35 (348) (522)
Repayment of interest portion of BEHESENT B
lease liabilities 35 (12) (31
Interest paid ERFIE 35 (1,445) (1,742)
Net cash used in financing RMEETBMARSFE
activities (8,058) (69,803)
Net increase/(decrease) incash RERRELZEER
and cash equivalents #hn, GRd) BEE 41,080 (237,356)
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXRSH > &
changes (4,216) (10,829)
cash and cash equivalents at EYRENESLEEER
beginning of the year 86,773 334,958
cash and cash equivalents at FRESRESEEER
end of the year 123,637 86,773
Analysis of the balances of cash RE&RREZEER &
and cash equivalents DT
Deposits in a financial institution REREEZTER 22 67,356 20,599
Bank balances and cash RITEHRKEIRS 22 56,281 66,174
123,637 86,773
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GENERAL INFORMATION

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the Company's registered
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place of business was
Room 905, 9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the business of (i) hotel hospitality
business; (i) provision of money lending services; (iii)
trading and distribution of liquor and wine; and (iv)
investments in listed securities and funds.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSS

In the current year, the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) has applied for the first time the following
new standards, amendments and interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, which are relevant to and
effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1
July 2022:

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
hefore Intended Use

Amendments to HKFRS 1, Annual Improvements to
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and HKFRSs 2018-2020
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework

The application of these new or amended HKFRSs
has no material impact on the Group's results and
financial position for the current or prior period.
The Group has not early applied any new or
amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

(b) B 8 1B K £ M 2 B
HEETERN R
1l
RSB IR R R T 51 Al pe
AEBRGAEVBBRRAEBACHE
R MR ERZ#E]/EIEFTE

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by the BB TSR HER -
Group:
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERUBRLEAZ0RR ABEREMEL A
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint BREHENE %, AELEALES
Venture? B3] ANEES
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BRGIENE 1S 2BT  EENEARYY
Non-currentz g
AmendmentstoHKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants? TRGTENE 1R 2B NEZERETDAR
Amendmentsto HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' BRGIEAESR 2B gHftHER
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BRGTENZ 0SB EE-RSEAVEE
Liabilities arising from a Single REEEHZER
Transaction’ WE
Amendmentsto HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ BRGHENF1\RRES  CHEKBE'
and HKFRS Practice HBREENEHRE
Statement 2 EVs v

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause'

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

3 Effective date to be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

2. BMBEREMBREEAN(ES
MW EER )2

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,
Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. When
the transaction with an associate or joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors' interests in that associate
or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses
resulting from the remeasurement of retained
interest in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify the requirements on
determining if a liability is current or non-current,
in particular the determination over whether an
entity has the right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments:

o specify that an entity’s right to defer
settlement must exist at the end of the
reporting period;

o clarify that classification is unaffected by
management’s intentions or expectations
about whether the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement;

o clarify how lending conditions affect
classification; and

o clarify the classification of liabilities that will

or may be settled by issuing an entity’s own
equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been

122

issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

The 2022 Amendments modify the requirements
introduced by the amendments to IAS 1 issued in
2020, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (“the 2020 Amendment”) on how an entity
classifies debt and other financial liabilities with
covenants as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that only covenants with
which the entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only
after the reporting period do not affect whether
that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

The amendments also specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the
risk that the liabilities could become repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period, if
the entity classify liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s
right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period.

The amendments also defer the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The
amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with
early application permitted. If an entity applies the
2020 amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should
also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

2. BMBEREMBREEAN(ES
MBEmEEN ] @)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify how
companies should distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates. That distinction is important because
changes in accounting estimates are applied
prospectively only to future transactions and other
future events, but changes in accounting policies
are generally also applied retrospectively to past
transactions and other past events.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

In specified circumstances, companies are exempt
from recognising deferred tax when they
recognise assets or liabilities for the first time.
Previously, there had been some uncertainty
about whether the exemption applied to
transactions such as leases and decommissioning
obligations — transactions for which companies
recognise both an asset and a liability.

The amendments clarify that the exemption does
not apply and that companies are required to
recognise deferred tax on such transactions. The
aim of the amendments is to reduce diversity in
the reporting of deferred tax on leases and
decommissioning obligations.
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e MEGERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

(b) Newr/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
Policies were issued following feedback that more
guidance was needed to help companies to
decide what accounting policy information should
be disclosed. The amendments to HKAS 1 require
companies to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. The amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.

HK Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

HK Interpretation 5 (2020) was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1
issued in August 2020. The revision to HK
Interpretation 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the
interpretation to align with the Amendments to
HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not
change the existing requirements.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the potential impact of these new
pronouncements upon application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial instruments and investment
properties, which are measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
except when otherwise indicated.

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

-F

REBERFEEMEE

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

“oFER o BRHMEREEERAT

=

BREH

REMBHRRNVIZRAEERR
B BHEER - BEGEL
(I&EGHEND RBBOUAT
S EBMBREEN D AR
&8RRG 2 % 5 E AR
Boltsh IREMBHRRREER
BHMARZMBERARESZ LT
MANT EWARAD R E 8RR
BEE-

HEEE
G2 B R R IREE L AR
Y EETRRIARREN
EB0) T AE 2 B A HOR
R HERBIANEAT
EHE -

WEER2FIE®
MBRRUNRNRA 2 EKE
TTETDZEY BK=EHEH
S RBEEBEDZBEREAOT
2 ([F8Tl) -

EBREORESEE

REMBHRREEAN T REHK
BRBZHBHREK - KEARF
A2 R 5 KR F R 23R8
Ao IRREEEMIEHRREE
BYH - BRIERDERAMERE
ELBERE IRERERE
18 DRIREHEEBI T IALH -

125




y 4

~

y 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.4 Business combination and basis of

126

consolidation (continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the
dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal,
as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method. The
cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of
assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group's previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date
fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs
are deducted from equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

REBERFEEMBE @)

3.4 Business combination and basis of 3.4 ¥BEHREGEERE(E)

consolidation (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration
are recognised against goodwill only to the extent
that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (@ maximum of 12
months from the acquisition date) about the fair
value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified
as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or
loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's interest and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests is adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (i) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

y 4

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

128

3.4 Business combination and basis of

3.5

consolidation (Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes
in equity. Total comprehensive income is
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interest having a
deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The Company
controls an investee if all three of the following
elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that
there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are included in the
Company'’s statement of financial position at cost
less any impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.
Accounting policies on impairment of interests in
subsidiaries are described in note 3.11 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

REBERFEEMBE @)

3.6 Associates 3.6 Bt N T

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at
cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are
adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s
interest in the associate are not recognised unless
there is an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between
the Group and its associates are recognised only
to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in
the associate. The investor’'s share in the
associate’s profits and losses resulting from these
transactions is eliminated against the carrying
value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred they are recognised immediately in
profit or l0ss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair
value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired
is capitalised and included in the carrying amount
of the associate. Where there is objective evidence
that the investment in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other
non-financial assets. Accounting policies on
impairment of interests in associates are
described in note 3.11 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.7 Revenue recognition

)

Revenue from contract with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or
services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the
goods or service is transferred over time if
the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.7 Revenue recognition (Continued)

)

Revenue from contract with customers
(Continued)

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the
goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. Where the
contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For contracts
where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

y 4

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

132

3.7 Revenue recognition (Continued)

)

Revenue from contract with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right
to consideration in exchange for services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer services to a customer
for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

(@) Sales of goods
Revenue from sales of goods is
recognised at a point in time as when
the control of the goods has been
transferred to the customers and there
is no unfulfilling performance obligation
after the acceptance of the goods.

(b)  Services income

Hotel revenue from room rental is
recognised overtime as the customers
simultaneously receives and consume
the benefits of the Group’s services.
Hotel revenue form food and beverage
sales and other ancillary services are
recognised at a point in time as when
the relevant services provided to the
customers and there is no unfulfilling
performance obligation after the
services rendering.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRERME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND REBEERTETHRE &)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.7 Revenue recognition (Continued) 3.7 WA (&)

(ii) Revenue from other sources
(@ Interestincome

Interest income from a financial asset is
accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset’s net carrying amount.

(b)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is
established.

(c) Rental income
Rental income under operating leases
is recognised on straight-line method
over the term of the relevant lease.

3.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of property, plant and
equipment includes its purchase price and the
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Freehold land is stated at cost and not depreciated.

Buildings are depreciated over the shorter of the
term of the lease or fifty years using the straight-
line method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.8 Property, plant and equipment

134

(Continued)

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the remaining term of the lease or at 5%
per annum using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
other property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of
lease terms or at 30%
Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements Depreciated over the

shorter of the
remaining terms of
lease or at 5%
16.60%—33.33%

Right-of-use assets

Equipment, furniture and
fixtures

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

20.00%-33.33%
12.50%-33.33%

The assets’ estimated useful lives, estimated
residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or l0ss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND EREBEERFESHBE &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.9 Investment properties 3.9 REWHE
Investment properties are land and/or buildings KEYEABIEHRERZ ABE
which are owned or held under a leasehold HEWAR HENEEMEE
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital SIFEEH T SEE o

appreciation.

When the Company holds a property interest to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an
investment property.

On initial recognition, investment property is
measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is stated at fair
value. Fair value is determined by external
professional valuers, with sufficient experience
with respect to both the location and the nature of
the investment property.

The carrying amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position reflect
the prevailing market conditions at the end of
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

BARBIFAEYFEES ARRE
SWARIREREER - Z
BN B RARSKRENE -

BREMENTERRIREKA (R
RAEMBEZAEAS)E - RV
FHERE  REVFERLRRFED
B A FEIHEREEYEL
HRMEEABEERR IR
FEEMET -

i*/\ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ)ﬁiﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁ&
RS BIK 2 B AT

RV EESHHEREMERE
Az BEREELBEG; AR
&I e

ZFEFR o ERFEREEEERAT 135



~
s N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND REEERFESHER &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.10 Goodwiill 3.10 &

136

Goodwill represents the excess of the
consideration transferred of a business
combination, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest over the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
recognised identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities measure as at acquisition
date. The consideration transferred of the
business combination is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for
impairment (note 3.11).

Any excess of the Group's interest in the net fair
value of the recognised identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
a business combination is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the
attributable amount of goodwill recognised is
included in the determination of the amount of
gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

REBERFEEMBE @)

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 3. ERMEERME

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,
property, plant and equipment, interests in
subsidiaries and associates are subject to
impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that
they are impaired. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that
the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is
allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest
level within the Group at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purpose.

-F

RUEHB AR mMELEZHE -
ME - BERREARRB L
Al KBt E R 2 D BT
BRI -

BEAZDBFETRERNR—
R A wAE R PFRERHRR
B IEEMEEEBENRER
RBREW A E R EERETTR
BRI -

MERERIREE 2 REEB L
HA WOl & 78 2 2= R AN HE AR A
X e AR El SRR A RRTOR 2
DB R S BN B B E M
EZBEE - AAEREES
fFFARRBEIRERABATELIR
KR EHIRE  ARBRIRET
SHEEREEEREHEER
B R 2 FHE -

A HRENS  MEEEEZ
RERARBEWIEBIL R EAM
BE  fJRoSBARABILE
EHRERAZERNEEAR (A
BeELXBEMET - Al 5
BEDENETRENR  5F
BomReEEEMETAH -
BRI EmE SR EZETEEA
SREREBEEB A SRR
MEZIESELEN  IAEE
WA EEEMEEHE Y
KK o

T=FFR o ERHEFREEARAT 137

=



y 4

~

y 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

(Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are
credited initially to the carrying amount of
goodwill. Any remaining impairment 10Ss is
charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods. In respect of other non-
financial assets, an impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if
no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates.

3.12 Inventories

138

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, including an appropriate
portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses,
is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less any applicable selling expense and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND REBEERTETHRE &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.13 Borrowing costs 313 EERAE

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Income earned on temporary investments of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
those assets is deducted from borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

3.14 Government subsidy

Government subsidy is not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them and
that the subsidy will be received.

3.15 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise of current tax
and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.15 Income taxes (Continued)

140

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the corresponding amounts used
for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and
recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount of
the asset or liability is realised or settled and that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income in which case the
taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND REBEERTETHRE &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.16 Leasing 316 HE

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases
or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but
accounting policy choices exist for an entity to
choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease
term less than 12 months. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed
on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liabilities); (i) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs
to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the Group measures the right-to-use at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

REBERFEEMBE @)

3.16 Leasing (Continued) 3.16 HE (&)

142

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the date of commencement of the lease. The
lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable: (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the
Group measures the lease liabilities by: (i)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liabilities; (ii) reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made; and
(i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a
change in future lease payments arising from
change in an index or rate, a change in the lease
term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRERME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND REBEERTETHRE &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.16 Leasing (Continued) 3.16 HE (&)
Accounting as a lessor EAHBAZETTRE
The Group has leased out its investment property REE ﬁ?ﬂﬁ&é{%%% %M
to a tenant. Rental income from operating leases B oo g fﬁiaZ%ﬁiuﬁz)\JﬂﬂE
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line ﬁ%?ﬁ‘ﬁiﬁﬁugiiiﬁ/\ﬁ SR
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial R L THEEHEREE
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging E@%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ FAHERE

an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance

MREE  YREGEERESR
NFERBFIST

MAEEREEA  EREEHR
MRETSHEAREBREHK

lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as BHE  MEEKIEEEE
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the BREMES 2 B X E o B e & B #F
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of EEL A A ngﬁg/\mﬁ@
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the BHE - W TBNRZIBN - I
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease. B BEAaKEHE -
3.17 Foreign currencies 3.17 I

Transactions entered into by group entities in EEEENH HEKEMAET
currencies other than the currency of the primary ERERBEE([TeeE® 1) I

economic environment in which it/they operate(s)
(the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.17 Foreign currencies (Continued)

144

Exchange differences arising from the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised as profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, in which case, the exchange differences
are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the
rates approximating to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at
the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to minority interests as
appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial
statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net
investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.17 Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a
foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve.

3.18 Financial instruments
(a) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

146

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(@

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit
or loss, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at fair
value through profit or loss on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &HZ_—-Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on trade
receivables, contract assets, financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt
investments measured at FVOCI. The ECL are
measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12 months ECL: these are the ECLSs that
result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date: and (2)
lifetime ECL: these are ECL that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECL is
the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECL is probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure 10ss
allowances for trade receivables using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The
Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

148

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For other debt financial assets at amortised
cost, the ECL are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECL.

For loans receivable, ECL is determined by
reference to the estimation of the exposure
at default (“EAD"), probability of default
("PD") as well as a loss given default (“LGD").
The 12-months and lifetime PDs represent
the probability of default occurring over the
next 12 months and the remaining maturity
of the instrument respectively. The EAD
represents the expected balance at default,
taking into account the repayment of
principal and interest from the reporting date
to the default event together with any
expected drawdowns of committed facilities.
The LGD represents expected losses on the
EAD given the event of default, taking into
account, among other attributes, the
mitigating effect of collateral value at the
time it is expected to be realised and the
time value of money.

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (2) the financial asset is more than
90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less 10ss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non
credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
including trade payables, borrowings, lease
liabilities, other payables and accruals issued
by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the amortisation process.
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y 4

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

150

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Derecoghition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when
the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

3.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, which will probably result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be
reasonably estimated.
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e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

REBERFEEMBE @)

3.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities 3.9 BEREAREE (2

(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, the existence of which will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

3.20 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and deposits held at call with banks, and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.21 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are
expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

-F

i EEEME N KRAIBET BN
b M EEESB TR ERG
A BIBEEEERERE RN
KRB BRIFCBENZRH 27
BEMERRDR o BERT (AT HEER
—HERZEARAREMH ZHREST
HEE) MRE ARARE - BRIEK
PN R 2 P REMERR DA o

320 RERBEEEEA

3.21

RekReETEBEBBRETEA
& MIRTTIERER - A RRE 2
Hi B R =1 A 3 A T I BE RS AT 88
BACHBRRESAEEESA
BRARKz EtEREERBERE

BEEF

HHESER
RHIEERANEET AR ERM
MRS 2 FEREMRE T =
18 A LART#% 2 B 2 B B4 F
(BEBARFIBRSN) - EHIE BB A
R 8RR ARG 2 F 8 N

7
e ©

T=FFWR o ERFEREEERAT 157

=



y 4

~

y 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

152

Defined contribution pension obligations
The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China
excluding Hong Kong (the “PRC") are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The Scheme is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the
retired employees and the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or
other post-retirement benefits beyond the
employer contributions. Contributions under the
Scheme are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the PRC.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Sweden and Japan are required to
participate in contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans. Contributions are recognised as
expenses in profit or loss when the services are
rendered by the employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.22 Related parties
A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

@)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Ccompany's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of
the Group or an entity related to the

Group.

(vij The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent

of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

()  that person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND RREZERTEEHEER &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.23 Share capital 3.23 R4

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share
capital is determined using the nominal value of
shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing
of shares are deducted from share premium (net
of any related income tax benefit) to the extent
they are incremental costs directly attributable to
the equity transaction.

3.24 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported to
the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major businesses.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments: (i) hotel hospitality business; (ii)
provision of money lending services; (i) trading
and distribution of liquor and wine; and (iv)
investments in listed securities and funds.

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service
lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.
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3.

156

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3. REBEERFESHBE @)

3.24 Segment reporting (Continued) 3.24 DERE (&)

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSS, except that:

— fair value change on investment properties
— share of result of associates

— impairment loss on interest in associates

— finance costs

— corporate income and expenses which are
not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment

are not included in arriving at the operating results
of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except interests
in associates and investment properties. In
addition, corporate assets, time deposits, bank
balances and cash and deposits in a financial
institution which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment are
not allocated to a segment, which primarily applies
to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities include all liabilities but tax
payable and deferred tax liabilities. In addition,
corporate liabilities which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment and are not allocated to a
segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND RREZERTEEHEER &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.25 Share-based payment transactions 3.25 RO IRXS

Share options granted to employees of the
Group and others providing similar services
The fair value of share options has been
recognised in the profit or loss as share-based
payments.

The fair value of services received is determined
by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed in full when
the equity instruments granted vest immediately
unless the compensation qualifies for recognition
as an asset with a corresponding increase in share
option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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158

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes judgements, estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of competitors’
actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management reassess the estimations at the end of
each reporting period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a
straight-line basis where appropriate over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual values, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives, depreciation method and the
estimated residual values, if any, of the assets at least
at the end of each reporting period in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expense to be
recorded during any reporting period. The depreciation
method, useful lives and residual values are based on
the Group’s historical experience with similar assets
and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expense for future periods is
adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Japan. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions in accordance with
prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in
determining the Group'’s provision for income taxes as
there are many transactions and calculations of which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade
receivables, loans receivable and other
receivables

The Group’'s management determines the provision for
impairment of receivables on a forward-looking basis. In
making the judgement, management considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information such as actual or expected significant
changes in the operating results of customers, actual or
expected significant adverse changes in business and
customers’ financial position. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed
by the Group’s management.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying amount of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Leases — estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have
to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

Fair value measurement

Certain of the Group’s assets and liabilities included in
the consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial
assets and liabilities utilises market observable inputs
and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into different
levels based on how observable the inputs used in the
valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy”):

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from
market data).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.

The Group measures the following item at fair value:
— Investment properties (note 15)

— Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(note 21)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair
value measurement of the items above, please refer to
the respective notes.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
loans receivable, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances, time deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade payables, other
payables and accruals and borrowings.

The main risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

4.

ERErHART R FVER ()

NP ETE#E)

IR E DR L ERTI AR B A
BIERUZEA AT EFEFEENL
RIEEFRTE - NEEBR 2 HE IR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

5. WERBRER»#)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) HMEEREEREERBEE)

and policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Japan with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HKS$, Renminbi (“RMB")
and Japanese Yen ("JPY”), which are the functional
currencies of respective group companies. The
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk primarily
arise from certain financial instruments which are
denominated in United States Dollar (“USD"),
which are currencies other than the functional
currency. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rate between the HK$ and the USD would
be materially unaffected by any changes in
movement in value of the USD against HKS$. The
following table summarises the Group’s major
financial assets denominated in JPY other than the
functional currencies of the respective group
companies:

Denominated in JPY LAHEFHE

Bank balances and cash IRTTEBR NI

ShES LB

AEEEENES  FEMAX
REXRK KBAIRHUEEH
NRElZNEEE® BT AR
TARBDERE(REDIIE
KigEE - REBETEHETIUE
T(ETDINEZERTAEY
SRR METAU ISR
Beomtms o REETHE
ETEMBEERIEEZXTE
BTEXRNEMEGMZHEKX
FE o TR KB B B
B(EBEEERANINEEER
SR ETETREE

2022
=

=

HK$'000
TR

4,499 -

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at
the reporting date to a reasonably possible change
in JPY exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss for the year.

(Decrease)/increase in 10ss

for the year:
5% strengthening in HK$ BITHES%
5% weakening in HK$ BITEZE 5%

FARBEORD), 1 :

TEIFIEHA LB BT R
BRT  R#EEABAEEFR

2022
-

HK$'000
TR

225 -

(225) -

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy.

—
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives

164

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
policies in place for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debtor at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits, loans receivable, deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances, time deposits
and bank balance and cash.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the assets as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

5. BEEBRER»)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) BIREMESEEERBEE)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

It considers available reasonable and supportive
forward looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

o external credit rating (as far as available)

o actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the counterparty

o significant expected changes in the
performance and behaviour of the
counterparty, including changes in the
payment status of counterparties in the
group and changes in the operating results
of the counterparty

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation
of ECL are unbiased and probability-weighted, and
incorporate all available information that is
relevant to the assessment including information
about past events, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
events and economic conditions at the reporting
date. In addition, the estimation of ECL should take
into account the time value of money.

The credit risk of deposits in a financial institution,
pledged bank balances, time deposits and bank
balances is limited because the majority of the
counterparties are institutions with good
reputation. No impairment had been provided
under 12-month expected credit l0ss assessment.

— =%

TECCFFR o BRHERKEARAF

FERRE(E)
AEEZEAESZAERAR
BRI EER  BFREE T
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives

166

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group presumes that the credit risk of loans
receivable has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise. The Group considers
that default has occurred when the instrument is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more backward default
criterion is more appropriate.

The credit risk of loans receivable is determined
based on the combination of the internal and
external credit rating, the average debt recovery,
peer review information and comparison with
public available data. The Group calculates ECL
using three main components: a probability of
default (“PD"), a loss given default (“LGD") and the
exposure at default (“EAD"). The 12-month ECL is
calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD
and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the
lifetime PD instead. The 12-month and lifetime PDs
represent the probability of default occurring over
the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of
the instrument respectively. The EAD represents
the expected balance at default, taking into
account the repayment of principal and interest
from the balance sheet date to the default event
together with any expected drawdowns of
committed facilities. The LGD represents expected
losses on the EAD given the event of default,
taking into account, among other attributes, the
mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is
expected to be realised and the time value of
money. The total impairment allowance on the
loans receivable as at 30 June 2023 amounted to
HK$229,489,000 (2022: HK$204,033,000) has been
provided under expected credit loss assessment,
of which additional expected credit losses of
HK$8,693,000 (2022: HK$12,933,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2023.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross amount and
impairment allowances of loans receivable as at
30 June 2023 and 2022 is as follow:

Stage 1
EI1RER

HK$'000
FTERT

R .

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

MBERREE @)

BHRREEBEREEE)

EERK(EZ)
BUWESRGABENRERER_-Z
TEFER-E-_FRNA=1H
ZEEONMT

Stage 2
E2MEER
HK$'000

THET

Stage 3 Total
EIRE nE
HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TaET

At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-=%FXA=1+H

Loans receivable FEUE X - - 230,689 230,689
Impairment allowances  JFi{E R - - (229,489) (229,489)
Net amounts HEE - - 1,200 1,200

Stage 1
£ 1B

HK$'000
TAT

Stage 2
F2RER
HK$'000

FAET

Stage 3 Total
E 3R 1
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

At 30 June 2022 R-ZB-ZZFxXA=1H

Loans receivable FEME X - 784 213,554 214,338
Impairment allowances  JR{ER - (83)  (203,950)  (204,033)
Net amounts HEE - 701 9,604 10,305

For the trade receivables, the Group carries out
regular review on these balances and follow-up
action on any overdue amounts to minimise
exposures to credit risk. The Group measures the
lifetime expected credit loss based on the
outstanding balances and historical credit loss
experience adjusted to reflect the Group’s view of
current and forecast economic conditions that
may affect the ability of the debtors to settle
receivables. The total impairment allowance
amounted to HK$116,000 (2022: HK$126,000) had
been provided under expected credit 10ss
assessment by using simplified approach
according to the ageing by due date disclose in
note 19, no further expected credit loss (2022:
reversal of expected credit loss of HK$1,173,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2023.

MEFEREENS  A£BTE
HRFZESEGRETNaie
BEIRIRETE  UREREE
ERK - AEERBEREZLH
MBEEEBERLRtE 2 E
HiEEEE WIEHAENRR
AEBY AT EEKEABNE
W R TE RE 7 2 IR 1T B 8 R 45 AR
MEEE o IRIBEMIGT19FT I B I%
RHAEDBRRERESLLTEZ
FEHEEEET G CEtiRRE
B 116,000 T (2 ==
11260008 70)  WEAEHZE
—E=FRNA=tTBLFEZ
AN ERERERE—F
FEHEEEBR (- : 784
ZEEEREL : 1,173,000/87T)
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2023 and 2022

was determined for trade receivables as follows:

5. MERBRER»#)

(a) MBEMEEEERBEKE)

Expected
credit loss
rate —
weighted
average
(%)

BNER
BRlE
— i
4
(%)

EER (&)
ROBE_=FR T~ —FXA
—t+AMESERRBAETZE
BEEIT

Gross
carrying
amount

(after

excluding
credit-
impaired
balance)

ARREE
(BR
FERE
)
HK$'000
TR

Loss Net
allowance amount

BERME
HK$'000
5

At 30 June 2023 RZBE-=FXH=1H

Not yet pass due 18] A 48 29 N/A REF 688 - 688
Overdue within 90 days BE0 AR N/A RE B - - -
Overdue 91 to 180 days BEI9TAZE180H N/A REH 12 - 12
Total B 700 - 700

Expected
credit 10ss
rate —
weighted
average
(%)
RHEE
BBLLx
— JE
a5

(%)

Gross
carrying
amount
(after
excluding
credit-
impaired Loss Net
balance)  allowance amount

BEE(E

(ks
EERE
B k)
HK$'000

BERE
HK$'000
TAL

At 30 June 2022 R-E--§XA=tH

Not yet pass due 1 A 460 N/A i F 7,404 - 7,404
Overdue within 90 days #HA0 B N/A i 79 - 79
Overdue 91 to 180 days BHE9THZ=180H N/A 1NEFA 14 - 14
Total FEES 7,497 - 7,497
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the other debts instruments, given the short
term nature of these assets, the ECL had been
provided under 12-month expected credit loss
assessment. The total impairment allowance
amounted to HK$393,000 (2022: HK$153,000) has
been provided under expected credit 10ss
assessment.

The Group has concentration risk on trade
receivables and loans receivable.

At the end of reporting period, the Group has
concentration of credit risk as HK$129,000 (2022:
HK$6,559,000) and HK$378,000 (2022:
HK$7,034,000) of total trade receivables after
considering the impairment loss due from the
Group'’s largest trade debtor and the five largest
trade debtors respectively.

The Group also has concentration of credit risk as
HK$1,200,000 (2022: HK$9,604,000) and
HK$1,200,000 (2022: HK$10,305,000) of total loans
receivable after considering the impairment loss
due from the Group’s largest borrower and the
five largest borrowers respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
deposits in a financial institution, time deposit,
bank balances and borrowings. The Group’s
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s deposits in a
financial institution, bank balance and borrowing
with a floating interest rate. Management closely
monitors cash flow interest rate risk and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.
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5. BEEBRER»)

(@) MBEEMER
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BEMEEBR AR -

AEBzEFRERERERE
RESEFRR -

RB|EBRR AEEEEFPEE
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives

170

and policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/(decrease) of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
(decrease)/increase the Group's loss for the year
and the accumulated losses by approximately
HK$942,000 (2022: HK$482,000) respectively.

The sensitivity analysis above was determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the reporting date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100
basis points increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. The analysis
was performed on the same basis for 2022.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. BEEBRER»)

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) BIEMEEEERBEEE)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRAM(E)
The following table details the remaining TREIAEBEFTECREE
contractual maturities at the end of reporting RBEMRZHBTEOINHAFF
period of the Group’s non-derivative financial 15 DIRBEEIHARBIRE SR
liabilities, which are based on contractual E(BREERAEITHMES (A
undiscounted cash flows (including interest FERR)RFERHRZRITH
payments computed using contractual rates, or if KRB HBEBESZ L) RARERT
floating, based on rates current at the end of BEANZZZFEBHEE -

reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow  on demand
ERIAREER —FERH
IREE HERELE BEEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET THET
2023 —EC-=E
Borrowings BE 46,184 46,592 46,592
Trade payables, other B2 EMNIRIE - Kt
payables and accruals FER I R ERT B A 5,679 5,679 5,679
51,863 52,271 52,271
2022 —EC-CF
Borrowings BE 54,550 54,782 54,782
Trade payables, other BHREMRE - Hi
payables and accruals EfRIEREER 6,232 6,232 6,232
Lease liabilities HEARE 348 348 348
61,130 61,362 61,362

—To=aE . BEVEREEERAR 171



~
s N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEGERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. WERRBREE 2
(Continued)
(b) Fair values (b) A¥E

The fair values of the Group's financial assets is
determined as follows:

o The fair value of investments in unlisted
private funds as at 30 June 2022 is
determined by the Directors of the Company
with reference to the valuation statements
provided by the fund administrator, in which
the fair value disclosed in the valuation
statements are indirectly determined by the
sum of underlying investments with quoted
price

o The fair value of listed securities is
determined by reference to their quoted
market prices at the reporting date

HKFRS 7 requires disclosure for financial
instruments that are measured at fair value by
level of the following fair value measurement
hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level2 — Inputs other than quoted price
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that

are not based on observable market
data.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Fair values (Continued)

At 30 June 2023 RZE-=FXH=1H
Assets BE
Investments in listed FTELFRE

securities

5. WERBRER»#)

(b) P E@E

Total
#E
HK$'000
FERT

Level 3
B3R
HK$'000
FTEx

Level 2
E2MR
HK$'000
TEx

Level 1
B

HK$'000
7

118,186 = - 118,186

Total
Mg
HK$'000
FET

Level 3
F3%
HK$'000
FTAT

Level 2
F2H
HK$'000
FTAET

Level 1
R

HK$'000
TR

At 30 June 2022 R-EBE-_-—FXA=+H
Assets BE
Investments in listed securities  FiE&IEE 205,260 - - 205,260
Investments in unlisted FETRAESEE
private funds - 75,791 - 75,791
205,260 75,791 - 281,051

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair value are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting
periods. There were no significant transfers of
financial assets and liabilities between Level 1,
Level 2 and Level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications.

— =%

SFERFEMAITAREERN
EUREHREHARMER - H14
F2REEIRANFEERD TR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. @RS EHRE
Wk HHEFAZIBEE RITNAR
HHEAMIBMARMIN KT, LE
MmN ERRIE  BEEE L
WA~ BIRE R 2 M BIRA R EiaE
FREZBBHA -

Revenue represents the amounts received and
receivable for goods sold to outside customers, net of
returns and discounts and sales related taxes, income
from hotel operations, interest income from loans
receivable and dividend income from investments in
listed securities during the year.

174

2022
= S
HK$'000
FBT
Revenue from contracts with BEEEHWEH
customers
Service income: FRASUA -
Hotel hospitality business BE R FET 25,551 15,875
Trading income: ZEHWA -
Liquor and wine JBFEE G 119 18,898
25,670 34,773
Revenue from other sources H A 2Rz W=
Interest income: FIBHA -
Money lending services B ER 390 2,472
Dividend income: fEBULA -
Investments in listed securities ETEASRE 5,099 3,807
5,489 6,279
Total HEt 31,159 41,052
Disaggregation of revenue from BEFEHWREDIF:
contracts with customers:
At a point in time MRE R 2,928 21,585
Overtime BE — ER 5 22,742 13,188
Total 4Bt 25,670 34,773
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R oa%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting PERE
(@) Reportable segments (@) THRESE

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker that are used to make
strategic decisions. The chief operating decision-
maker has been identified as the Company’s
executive directors.

The Group currently has four reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services
and requires different business strategies as
follows:

(i) hotel hospitality business;
(i) provision of money lending services;

(i)~ trading and distribution of liquor and wine;
and

(iv) investments in listed securities and funds.

There were no inter-segment transactions
between different operating segments for the year
(2022: Nil). Central revenue and expenses are not
allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segments’
results that is used by the chief operating
decision-maker for assessment of segment
performance.

—7

AEBRE T ELERRERMN
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RAJHITES °

AEBREFUENREDE -
R E RBE AR E @ MR
% B EBREAR - HAK
BEREREZENE ZEDH
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()  TBIERFERD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R oa%EERE &)

(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued) DREBEE)

(b) Segment revenue and results (b) 7EWEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue R mEDBEI D ARERZ WK
and results by reportable segments. REESHMT :
For the year ended 30 June 2023 BE-Z-_=ZfXA=1+HLHF

E

Investments

Hotel Money in listed

hospitality lending Liquor  securities
business services  andwine  and funds Total

EERE LHEER
X% RERE  EREm 2 E2RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Segment revenue pap e 25,551 390 119 5,099 31,159
Segment loss HEEE (10,278) (8,572) (624) (42,542) (62,016)

Unallocated corporate income AABREMA R

and gains 3417
Unallocated corporate expenses AP BLARIB ()

(Note) (7.947)
Finance costs REHKK (1,457)
Share of loss of associates AEBENFER (1,316)
Net deficit on revaluation of RENFERBAFE

investment properties (3,100)
Loss before income tax FERAER (72,419)
Note: P 5E -

Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included staff salaries BHEZT-=FA=1tHLFE %5
and directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2023. BEAGHYTEBEEIHFSRESEHE
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FREMERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. KRB EE &
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

(b)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

DEEREE)

(b) PHEWMBREEE)
HE_Z-__F,A=1+HI1tHF
B

Investments

Hotel Money in listed
hogpitality lending Liguor securities
business services and wine and funds

BERS e
% RERK  EEER  EeRE
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'O00

ThL ThL ThL THL THT
Segment revenue AEkE 15,875 2472 18898 3807 41,052
Segment loss gl 7 (9,136) (10,888) (26,862) (66,142) (113,028)
Unallocated corporate income RABREMA R

and gains 3,487
Unallocated corporate expenses R AR ARIE (i)

(Note) (26,139)
Finance costs BEKA (1773)
Share of loss of associates AEBELFFR (252)
Net deficit on revaluation of RENFEEBATE

investment properties (600)
Loss before income tax FERiES (138,305)

Note:

Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included staff salaries,
directors’ remuneration and consultancy fees for the year

ended 30 June 2022.

B E
BHEZZT-ZFARA=ZTHLEFE x5

EARRXIZEEETIHE E5He
RERER -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R o%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DEWRE (&)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) 2EEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets BasE NI NDANER v EE
and liabilities by reportable segments: LEESTOT -
2022
=B
HK$'000
FHTT
Segment assets PEEE
Hotel hospitality business B E TR TS 273,631 303,063
Money lending services BER® 1,418 11,337
Liquor and wine BFEE G 18,925 19,032
Investments in listed securities B HFRESKRE
and funds 198,117 283,002
Total segment assets NEEERE 492,091 616,434
Interests in associates i NI 1,919 3,235
Investment properties HEME 15,900 19,000
Deposits in a financial institution MR & BI#E 2 730 67,356 20,599
Unallocated bank balances and RO ERITAEHZ RIS
cash 41,905 55,847
Unallocated corporate assets RKOBATIEE 1,420 3,733
Consolidated total assets EEERE 620,591 718,848
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. lt&R9HEEE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DERE (E)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (c) »BEEREE(A)
0
T
HK$'000
FHET
Segment liabilities PEEE
Hotel hospitality business B JE BRI ST 36,597 45,379
Money lending services & B AR - 149
Liguor and wine AR EE o 2,297 2,489
Investments in listed securities B HFRESKRE
and funds 25 8
Total segment liabilities NERERRE 38,919 48,025
Tax payable &R IE 2,399 2,545
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEAE 37,803 42,949
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko B AGIEE 15,322 15,756
Consolidated total liabilities e BEERE 94,443 109,275

—To=aE « BRYEFEEERAT 179



N ~ 4
& y 4
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R oa%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DREBEE)
(d) oOther segment information (d) HttpE&EHR
For the year ended 30 June 2023 BE-Z_=ZfXA=Z1+HLHF

E

Investments

Hotel Money in listed

hospitality lending Liquor securities
business services and wine and funds  Unallocated Total

BERS LHESR
% EER% BRER E¢RE AR ait
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FiEn TiEn FiEn FER TR TR

Amounts included in the measure AN EENAFERLIE
of segment profit or loss or BEGEZSE:

segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets REHNEEE 1427 - - - - 1427
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1% - BE Rk E

equipment (3,989) - - - - (3,989)
Impairment loss on property, plant and #1% - B k&R EESE

equipment (9,801) - - - - (9.801)
Impairment losses on other receivables M EMFUE Rz & HIE

and deposts B - - - (260) - (260)
Impairment losses on loans receivable FEE SN AEEE - (8,693) - - - (8,693)
Interest income from banks and BIREBIETIZMA

a financial institution 1 1 22 181 2,324 2,529
Deficit on revaluation of investment ~ RENZE &4

properties - - - - (3,100) (3,100)
Netloss on fair value of financial assets A TRz ARz £

atfarvaue troughprofitorloss ~ EEAFEREFE - - - (43,732) - (43732)
Amounts regularly provided to the  EHmTELEREEEML

chief operating decision-maker BYEH AL ERRS

but not included in the measure ~ EiE;TE2EE

of segment profit or loss:
Finance costs BERK (315) (12) = - (1,130) (1,457)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6.

(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)
(d) oOther segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Hotel
hospitality

Amounts included in the measure A ERFEEALE

of segment profit or loss or EEHEVSE:

segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets REFFHEE 673
Depreciation of property, plant and g BERRENE

equipment (4,684)
Impairment loss on property, plantand ~ ¥1% - BERFEREER

equipment (7641)
Reversal of impairment losses onother - E-pb M B R R4 B

receivables and deposits BEAR -
Reversal of impairment losses on BIRYEERERERR

trade receivables -
Impairment losses on loans receivable  FEUE 2 ER B -
Interest income from banks and FOREEBENSRA

afinancial institution -
Deficit on revaluation of investment &M% B4

properties -
Netloss on fair value of financial assets A TE ABHZ 28

at fair value through profit or loss EELTEFESE -
Amounts regularly provided to the  EHmTELEREEEM

chief operating decision-maker BYEH AL ERRS

but not included in the measure  FiEHEZSE:

of segment profit or loss;
Finance costs BERK (662

Money
lending
services

HERE

]

HKS' 000
T

(327)

(432)

(12933)

“ECCHFR « ERHNEREEERAT

KRR SERE (@)

DREBE (&)
(d) Hftp@E&ER(E)
FRA=ZFTHILEF

BE
53

Liquor
and wine

—= — —

—_—

Investments
in listed
Securities
and funds

HKS'000
T

Unallocated

63

(145)

3044

187

(600)

(1,080)

HKS'000
a7

736
(5,156)
(8073
6,624

1173
(12,933)

202
(600)

(70,193)

(1,773)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING ek ERE =)
(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) PEHREE)
(e) Geographic information (e) WEEER

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong (place of domicile), the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC"), excluding Hong Kong and Japan.

The Group's revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets (other
than financial assets) by geographical markets are

REBzEEMBEIEMUNEE
(REEHE)  hEARKME
(THED - TEREEFERAX -

AEBRRTIZE D KB IR
BEPZWahBRENFRBEE
(EREERIN ZERFFEDT

detailed as below:

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REMNAEF 2R a FERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
TED=F ZE —E-=F =
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET FHET THT FET
Hong Kong EBE 5,489 6,279 17,819 22,235
The PRC, excluding FE - ~EE
Hong Kong BB 119 18,898 - -
Japan SN 25,551 15,875 270,459 299,001
31,159 41,052 288,278 321,236

182

)

The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the goods and services
are delivered. The geographical location of other
non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets.

Major customers

There is no significant revenue that is more than
10% of the Group’s revenue derived from specific
external customers for the year ended 30 June
2023.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, revenue from
one customer of liquor and wine segment
amounted to HK$18,814,000 contributed over 10%
of total sales of the Group.

(f)

DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. Rtk ARE

Interest income from banks and RIT RS EEEN S MA

a financial institution 2,529 202
Government subsidies (note) BT #e8 Bl (B 5E) 32 1,011
Gain on deregistration of subsidiary FESEIT B A R 2 Wi - 550
Rental income A ON 510 510
Gain on lease modification e Bk - 101
Other sundry income HAp IR A 346 1,113

3,417 3,487

Note: BiE -
For the year ended 30 June 2023, the government subsidies HEZZ-_=FA=THLEE BFHE
represented a subsidy under Employment Support Scheme launched EARRITERBUT ([ BB FRBUT D #E LR
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ¥ EET 2@ -BE-_T-—_FA=+H
(“HKSAR"). For the year ended 30 June 2022, the government subsidies IEFE  BNHMERSBFEBTHEDRMET
represented a subsidy under Employment Support Scheme launched BB 2 #H 85 LA K B AU st 36 A B A Bl I 2 [ =%
by the Government of HKSAR and subsidy received under REAP LB N & | BT UWEZ /AL - REZM{E
“Employment Adjustment Subsidy” and “Spread Prevention Co- FIE - YRR A R0 I P A i R A R R E
operation Support Fund” from Japan Government. There are no by SR EIA -

unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of those subsidies for both years.
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e MEGERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8.

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/

Frid AR
PSRRI IS B ISR/ (G A) T3

(crediting): £I5 -
2022
=B
HK$'000
FHTT
Auditor's remuneration ZEETEN & 1,750 1,750
Depreciation expenses in respect of: BB THREITERY
Owned assets BEEE 3,989 4,829
Right-of-use assets ERREE - 327
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEME - MEKRFELZ
equipment &8 - 268
Cost of inventories recognised as WHRAERSZ 2 FERAK
expense 13,750 58,115
— Provision for inventories — FERE - 9,396
Impairment loss of loans receivable JE W & OBk (B & 18 (BT 53 20)
(note 20) 8,693 12,933
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment b f& Yg I8 R IZ 2 BB
loss) on other receivables and &8 CREBERR)
deposits (note 19) (FI7E19) 260 (6,624)
Impairment loss on property, plantand  #1% - BB k&R EREBRE
equipment (note 14) (Fi7E14) 9,801 8,073
Employee benefit expense (including EERFHSZ (BIEEE
directors’ remuneration): <) :
Wages and salaries TERTS 5,547 5,197
contributions to retirement benefit RIKAE T B3
schemes 72 109
Short term lease expenses REREERY 261 303
Exchange losses, net 0 H E518 )5 5 184 4
Reversal of impairment loss on trade & 5 & s BEIE 5 (B B 18 % @]
receivables (note 19) (FFE19) - (1,173)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

9. DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR 9. EEREREEEHFMLEURA
MANAGEMENT’'S REMUNERATION Z2EEFAL
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and the UTAERNEEHEERAEZESHA
five highest paid individuals for the year were as follows: T ER
Year ended 30 June 2023 BE-E-=FXNA=1tHLEE
Contributions
to retirement
benefit
Fees schemes Total
BIRER
e sTEIER Mot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTHET TER
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (note i) B0 BR 5T A (FT3ED) 520 18 538
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (note iy EJkag 5t & (FFEEii) 844 18 862
Independent non-executive By FHITES
directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BEREE 180 - 180
Mr. Man Kwok Leung EERLE 180 - 180
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (note i) & Y¢ 58 A4 (i) 114 - 114
Mr. To Chun Wai (note iv) MIRE S E (BIEEiv) 37 - 37
Total Bt 1,875 36 1,911
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #ZE-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

9. DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR 9. EEREREEEFMLRA
MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION Z2EEFALE
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)
Year ended 30 June 2022 HE—_E-—FA=1THIE=E
Contributions
to retirement
benefit
Fees schemes Total
RIARER
we FTEIfRK st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET THBT FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (note i) 87 BRI A (FT3ED) 425 16 441
Mr. Liu Shihao (note v) 2t 55t A (FiFsEY) 184 7 191
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (note i) & k354 (Miskii) 195 5 200
Mr. Charlie Lu (note vi) BRB L (HEv) - - -
Mr. Chan Wai Ki (note vii) PR B 5 & (B RE VIl 28 1 29
Mr. Eric Todd (note viii) EIRZ A (st vil) 80 3 83
Mr. Yiu To Wa (note ix) BB EE A& (BTREix) 50 1 o1
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BEREE 135 - 135
Mr. Man Kwok Leung EERLE 135 - 135
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (note iii) 3 %38 48 & (Bt iii) 135 - 135
Total @t 1,367 33 1,400
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e MEHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

9. DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed as executive director with
effect from 24 August 2021.

(ii) Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe was appointed as executive director
with effect from 25 March 2022.

(iii) Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho resigned with effect from 17 February
2023.

(iv) Mr. To Chun Wai was appointed as independent non-executive
director with effect from 18 April 2023.

(v) Mr. Liu Shihao has been appointed as an executive director with
effect from 16 August 2021 and resigned as executive director
with effect from 25 March 2022.

(vi)  Mr. Charlie Lu was appointed as executive director and the
Chairman of the Board with effect from 16 August 2021 and
resigned as executive director and the Chairman of the Board
with effect from 26 November 2021.

(vii)  Mr. Chan Wai Ki resigned as executive director with effect from
22 July 2021.

(viii) ~ Mr. Eric Todd resigned as executive director with effect from 1
September 2021.

(iX) Mr. Yiu To Wa resigned as executive director with effect from 22
July 2021.

=

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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e MEGERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

9. DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

Mr. Charlie Lu waived the director fee for the service
period from 16 August 2021 to 25 November 2021.
Except for this, there was no other arrangement under
which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2023 and
2022.

Disclosures required by Section 383 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (Disclosure of
information about benefits of directors) regulation (Cap.
622G) and Listing Rules:

(@) The executive directors’ remuneration shown
above was mainly for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group during the years ended
30 June 2023 and 2022.

(b)  The non-executive and independent non-executive
directors’ remuneration shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company and
the Group during the years ended 30 June 2023
and 2022.

(c) None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 30
June 2023 and 2022.

(d) During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022,
there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors.

(e) No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company'’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year (2022:
Nil).

BREERFTHMEURL
FwAL )

EEH@H&EEE& —E=-—%)\A

RIS EI 2 EEM S o B2 o -
EFVTERBE_T_=FK_%F
::ﬁz/\ﬂ_‘f‘ E!M:EET’FHj'f%{EJE
fib 2 ER sk R BRI B -

BRIBE R AR (F622%) £ 3831% ~ 1
A(RBEENEER) RH(F6226
B) R EMRAREMRE ZEHR

@ EXFITHRITESZHFMEED
&ﬂ&i_z:—iﬁ_g::
FRNAZTHLEFERARD
$%E$%%ﬁﬁﬁ2%%o

(b)) EXFRIEMITRBUIEWITE
EXHFMEESRRABEZ
T=FERZIZFEZFRNA=TA
HFEERARARAEEES
R R

© MMEEENBE_ZT_=FK—
T _FEXRAZTRHLEFEER
HRE A U ERAE T 42 LE AR TS A& A o

d HEZE-_="FE_FT-_FX
A=ZTHIFE HERNESEH
XEBESZEH 2 EB A E R
E%%%ﬁﬁﬁzgﬁﬁﬁ*
FBUERKRERZEEEK

THEE AR REEERE CH
@Q%ﬁw

©) %E%ﬁim&ﬁ%%'ﬁﬁﬁ
Fee /NI I RVA SR CIE ZAN/NECTE S
KmsBEAKAAR T%%Kﬁ
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9. DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include
two (2022: one) executive directors of the Company,
details of whose remuneration are included above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2022: four)
individuals for the year ended 30 June 2023 were as

BREERFTHMEURL
AL

ArEEBREERHFALH  Hb@WE
(Z2ZZF: —R) BRRRAAIHITE
B OHEZHMEFBERLEX - HT
—HR(ZE—F W EZ) ALTRERE
—E_=FEXA=THIEEZHS

follows: N
2022
=B
HK$'000
FH&T
Wages and salaries TERF® 1,715 2,439
Contributions to retirement benefit B {kig 5T &It
schemes 18 32
1,733 2,471
Their emoluments fell within the following bands: EATZMENFLATAER

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—_E_= —_F__
HK$0-HK$500,000 0% 7T 2 500,000 7T, 1 1
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 # 7T & 1,000,000 7% 7T, 2 3

No share options were granted to non-director, highest
paid individuals in respect of their services to the Group
for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

There were no arrangement under which the above
non-director, highest paid individuals waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 30 June
2023 and 2022. No compensation for loss of office has
been paid by the Group for any individual for the years
ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

— = — =

=

BE-_Z-_=4FF-_F=-"%9,H
“+HLEFEMBIHFEERSHFAL
ThA AN B IR 2 ARG IER T B
o

BHE-_ZT-_="Fk=-Z=-=_F7-A
=+HLEFE LHlFESETEHA
THERBETANZHEREIRAERE
FAME BE_ZT_=FK_F
T CFERNA=ZTHIEFE AEEW
EEMER AT AT BERAE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

10.

11.

190

FINANCE COSTS 10. RIERK A
A
—=E=—

HK$'000
FHET
Interest on bank loans RITERA A 315 662
Interest on other loans HEuERFE 1,130 1,080
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEHEe 12 31
1,457 1,773

INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. Fhr8RER

Hong Kong profits tax was provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit arising in Hong Kong
for both years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for
the current and prior periods as the Group has no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to
enterprise income tax (“EIT") at tax rates of 25% for both
years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022. No provision for
PRC EIT has been made for the current and prior
periods as the Group has no assessable profits arising
in the PRC.

The Group is also subject to PRC withholding tax at the
rate of 10% (2022: 10%) in respect of dividend income
derived from PRC incorporated companies.

Under the relevant Japan tax regulations, the profits of
the business under tokumei kumiai arrangement which
is distributed to a tokumei kumiai investor after
deducting any accumulated losses in prior years is only
subject to 20.42% withholding income tax in Japan. The
withholding tax is final Japanese tax on such distributed
tokumei kumiai profits and such profits are not subject
to any other Japanese taxes. There is no withholding tax
paid or payable for the both years ended 30 June 2023
and 2022 as there is no profit distribution.

HE-_Z-_=ZF#h_Z-_FXA
Z+HIMEAFE  REBELEZMG
SHERFUR AR TR R 16.5% 1EH BB F
SHEE AR AEERBAIRAT
HMHEEEBEARRF G - &%
WEL BB TSI B -

HE_ZTE_=ZFK_FT-_-_FXA
Z“THIEMEFE  RFRREMLZH
JB N R BL TR 25% AN 1> TS
(TEMBR]) - HRASEBER B
MBAHMYETTREESRRT G
F A £ A B 1D 2 FT IS R AR B
1 o

AEERARRPEFMAZAR R
FrEE 7B AIRI0%( ZZ — —4F :
10%) M B R @A R FEHIFL ©

REBMEBBAARBER  ERBHZ
BEIR T 5% 2 m F (R FRB 1 FF EAE
MAFEEEDIRE - BERBHER
BE) B AMEARN20.42% 2 TR
Bh - BHRSERE D IKERBH
AN 2 R& A AEIR - A R A 8
ABHMEMEMBARIE - AR
EEMNDIK BHE_T_=—FKk_
T _FRAZ=ZTHIEMEFEILE
B SRR o
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &HZ_—-Z

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The subsidiary established in Japan is subject to
prefectural and municipal inhabitant taxes on a per
capita basis in accordance with the relevant Japan tax
regulations for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

“=FXRA=THIEFE

11.

FRrisRiER &)

BE_T-_-"FkZFT=Z=_FXH
=+ EIJJ:EWIE? NI N AVl
BARIZEREAEB AT ERIIEA
HE%E %ﬁiﬂi@mﬁ&)ﬁﬁm °

2022
= S

HK$'000
FBT

Current tax for the year FRENEAFR I
— The PRC —f 220 190
— Japan — B 8 10
Deferred tax (note 27) TRIERTE (M1 5E27) (2,816) (2,667)
Total income tax credit FriSfiik 8 %8 (2,588) (2,467)

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before income tax per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

FRERESGE MBS ROTE
HAEEEERNT ¢

2022
—E-—F
HK$'000
THT
Loss before income tax FriS Al EE (72,419) (138,305)
Tax on loss before income tax, REAREERE REERE S
calculated at the rates applicable  FiEREHERFAER AIE BT IE
to the tax jurisdictions concerned (12,415) (25,958)
Tax effect of expenses not AR AZ B IETE
deductible for tax purposes 9,729 23,622
Tax effect of income not taxable BAGHRBANTIETE
for tax purposes (1,608) (2,686)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTIEBENTRIEZZ
recognised 1,706 2,555
Total income tax credit FrisBiii B (2,588) (2,467)
12. DIVIDEND 12. KR
The Board does not recommend the payment of any EEEIEERBE_T_=F <A

dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

—7

ZFEFR o ERFEREEEERAT

_+E¢¢V/)f(1ﬁ1£17ﬂx§ (Z%=—
FE) -
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRREGH
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is BREAREEBEDZARNRES
based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of AEHFNBEEEFANDEITEBER
the Company and the weighted average number of IEFHHEE -

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic loss per share based on the FGRREENEIR VIR TSt E -
following data:

2022
= S

HK$'000
TR

Loss for the year attributable to REtE SREARAREEEE
owners of the Company for the ZARARHE ABLTFER
purpose of calculating basic and 518
diluted loss per share (69,831) (135,838)

Number of shares
RAEE

2023 2022

—=— = —— —

—_— =

'000 ‘000

FK TR

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FA{EstE GIRE A K #5E
shares for the purpose of calculating  [E538 2 & A% hnkE L1921

basic and diluted loss per share 15,695,532 15,695,532
Diluted loss per share amount for the years of 2023 and AR R IRE IR B A R E W E
2022 were not presented because the convertible W EZY B =—FER T -
preference shares were anti-dilutive. FEEREESESR -

Potential ordinary shares are dilutive when and only R ECEINERNEER AT EE e
when their conversion into ordinary shares would MANBHEE AELEIREER -~
increase 10ss per share attributable to owners of the BEE#SEWE -

Company.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. YR - BE R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

Equipment,
Right-of-use Freehold Leasehold furnitureand  Plant and Motor
assets Buildings improvement fixtures  machinery vehicles
idiir 4 HE RF GAR
EE BF NERE BHE£E RE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TAL TAL BT
COST: ;%
At 1July 2021 RZB--%+A-A 5795 195,980 286,114 6,360 3544 2622 5072 505,487
Additions RE 653 - - 252 484 - - 1,389
Written off i (5,795) - - (4,051) (1,102 - - (10,943)
Disposal HEZE - - - - - - (3554) (3554)
Bxchange realignment ERAE - (34979 (50513) (243) (449) (474) (147) (86,805)
At 30 June 2022 and R=B--F£XB=1AEK
1 July 2022 “B-CE+R-A 653 161,001 235,601 2318 2477 2,148 1371 405,569
Additions AE - - - 1,083 374 - - 1427
Written off HisH - - - (505) (%) (209) - (809)
Exchange realignment i - (9,240) (13,521) (159) (168) (113) (33) (23,239)
At 30 June 2023 RZE-=£XB=t1H 653 151,761 222,080 2707 2,588 1826 1,333 382,948
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z3t#i&R
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES.  HESE :
At 1July 2021 B-E2=-%+A-A 5795 33,663 72,675 6,360 3544 2622 3616 128,275
Provided for the year FNEE 37 - 4,581 11 9% - 11 515
Written off i (5,795) - - (4,051) (1,102 - - (10,943)
Impairment oss recognised BEIRERR 3% 3,088 3983 241 388 - a7 8,073
Disposal HESE - - - - - - (2.286) 2,286)
Exchange realignment g% - (6,094) (14,295) 3 (449) (74 (147) (21,702)
At 30 June 2022 and RZB-ZZ§XB=1HR
1 July 2022 ZE--FtR-B 653 30,657 66,944 2318 2477 2,148 1,371 106,568
Provided for the year EREE - - 3884 18 87 - - 3989
Written off i - - - (505) (%) (209) - (809)
Impairment loss recognised BRARESE - 4318 5,440 3 9 - - 9,801
Exchange realignment ERAE - 2353 4,291) (1) (154) (113) (33) (7,060)
At 30 June 2023 WZE-=£XA=1H 653 32622 1977 1,754 234 1826 1,333 112,489
NET CARRYING AMOUNT; HREFE -
At 30 June 2023 WZE-=£XA=1H - 119,139 150,103 953 264 - - 270,459
At 30 June 2022 R-ZE--£XA=1H - 130,344 168,657 - - - - 299,001
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

14. B3k - BE Bk lE ()

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land and
buildings
leased for
own use
BAN

HELH#
k¥
HK$'000
TR

As at 1 July 2021 R=-ZT=-—%tH—H

HEBH 653

Lease modification
Depreciation e (327)
Impairment loss recognised EHERREEE (326)

As at 30 June 2022, 1 July 2022 and
30 June 2023

R-ZEBZZFXA=+H"
“E__F+A—-HRK
—E-=FXH=1+H -

194

The freehold land is situated in Japan.

Property, plant and equipment with the brought forward
net carrying amount HK$280,260,000 (2022:
HK$306,642,000) (before the current year of impairment
loss) is attributable to the cash-generating unit of hotel
hospitality (“Hotel Hospitality Business CGU") with which
the goodwill amount is recognised. As at 30 June 2023,
the Directors reviewed the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment in Hotel Hospitality
Business CGU as the business incurred losses. Hotel
Hospitality Business CGU continuously faced the
relatively low occupancy rate. This had adverse impact
on the estimation of the recoverable amount. As the
recoverable amount of the Hotel Hospitality CGU is
lower than its carrying amount, the directors of the
Company considered that an impairment loss of
approximately HK$9,801,000 (2022: HK$7,641,000) has
been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2023.

KA AR AR o

4548 IR H )R (E /4 280,260,0008 T (=&
— £ 1 306,642,000 7T) (FORRER
BEBER) 2VE BELKXEBREB
RBERFZREELEM(BER
FEBREELSEM])  HEELE
EERR - NS _=FxA=+1"
HRBERGEBELEEE WES
EEMEERFERReEEENY
ME - BEIREEIKRED S5 - HE
REEBBSELBNEEmGRAY
REAFE WA RESEGBTEE
FREE - ARNBERFERRESE
FEM A ESEERAEEREE -
ARBBEERAEREBEE-_T_=F
ANAZTHLEFEBRRABREEBERY
9,801,00078 7T ( —Z — —4F : 7,641,000
BIT) °
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The recoverable amount of the Hotel Hospitality
Business CGU is determined by the Directors of the
Company with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent professional valuer. The recoverable
amount of the Hotel Hospitality Business CGU has been
determined from fair value less cost of disposal, in
which fair value is primarily making reference to the
recent sales of similar transactions in the market and
cost of disposal is estimated at 3.5% (2022: 3.5%) of
assessed fair value. It is Level 3 non-recurring fair value
measurement. The key significant unobservable input to
determine is the discount on age, location and
condition. The higher discount on these factors would
result in the lower in the fair value measurement of the
fair value less cost of disposal, and vice versa.

There is no impairment losses on the money lending
business for the year ended 30 June 2023. As at 30 June
2022, property, plant and equipment with the brought
forward net carrying amount of HK$432,000 (before the
impairment loss) is attributable to money lending
business. As at 30 June 2022, the Directors reviewed
the recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment in the business segment of money lending
business as the business incurred losses. Lesser
interest income has been recognised for the year ended
30 June 2022 since there was no new loan for the year
ended 30 June 2022. As such, money lending business
incurred losses for the year ended 30 June 2022. As a
result of such review, an impairment loss of HK$432,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2022.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment in the business segment of money lending
business is based on the fair value less cost of disposal.
It is Level 3 non-recurring fair value measurement. The
key significant unobservable input to determine is the
discount on age and condition. The higher discount on
these factors would result in the lower in the fair value
measurement of the fair value less cost of disposal, and
vice versa.

—
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14. MR - BER&M(2)

BERFEBREEEEN 2 AT G
CHEITAEARNAEEKLRERG IHE
HEMAERGEEREMET - B/E
REEBESELSEMN 2RO $5E
BEAFERLEXKAMETE  AFE
FTEZ2EMB2EBREURSHEE -
& AR AR T IR A RS A F{E A9 3.5%
(ZEZ—F :35%)HE - REB
FIFIELEUATENE - BEAA
MEBERTABRGABE LT
2 RARBLIRE - ZER XML
BEMK RFEREEXANATF
EFFE8E  RZMAR -

HE_ZT-_=ZF~A=Z+HIFE"
MEEEEK 2 REEBEE - RZF
——H®XAZ=Z1+H 9% BEEX
15 1 45 88 BR T )% (B 5 432,000 78 7T (&
KHBRBEREE)  SBEBNEEER -
R-E-—FXA=1+H AREE
X¥BBEEE NESENZEBED
BHoMmE - BERSEZJREISEE -
HREBE_ZE-_—_FA=1+RHILtF
EWEFEER  HBE_T ==

ANAZTHILEFEEERABERAR
DoAY HEEBRBEE_T ==
FARAZTHIEFESSHE - ERX
EH@EN ARAEREE=_ZT ==
FRAZTRALEFREZGFEZEKE
P REROREE 18 432,000 7T °

EEXBOIRZYE BEEREZ
A E & R IR D FER SR AT
o WARIBEBFEIRIFFE TR FER
E-BEEMANIEEANTABRER
ABEBEAFHERANMEERE ZF
ARV EB A - 2 FERHEX
RO RFHEFEBE  RZTFA °
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15.

196

“=FXA=THIEFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYE

2022
T
HK$'000
FHT
At beginning of the year =) 19,000 19,600
Deficit on revaluation of investment & &% 2 &4

properties Bt (3,100) (600)
At end of the year F4R 15,900 19,000

The fair value of the Company’s investment properties
at 30 June 2023 and 2022 has been assessed by an
independent professional valuer. Deficit on revaluation
of HK$3,100,000 (2022: HK$600,000) has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2023.

As at 30 June 2023, investment properties in Hong Kong
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$15,900,000
(2022: HK$19,000,000) have been pledged to secure
borrowing facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3
recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of
the opening and closing fair value balance is provided
below.

RZBE-=FR-_FE-__FXA=+
B ARRREMEZ AFETIEE
VEEMGMEBEMETTGE ARFER
HE-_T - XA=1tTHILFEZ
mAETERZRPERE DB
3,100,0007% 7T ( — & — — 4F : 600,000
BIT) °

RZE-_=FA=+H" EEEmWE
/415,900,000 w( = & = =
19,000,00078 70 ) < & ?fxé%%ﬁﬁli
B UERASEEER ZEERE
(MI5E25) -

DR EER
BREYWENTFEBEFILLEHATE
R FURFRAFELHYEERER
T o

2022
—E-—F
HK$'000
THT
Opening balance FHREH
(level 3 recurring fair value) (B3FZEFTHER 19,000 19,600
Deficit on revaluation of WEME B
investment properties Es At (3,100) (600)
Closing balance FIREERR
(level 3 recurring fair value) (BIMEEMERTFE) 15,900 19,000
Change in unrealised losses B SA=1H
for the period included in profitor ~ PRIFEEE AlBzs
loss for assets held at 30 June REIREIEE (3,100) (600)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REYEX 2
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) DR EEHE)

During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Company’s policy is
to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

For the fair value measurement for investment
properties in Hong Kong under direct comparison
method, it is assumed that each of the properties is
capable of being sold in its existing state with the
benefit of vacant possession and by making reference
to comparable sales evidence as available in the
relevant markets.

One of the key inputs used under direct comparison
method in valuing the investment properties was the
price per square feet and taking into account of location
and other individual factors. The price per square feet
used is HK$7,029 (2022: HK$8,399). An increase in the
price per square feet would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the investment properties,
and vice versa.

The fair value measurement is based on the above

properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ
from their actual use.

-F

“oFER o BRHMEREEERAT

=

REBE_ZE-_=FK_F-__F,XH
STHILEFEE  F1REF2H MY
mERIEE - NEEEEBAEIRNAE
FIMEH - KRB Z R AN EEE
BHIRZREPRERSQATFESER
2B ERIFMR -

RIRBERLBAFERTEREYE
RFEME  BRERSEDEA IR
HARXEHE  YE2EAMTS
AR Z A B LB ERE

AHEREMER - RIEBEERLBOAE
AZEBHABIEZ —REBFHTRE
% BERTRUEREMEREZE -
FIREF T RERR70298T(ZF
ZF 1 8399BTT) - BF HRER L
NEBYREMELFEFEEM
R 2 IRER

RFEFEDRELAMEZERT R

DERS ZEARAEERERY
A -
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16.

198

GOODWILL 16. B8
HK$'000
FET
COST: R
At 1 July 2021 R-—B-—%+H—H 55,444
Exchange realignment Rk (10,037)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R-B-Z=ZHXA=1tHK
—E-_"%+tH—H 45,407
Exchange realignment b 54, SR B (2,606)
At 30 June 2023 R-E-_=F<A=H 42,801
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: B EEES
At 1 July 2021 R=—Z-_—FtHA—H 55,444
Exchange realignment ME H TR (10,037)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R-ZB-—FXA=1+HK
—E_"%tH—H 45,407
Exchange realignment bE X TR (2,606)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZEBE-=FXA=1+H 42,801
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BE T A
At 30 June 2023 R-B-=FXA=+H -
At 30 June 2022 R-E-_—Fx<A=+H -
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is BETHRENS  mESREUTAH
allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU") identified RS EAEN ([IREEESEMN])
as follows:
HK$°000
THET
Year ended 30 June 2023 BE-Z-_=€XA=tHLEE
Hotel hospitality business B JE R T 42,801
HK$'000
FET
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-Z__FXA=1tHILEE
Hotel hospitality business B JE SRR T 45,407
The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of hotel HEELE BT EEINE RS GE
hospitality business and was fully impaired in the & O REURE o
previous years.
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. RBERQFIZES

2022

=B
HK$'000
FHT
At beginning of the year REH] 3,235 3,487
Share of loss for the year DEFEANEE (1,316) (252)
At end of the year RER 1,919 3,235

Details of the Group's associates are as follows:

REBZBERRFBOT -

Particulars of Place of Percentage of
Name of company issued capital incorporation interest held Principal activities
NGIECE BRITRAFHE MR IBE FrsRER DL TEXK
2022
—EZ=fF | ZZF

Ming Fong Group Limited HK$10,000 Hong Kong 31.2% 31.2%  Dormant

("Ming Fong")
RESEZRER AT 10,000 % 7T BB RIS

QEEE D)

The summarised financial information of the Ming Fong
and its subsidiaries ("Ming Fong Group”) extracted from
its management accounts for the years ended 30 June
2023 and 2022 is as follows:

REREWBAR(HESE]) W
FERBENT  DREgEEHE—
Eo=FR-E-__FXA=+HIE
FEMNEERSR :

2023 2022
—=E-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Ming Fong Group HE LR
As at 30 June RAB=1+H
Current assets MENEE 6,525 11,378
Current liabilities mENEE (375) (1,010)
Net Assets EEFE 6,150 10,368
Reconciliation to the Group’'s ZA&£ERFLEFEYN
interest in Ming Fong Group: FERER .
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7 £ B &) 7 /& # L. 1 31.2% 31.2%
Group's share of net assets AEES N EARIEE
of the associate FE 1,919 3,235
Carrying amount of the investment & & ) BRE & 1,919 3,235
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17.

200

“=FXA=THIEFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. RBFBARIZER &)
2022
=B
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue Wz = -
Loss for the year FAEE (4,218) (807)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2w A - -
Total comprehensive income EEW AL (4,218) (807)
Dividend received from the associate 2 UgHs& A RIIR & = -
Reconciliation to the Group's AEEDLBEEEESR
share of result in Ming Fong HEER -
Group:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7N [ #) % & # L. ) 31.2% 31.2%
Group's share of loss of associates REES(hHEE N FEIE (1,316) (252)

The fair value less cost of disposal of interests in
associates is determined by the adjusted net assets
value under cost model and is Level 3 non-recurring fair
value measurement.

The key significant unobservable input to determine is
the discount on age and condition of receivables. The
higher discount on these factors would result in the
lower in the fair value measurement of the fair value
less cost of disposal of interests in associates, and vice
versa.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no
impairment would be recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the years
ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

KB & N R) 2 i et 2 A FER H &KX
ATERAEA T ZRBHREEFE
B YEBEMIFEEEAFEE -

BEMANIEERATABEGAR
BERRUCRENRER LA WRLRE -
ZERZNBREBA - NEEE 2 F
2B Z AP EREERANRTE
AEBE - RZTA -

ARREERR TERHEE_F
__E&_?__E/\H THIEF
B2 #iRa 2 ENER T ERRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

18. INVENTORIES 18. &8
2023 A
—=F_-_= = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Consumables SHFE M 165 174
Merchandise o 3,681 3,998
3,846 4172
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 19. B 5BIKEIE - HMEKH:
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND B -EBeERAMRIE
PREPAYMENTS
2023 2022
—8s=-= —E- &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Trade receivables 5 e BRTE 816 7,623
Less: Provision for impairment B REE B
losses (116) (126)
Trade receivables, net (note a) B S rEWERE F5 (Mita) 700 7,497
Other receivables (note b) H b M oE (KR b) 83,878 6,297
Other deposits and prepayments  Hhig 4 & T8 718 216 827
84,794 14,621
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

@

202

The Group allows credit period of 0 to 90 days (2022: 0 to 365
days) to its trade receivables.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision for
impairment losses, based on invoice date, is as follows:

« H il FE &
L]

(%)

AEEGHTHEESEBERBEEESHNTO
ZOOH(ZE--F :0%E365H) °

RERZAMCHRREERBERZES
[EUWERTARR R D ATAN S

Within 30 days 30K 666 845
31-60 days 31E260H 22 79
Over 90 days 90 HIAE 12 6,573

700 7,497

There is no collateral for trade receivables as at 30 June 2023.
As at 30 June 2022, trade receivables of HK$6,559,000 has been
secured by the collateral.

The movements in the expected credit loss for trade receivables
for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

MN-ZB-=F A=+H ZBIHEKEE
WEKER R E-_FA=1+H"
Z 5 e I BR T8 6,559,000 8 7T A HE 4R G VEHE
R e

HE_Z_=FR-_T-__FA=1+H
IHFEEESREKRE BHEEBBEES
N

As at 1 July RtA—AH 126 1,296
Reversal of impairment loss for the year 4 AR (B E5 18 [E] - (1,173)
Exchange realignment b 5, E (10) 3
As at 30 June RARBZ=Z+H 116 126

Other receivables mainly represented redemption of investment
fund of approximately HK$79,530,000 as at 30 June 2023, which
was fully settled subsequent to the reporting date of 30 June
2023.

The movements in the expected credit loss for the other
receivables for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

HMERAEIERAN T _=FA
Z+THEEEEEE 479,530,000/ 7T -
ZEFHEENRERH T - =FA
=T RREBEBEN -

HEZZ_=FR-_T-__FA=1+H
IEFEEMERFIENESREEBBEEH
R

As at 1 July WtBA—H 153 6,847
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment  FRBREEE CREEIEEE)

loss) for the year 260 (6,624)
Exchange realignment b 5 A% (20) (70)
As at 30 June RAB=+H 393 153
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

20. LOANS RECEIVABLE

20. FEERE®

Gross loan and interest receivables  J& Yt & X & A B 4458 230,689 214,338
Less: impairment losses allowances & : (& &8 B (229,489) (204,033)
1,200 10,305

As at 30 June 2023, the loans receivable with gross
principal amount of HK$161,894,000 (2022:
HK$162,677,000) in aggregate and related gross interest
receivables of HK$68,795,000 (2022: HK$51,661,000)
were due from eight (2022: nine) independent third
parties. These loans are interest-bearing at rates
ranging from 5.5% to 20% (2022: 5.5% to 20%) per
annum. All the loan receivables were repayable within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period and
therefore were classified as current assets.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held collateral over loans
receivable with gross amount of HK$61,393,000 (2022:
HK$57,171,000).

Impairment loss of HK$8,693,000 (2022: HK$12,933,000)
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2023.

—7

RZEBE-=FA=1+H EKEN
F(ZE-—F: NR)BIFE=ZHK
SHEA 161,894,000 T (ZFE ==
& 162677000%75)2%%%7%&*5
78 & Uk FI| B 4858 68,795,00078 7T ( —

— T 151,661,000 7T ) ° Mﬁém
RERRSSBEENE(ZT-—F :55
EZE20E):TE - B RKRERAERR
LHRET_@EARNEEZ  AiLES

MARBEE -

EA_7 _f¢/\ﬂ +E| ZKE.EVE
4858 /561,393,000 T (2 ==
57,171 ooo,%yz)ZJELlﬁzE%x%ﬁmﬁﬂ

o ©

B 8,693,0008 T (—E ==
12933000,%75)EEAE3zi_;:—¢
ANAZTHILEFENGAEZEKRER
q:'ﬁﬁn/u‘)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEGERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The movements in the impairment losses allowances
for loans receivable for the years ended 30 June 2023
and 2022 are as follows:

20. FEUWERR ()

HE_Z-_=ZFh_F-_4F,H
—tHIEFEE  BRERZBERISE
BEEHWT -

0
T

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 July RER—H 204,033 175,747

Provision of expected credit loss  FRNFEEEEEREEE

for the year 8,693 12,933
Adjustment on interest receivables  FEFE S RE 4 2 FE USRS

arising from the impaired loans 16,763 15,353

At 30 June WAB=+H 229,489 204,033

Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for loan
receivables for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022
are as follows:

BE-_ZE-_=FF-_F=-"%9,H
“tHRELFERVEREmMAEZ Y
BRI -

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

FE1fEER  F2lER  EIRER @ct

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

THER THET THET THET

Balance at 1 July 2021 R-B--EtA—-RAz&sH - 18,200 223,438 241,638

Financing originated RERE - 973 16,852 17,825

Repayment BR = (1,344)  (43,781)  (45,125)

Transfer B - (17,045) 17,045 -
Balance at 30 June 2022 and RZZE-ZFXA=1+HEK

1 July 2022 “ECEtR-HzEH - 784 213,554 214,338

Financing originated RERE - 18 17,135 17,153

Repayment B - (802) - (802)

Balance at 30 June 2023 R-ZB-=ExXHA=1H
2 = - 230,689 230,689
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

A

20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued) 20. FEUWERR ()

Movements in the expected credit loss in respect of
loan receivables for the years ended 30 June 2023 and

HE_Z-_=ZFh_F-_4F,H
—tHIEFEE E@EEKERNTER

2022 are as follows:

SREEBRZESHWT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIBE  F2RER  FEIRER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET FET
Balance at 1 July 2021 R-B--FEtB—-HBz#H - 2,801 172,946 175,747
Expected credit l0ss BHEEERE - 4721 8,212 12,933
Adjustment on interest FERYFIE
receivables - - 15,353 15,353
Transfer R - (7,439) 7,439 -
Balance at 30 June 2022 and R-ZE-ZFXA=+HR
1 July 2022 “ECCELA-HEH - 83 203950 204,033
Expected credit [0ss BHEEER - (83) 8,776 8,693
Adjustment on interest FERUFE
receivables - - 16,763 16,763
Balance at 30 June 2023 R-ZB-=FXA=1+H
pd =323 - - 229,489 229,489

-F
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

21. BAFEHARRZEMNEE

2022
=B

HK$'000

FAET

Unlisted private fund (note (a)) EEMRAES (HizE@) - 75,791
Listed securities in Hong Kong at & H{ETEZEE L HES

market value (note (b)) (B 5E (b)) 118,186 205,260

118,186 281,051

Notes: BT
For the year ended 30 June 2023, the fair value gain of unlisted
private fund was HK$3,739,000 (2022: HK$15,986,000) which has
been dealt with in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2023.

(a)

As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of the unlisted private fund is
Level 2 recurring fair value measurement.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the fair value loss of listed
securities was HK$47,471,000 (2022: HK$86,179,000) which has
been dealt with in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2023.

(b)

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the listed
securities is Level 1 recurring fair value measurement.
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HE-_Z_—FA=-+HILFE kL
MAAES KA FERZ A 3,739,004
(=T = — 4 :15986,0007T) * &%
EREE-_Z_=—FA=1tHILEFERN
FEEERGERFERE -

R-TE-—FRXA=+H " ELTRAE
ENATEBFE2REEE AT ERE -

HE-_Z-_—FA=Z1+HILFE  tm
EHEAFEEIE R 47,471,0008 T (- F
T 186,179,000/ 70 ) - A EERE
E_E-_=FXNA=THIEENELES
E R R o

R =FR_TE__FA=+H"
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 22. SRITHEER R B & Ll R 7 & A

DEPOSITS IN A FINANCIAL BZER
INSTITUTION
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRES

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods ranging from one day to three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy financial institutions with
no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of
the bank deposits and bank balances and cash
approximate to their fair values.

Time deposits comprised of short-term bank deposits of
HK$32,120,000 (2022: HK$25,000,000) with an original
maturity of three months or less held by the Group. The
amounts carried interest 3.9%-4.6% (2022: 1.8%) per
annum.

Bank balances as at 30 June 2023 of HK$2,010,000
(2022: HK$7,133,000) are denominated in RMB, which
are placed with banks in the PRC.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.
Under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Deposits in a financial institution

As at 30 June 2023, HK$67,356,000 (2022:
HK$20,599,000) was placed in a creditworthy licensed
financial institution with no recent history of default. The
short term time deposits earn interest at the respective
short term time deposits rates.

The carrying amounts of the deposits in a financial
institution are denominated in HK$ which are
approximate to their fair values.

-F

RITBERBEARTERNEZF B
M REREUA S o 52 B B R 2 7K
HNF-—HBE=ZEAAF S BILE
BB REFLME  WIREEH
TEHTF A R ERERA B - SRITERT
MR EZERIFARIOIVELRCHE
TR o IRITIF A RIRITREBR K
RezREEEERQFEES -

THERBEASEMEERIEA
A=A THREBRITER
32,120,000 t( = & = = :
25,000,000 7T ) ° %5 & B F F E
3.9%-4.6%(—ZE =14 : 1.8%):t B o

RZZBZ=F"A=THNRITHER
2,010,000/ 7T (=& = — 4 : 7,133,000
BIL) IAARSFHE  YERTEZ
KIRTT o

AREATERABREMER - 1R
R B REIMEE BUERNLAGEE - &
ERMERTEMRE  AEEELEES
EREETIINERB ZRTBARE
RBBEMERE -

REBEE 27X
RZZB-_=FRA=1H ' ARFMA
EE R4 AT A 8 38 KO RC 8% 2 H5 18
T Bl 18 17 67,356,000 T ( — &
Z =4 20,599,000 L) © A R H
TE BA T SRR AR B A2 H 5 B SRR R BR
ERFIS. -

REBMEEZFREREEAET
FHE - BERPERES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

23. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 23. ¥
AND ACCRUALS &

2022
= S

HK$'000
TR

Trade payables (note (a))
Other payables and accruals

E S EMER™E (B @) 1,104 1,727
H b OB R ERTE

(note (b)) (F=E (D)) 4,575 4,505
5,679 6,232
Notes: BifeE
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, is (a) REREQESEMNEBEER SN
as follows: T
2023 2022
—E=-= —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHxT
Within 30 days 30AR 1,053 1,604
31-60 days 31&260H 33 61
61-90 days 61290 H 10 31
Over 90 days 90H A E 8 31
1,104 1,727
(b)  As at 30 June 2023, other payables and accruals consists of b RKR-T-—=FXA=4+A HiENZE

accrued audit fee of HK$1,750,000 (2022: HK$1,750,000). o fESH B A iR RE ST 3% B A 1,750,000 74

TT(=ZZ = =4 : 1,750,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24.

The contract liabilities mainly represented the advance
consideration received from customers. The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in the future when or
as the goods is delivered. Except for the balance of
HK$2,343,000 (equivalent to RMB2,000,000) as at 30
June 2023, which is expected to occur beyond to the
next 12 months by reference to the latest track record,
all remaining balances are expected to occur within the
next 12 months.

Movement of contract liabilities

aaR

BHBEIERCEBEFLMHEAMNK
B AEBEHNE MR ERRR
BB - 2ERMEELE  BR
—TZ=FRA=1H 2 882,343,000
BT (HERN AR 2,000,0007T) 78 H
RARE12EAZEELIN FRBERT
FERRTEHARN AR 12 A B A -

BHREENESH

2022
=B
HK$'000
FHT
Balance as at 1 July Rt A—HHES 2,651 2,658
Decrease in contract liabilitiesasa HEERERNZFSE LD
result of recognising revenue aER>
during the year (883) (49)
Increase in contract liabilitiesasa ~ AFEURFHIES A LB E1E N
result of receipt in advance 801 133
Exchange realignment ME H, 3B (191) 91)
Balance as at 30 June RANA=THMR 2,378 2,651

—To=EE « BRYAFEEERAT 209
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

25.

210

BORROWINGS 25. {8

A
—=E=—

HK$'000
FHET
Bank loans, secured BIFRITER 33,604 42,550
Other loan, secured BIRFEMER 12,000 12,000
Other loan, unsecured IR EMER 580 -
46,184 54,550

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment
on demand clause, borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within one year or on demand

—FRRIZBREER

REERHHAEAFERBHAL
B REMREREEGRR2TE
fEEARIAT HARMEE -

2022
—E-

HK$'000
TET

46,184 54,550

Bank loans were secured by (i) land and building with
the carrying amount of HK$269,242,000 (2022:
HK$299,001,000); (i) the bank balances of HK$650,000
(2022: HK$690,000); and (iii) the entire equity interest of
certain subsidiary as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

The abovementioned bank loans are charged at floating
rates of 0.94% per annum (2022: 0.75% per annum).

Secured other loan is secured by a legal charge over
investment properties with the carrying amount of
HK$15,900,000 (2022: HK$19,000,000) and is charged at
9% (2022: 9%) per annum. Unsecured other loan is
charged at 24% (2022: Nil) per annum.

ER17 B XA () BR T B & 269,242,000 7
o (=F = —4F : 299,001,000 7T ) 2
T RRAEF ¢ (i) SR1T 4 82 650,000 78 7T
(ZZT -4 : 690,000/87) : M ()&
THEBAGR - ZE—_=FR_T -
FRNA=ZTHE IR -

FRRITERDEFBFNE09E
(ZF =% FRR075E)FE -

B30 E A B SR A BRE 18 & 15,900,000
T (ZZF = Z4F : 19,000,000 7T) H
WEWMERTIHLMERT - WIREF
KOB(ZTB-—F : FHRE)FE -
EEBEMEREZFNEUE(ZF
TTFE E)FTR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES

26. HEAR

The amount included in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of the carrying amounts of
lease liabilities and the movements during the year is as

REMBRARMBEEBERERER
HEEMFRNEHHSEMAT

follows:

Land and
buildings
HEEERE
HK$'000
FHT
As at 1 July 2021 R-ZE-—F+A—H 318
Additions NE 653
Interest expenses FERX 31
Lease payments MERRK (553)
Lease modification MEEHR (101)

As at 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 RZZE-—FXNA=Z1+HK
—E-—H#4+H—H 348
Interest expenses B 12
Lease payments MERRK (360)
As at 30 June 2023 RZE-_=FA=1+H -

Future lease payments are due as follows:

Minimum lease payment due

RIAT R A2 B &K

RRBEENAKOBBERMOT

2023
e

—

2022
e —

—_—=——

HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
FTERT

AEMZ
— Within one year — —FNR - 360
Less: future interest expenses B ARIRF B S (12)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaERE - 343
TECCFFR e BEFHFEEERAT 211
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #ZE-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 26. HE AR ®)
The present value of future lease payments are KEBENZIRENDHT
analysed as:
2022
T
HK$'000
FET
Current liabilities TENAE - 348
2023 2022
—E—-= =z
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&ET THT
Short-term leases expenses REEERS 261 303
Aggregate undiscounted EHEIEER AR
commitments for short term TGS A EE
leases 261 303
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

27. DEFERRED TAX 27. BEFERIA

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences EIERIE B AN E B KL FTIE 51 0E

under the liability method using applicable tax rates BRZERAHRE  LNEBEEFERE
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group REETHE -

operates.

D/{Ti%;m’%laﬁﬁl\ZI%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ
BEIEZEHE)

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised by the Group and their movements are:

Fair value
adjustment
arising from
business

combination
EREHEL
2DV ERE
HK$'000
FAT

At 1 July 2021 R=-ZF=-—-FtHA—H 55,266
Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 11) s+ AERNEz (1L 11) (2,667)
Exchange realignment P& 5 (9,650)

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R-B=-=—F,xA=1+H

E=2=-—_F+tH—H 42,949
Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 11) s+ AFEREZE (MF:E11) (2,816)
Exchange realignment ME H, B (2,330)
At 30 June 2023 R-B-=FXA=1H 37,803

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$104,769,000 (2022:
HK$104,668,000), subject to the agreement of Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. As at 30 June
2023, the Group has estimated unused tax losses arising
in the PRC amounted to HK$33,140,000 (2022:
HK$35,892,000) which are available for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies will expire at
various dates for a maximum period of five years from
the reporting date. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these estimated unused tax
losses and provision for inventories as these were
incurred by the companies that have been loss-making
for some time.

—7

RZEBE_=FA=1+8H XxEEHE
e FiZﬁﬁﬂi@Jﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬂéﬂa
104,769,000 T( = T = =
104668ooo,%m)‘fﬂﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁfﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BEBZARZRKERT AT @
BERERBRE - RZZTE-_=F,XH
=tH AEBEPBEEEZHETE
&) /3 R I8 5 18 33,140,000 T ( — &
— — 4 : 35,892,000/ 7T ) R~ E B
F(&ZERABRBREAEETRE)Em
AAEREZERRZARERT &
Floe RRRAWERZSHAARBA
HEBBRAECHEEE  REAZ
S ARSAREBE R EEE
B—BRBZAREL -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #ZE-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each at
30 June 2022 and 2023

Authorised:
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022,
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023

28. ¥

Number of
shares
vy 4=

{0[0[0)
TRz

N —FHR T =4
NAZ+HEREE
0.0578 7T 2 T

VERE ¢

R-E-_—%+tHA—A8"
—E-_FXA=+AH"
—EBEF+A—-HEK

—E-=fXA=1H 30,000,000

Amount
M

HK$ 000
THET

1,500,000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022,
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023

Number of
shares
BHEE

‘000
Tz

EEITRAR

R=ZF=-—-%+tA—A8"
—B-=FXA=1H-
—E-=ftA-BR

—E-=fXA=1H 15,695,532

Amount
E
HK$'000
TAT

784,776
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

29.

30.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 29. EEEH

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MR B ISR B 2D P gE & o -
financial statements, the Group had pledged the REBIICERIATEEEARER
following assets to secure borrowing facilities granted EREERE 2 EB(MHFE25) - E
(note 25) to the Group. The carrying amounts of these BEZERESNET :

assets are analysed as follows:

2022
=B
HK$'000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment M BE MR E 269,242 299,001
Investment properties WEMH 15,900 19,000
Bank balances IRITHERR 650 690
285,792 318,691
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 30. XA TR
Share  Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R A3 iRE N RitER ECHY
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TEL TAT
At 1 July 2021 R-E-_-£tf-A 1,217 887 414,226 (1,989,388) (357,275)
Loss and total comprehensive FABBRZEKA
income for the year k) - - (94,644) (94,644)
At 30 June 2022 and RZBZZEXA=THR
1 July 2022 “E--f+H-H 1,217,887 414,226 (2,084,032) (451,919)
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZARA
income for the year ek - - (50,662) (50,662)
At 30 June 2023 R-B-=%xA=1H 1,217,887 414,226 (2,134,694) (502,581)
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e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31. A FMBERAE
OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—_E_= —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries GNP £ 85,574 69,630
Total non-current assets SERBEERE 85,574 69,630
Current assets REEE
Other receivables E b Ui kT8 310 1,203
Financial assets at fair value A EFTABREZ
through profit or loss SREE 118,186 205,260
Deposits in a financial REREE 2T
institution 67,356 20,599
Bank balances and cash RITEB MRS 14,100 40,289
Total current assets MEEERE 199,952 267,351
Current liabilities REBERE
Accruals and other payables — fEzt & 3 & L fib e~ 2B 2,217 3,010
Amounts due to subsidiaries FES M B A B 3 1,114 1,114
Total current liabilities MBI aERSE 3,331 4,124
Net current assets REEERE 196,621 263,227
Net assets EEEE 282,195 332,857
EQUITY R
Share capital A AN 28 784,776 784,776
Reserves EX= 30 (502,581) (451,919)
Total equity s 282,195 332,857

RARMBBRARENR T _=F N
AZtNhBEESSHERRETE
WHTHEEREEE

Statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 29 September 2023 and are signed on its
behalf by:

Cheng Chi Kin
BB

Wong Siu Keung Joe
Bk
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #Z-_ZT_=FA=THILFE

32. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL 2. FREEMEBATIZEH
SUBSIDIARIES
Place of Issuedand  Percentage of equity
incorporation/ fully paid interest attributable  Principal activities and
Name of company establishment share capital to the Company place of operation
AGIER HMAL/RitE ERARAERER  AAIEGREGSH  TEEEREEHY
Directly Indirectly
BE Rt
DeTai Finance Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100%  Money lending in Hong Kong
ERIBARAT BB TR REBHR
Guofeng Liquor & Wine Business  PRC US$2,000,000 - 100%  Trading and distribution of
(Sichuan) Ltd.* (note) s 2,000,000% 7T liguor and wing in the PRC
EEEE () BRAR RPEEERD HERER
()
Cambridge Venture Partners Japan JPY10,000 - 100%  Hotel hospitality services
Kabushiki Kaisha (“CVP KK") A& 10,000H in Japan
RBAREEE RS
Goldkeen Limited ("Goldkeen") Hong Kong HKS1 - 100%  Property investment
BRERAR (TSR] B AT NERE
* The English name is for identification only * B A TBEMER
Note: itk
This subsidiary is registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under BB A RIRIBERBUERELAINGBE D -

the law of the PRC.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

33. LEASE COMMITMENTS

As lessor

Rental income generated by leasing the investment
properties held by the Group during the year was
approximately HK$510,000 (2022: HK$510,000). Tenants
located in the investment properties were committed to
the Group for leasing the properties for the next one but
not later than two years for the year ended 30 June
2023.

The Group had the following future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating lease
contracts, which were entitled to be received as at 30

33. HE&IE

EREEA
FAHEASEERENEREMEYN
e WAL A5100008 T (T ==
F :510,000/870) c HEZZTZ=F X
B=Z+tHIEFE MREEWENHAE
EEMASBEAZRNAR—FETE
PREREME -

AEBREATRELEHESNE
PATR 7 2R Ex (K AR & e U 208 (A5 A E A
TEC =R -ETE-_FXA=+H

June 2023 and 2022: WeER)

2022
=B
HK$'000
FHT
Not later than one year TER—F 394 262
Later than one year but not BR—FETNENME

later than two years 420 59
814 321

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A new share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 13 December 2013, which replaced its old
share options scheme adopted in 2003. Under the share
option scheme, the Directors of the Company may, at
their discretion, grant to full-time employees and
executive directors of the Company and its subsidiaries
the right to take up options to subscribe for shares of
the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from
time to time, grant share options to outside third parties
for services provided to the Group. The share option
scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
expire on 12 December 2023. The subscription price of
options is subject to a minimum which is the higher of
the nominal value of a share, the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant and
the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the grant date of the options.

218

34. Wb iEEHE

AKRABN —_ZE—=F+-_A+=BH#
METERERT S RMRER =TT =
FHMNZEBRETE - BIEERE
e ARRERARNBERTFTARAF
LEWBRARZREERNITEEE
FMENARBARARRRMD 2 ERRE -
gEoh - RRB R TERAIINRE=ZF&E
mERE EAMASERERE
W o BRIESTTRES SR - BRI
BEAEBER - ZE-_=F+-_A+=
BEH - BEBARE 2 REETSHENK
BiEm - B E BRRG EH R FTATR
WmEBEREZFRLERES B AT AE
RS BBRHEBI AR FHKRTE
ZREE °
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e MBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. MBBx#ERT R (&)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the share option scheme
must not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. No option may be granted which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of
shares already issued and issuable under the share
option scheme exceeding 30% of the aggregate number
of shares of the Company.

The acceptance of an option, if accepted, must be
made within 21 days from the date of the offer of the
grant with a non-refundable payment of HK$1 from the
grantee to the Company.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to each participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue from time to time unless the same is approved by
the shareholders of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share-based payment expenses
(2022: Nil) has been charged to profit or l0ss.

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, no share option granted
under the scheme is outstanding.

-F

RIZE RS 3 R 2 RITREBK
BESHE  TREBEEEFMEHALR
A2 BITHD 10% 2 ETTEEARE
% REBRESCEZITRAE
BT B AR B IB AN R B D AR 2R
30% » RIS LA REBAE -

M= B ARABAREHER
HEBEA2IBAR - MARA
BILZ AR EFRIA

BRIFBGSARRRRAE  TRIEH
SEER12EABRBAETEERZ
BRE(BECTRE - B RFEARTT
2 BHE) M BT RS ERETTZ
B @8 TREBEeTKEEITRN
2 1% °

AR A TR A AU B B R
BERRERRZIER -

FABERODARFA(ZFT ==
FE)EEEEME -

RZE—ZFR_ZFE-_—_FA=F
B @MEREEREOEREN R
171 ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

35. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. i8R &R ERMEE

OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

HEREEBMELRE YK

activities:
Lease
Borrowings liabilities
BE& HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At 1 July 2021 NR-ZE-_—F+tHA—AH 128,549 318
Changes from financing RMERSRERE
cash flows:
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (67,508) -
Lease payment HENK - (522)
Interest paid BRFE (1,742) 31
Total changes from financing BMERESRESEALE
cash flows (69,250) (553)
Other changes: Hith## g :
Addition = - 653
Interest expenses B 1,742 31
Lease modification HEB® - (101
Exchange adjustments b 5 AR (6,497) -
Total other changes Hit B Eh48 %8 (4,749) 583
At 30 June 2022 and 1July 2022 A== XA=1+HBRK
—E-"%tH—H 54,550 348
Changes from financing RMERESRERE .
cash flows:
Repayment of borrowings EEEE (6,833) -
Proceeds from borrowings BEERIE 580 -
Lease payment MERF - (348)
Interest paid BRFLE (1,445) (12)
Total changes from financing MERSRESLBHEHE
cash flows (7,698) (360)
Other changes: Hih# g :
Interest expenses B 1,445 12
Exchange adjustments b 5 AR (2,113) -
Total other changes Hih e 4% (668) 12
At 30 June 2023 R=B==%:A=+H 46,184 -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_=F A=+THIEFE

36.

37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management

The key management of the Group comprises all
directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration
are disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns and benefits for
members and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings, deposits in a financial
institution, time deposits, bank balances and cash and
total equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the issue of new debts or redemption
of existing debts.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their corresponding fair values.

—

=

36.

37.

ZFFR o BRHEFEEERAF

FREALXS

FEEE AR
AEETEEREABBREARALZE
EX - FHRECHMEHBENES Y
MR TEOIKEE -

BemREER

AEEESEERERERARESR
BENISERE RN AR R E H

KAz WHFHRIBEERGERE A
R E AR

TREEE REMBBZER T
HfF s~ RITE RSB T U RRER
R EBRNE B

AEEZERGEBRRBEAGBFR 2
(=)

AEEEEESFFRIELERE—
ReEREmMAEFRED  EEEZE
BEBERIEAR 2 EARKA R BRERAL
RREBEZED  ~EBEKEEE
TR R BT ER B R A ERE
A e BB E AN -

RRAEFERR NEaMEHRKRR
BEKAIRZEREEREREBE
ZEREEREEMEREZ A FEMRE °
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &ZEZE—Z_-_=F A=+THIEFE

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37. B BIRER &)

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as REEERZ BEBEL RN :
follows:
0
=B
HK$'000
FHTT
Borrowings BE 46,184 54,550
Deposits in a financial institution M & Bk ~ 1730 (67,356) (20,599)
Pledged bank balances BIRIRIRITE (650) (690)
Bank balances and cash RITHB LA (56,281) (66,174)
Net debts BEF (78,103) (32,913)
Total equity HREZS 526,148 609,573
Net debts to equity ratio BEFHEERE X (0.15) (0.05)
38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 38. IRENBoZEMBTERSER
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY BSEHE
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets REBNR -_E-_=ZFRK T - —FX
and financial liabilities as recognised as at 30 June 2023 A=+ BEMZAZswEENSGAE
and 2022 may be categorised as follows: BEEESENT
2023 2022
—E2-= —_EF_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&ET TATT
Financial assets cMEE
Financial assets at fair value WA ES AR
through profit or loss TREE 118,186 281,051
Financial assets at amortised cost X R AN+ 8 2 SR EE 210,218 111,605
328,404 392,656
Financial liabilities ot =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost iz R A=t 2 2 oA & 51,863 61,130
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MBEEE

RESULTS xR
Years ended 30 June
BEAA=THLEE
2023 2022 20217 2020° 2019
—EC-= —FT-— —Eo—F —EEE —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T THT BT THL
Revenue Wz 31,159 41,052 24,092 48,922 62,881
Loss before income tax FrSRiRIE R (72,419) (138,305) (47.617) (176,670) (172,920)
Income tax credit FiEHES 2,588 2,467 5,841 9,101 3,988
Loss for the year from BEGEERY
continuing operations FRBE (69,831) (135,838) (41,776) (167,569) (168,932)
Profit for the year from RESIH S
discontinued operations  F T - - 4879 - -
Loss for the year FRNEE (69,831) (135,838) (36,897) (167,569) (168,932)
Loss for the year PTATEGER
attributable to: B8 -
Owners of the Company ~ RA&EHEE A (69,831) (135,838) (35,365) (163,520) (154,992)
Non-controlling interests  JF% gtz - - (1,532) (4,049) (13,940)
(69,831) (135,838) (36,897) (167,569) (168,932)
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MHEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERAE
At 30 June
RAB=+1H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-= —E-_— —E_—F ZE-_TF ET—AF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TER T FHET FET TET
Total assets BESE 620,591 718,848 1,000,454 1,061,954 1,271,949
Total liabilities BERE (94,443) (109,275) (197,545) (270,208) (305,307)
526,148 609,573 802,909 791,746 966,642
* The Group had disposed the new energy business during the year — * AEBMERBEEZZ=—FNA=THLFES
ended 30 June 2021. EMRER -
The new energy business has been presented as discontinued FHERESNBE_S-—F A NA=1THLFE
operations in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended ZEREMIERERFP 2N AR ILEEETR - ;LA
30 June 2021. For the purpose of this financial summary, the new UBHEmS  RBE_T-—NFE-T_TF
energy business has not been re-presented as discontinued operations NAZTBELEMEFENGERESTESEHZ7
for the two years ended 30 June 2019 to 2020. BEAR IR -
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